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the Agasti group is a provider of investment advice, 
investment brokerage and investment management, and an 
advisor and facilitator of capital market services for wealthy 
individuals, companies and institutional investors. the group 
was established in 1990 and the controlling company Agasti 
Holding AsA has been listed on the oslo stock exchange 
since 2001. At the end of 2013 the group had 226 employees 
in norway, sweden, germany, luxembourg, grat Britain and 
the usA. the head office is situated in oslo.

As at 31.12.2013 the group managed a total of NOK 57 billion 
on behalf of 43,000 customers. 

During 2012, we developed a business model which clearly 
sets us apart from our competitors. In addition to being  a 
major distributor of selected equity and fixed income funds, 
we have one of the most experienced teams in the market 
within the areas of real estate, private equity and shipping,  
as well as within energy and oil services through the strategic 
collaboration with Wunderlich’s energy team in Houston.  
We have achieved this by bringing together dedicated people 
with international investment banking experience from 
renowned financial institutions in Norway and abroad. 

tHis is AgAsti

This is 
Agasti
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tHis is AgAsti

The Agasti Group represents the entire industry line 
– from investment advice or investment brokerage, 
via facilitation and advice associated with project 
financing and capital market transactions for 
industry, to the provision of a complete manage-
ment service for all the investments our clients have 
made through the Agasti Group. 

Based on our professional strength, international 
experience and ability to create opportunities for 
our customers, we offer a comprehensive concept 
based on:

•	 	Professional	investment	advice	or	investment	
brokerage and first-class selection of investment 
recommendations

•	 	Advice	for/facilitation	of	capital	market	
transactions for Norwegian and international 
environments, with good distribution capacity  
and investment abilities

•	 	Complete	provision	of	management	services	
associated with our customers’ direct investments 

See also more detailed descriptions of the business 
areas on page 17-21.
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The vision “We create opportunities” has a clear ambition and 
indicates a clear direction. The vision invokes a sense of 
community and has been a guiding principle in the selection of 
our values. The group’s objective with the vision and values is 
that, taken together, they will inspire and influence employee 
attitudes and contribute to decision-making processes.

Our values are:

Integrity
We are dependent upon our customers’ trust. Trust and 
consideration  for customers are crucial to our success.  
For us, the customer comes first – always. 

Well-informed
First-class advice and brokerage services requires great 
expertise, thoroughness and a methodical approach. Employees 
of the Agasti Group shall be recognised for their expertise and 
ability to utilise this expertise in the best interest of the customer.

Energy
We are proactive, have high capacity and move with the 
market. This creates opportunities for our customers.

Customisation
We remain close to customers and provide and facilitate what 
our customers need and demand. Each customer is different 
and has different needs and expectations.

In the Agasti Group, values are guiding expressions of the 
culture that will lead the group towards our common vision.

Vision And VAlues

Integrity
Well-informed
Energy
Customisation



AgAsti Holding AsA annual report 2013 6

orgAnisAtion

Agasti Holding AsA was listed on the oslo stock exchange 
in 2001. the group’s head office is situated in oslo.
 
The Agasti Group has organised its day to day business in the 
three	business	areas	Wealth	Management,	Capital	Markets	
and Investment Management. The Wealth Management 
business area consists of the companies Navigea Securities AS 
in Norway and its Swedish branch and Navexa Securities AB in 
Sweden.	The	Capital	Markets	business	area	consists	of	the	
company	Agasti	Wunderlich	Capital	Markets	AS,	and	the	
Investment Management business area consists of the 
company Obligo Investment Management AS, including 
subsidiaries.

Organisation

Wealth Management Capital Markets Investment Management
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2013 proved to be a year in which the Agasti group led the 
way in the recruitment of competent and experienced 
individuals, and we are extremely proud of this. simultane-
ously, however, many people also had to leave the company 
in 2013 as a result of the comprehensive restructuring 
process we have implemented throughout the past two 
years, through which the company has required new 
competence in line with the established business model. 

In Agasti, we continually work to make the company an attractive 
employer. Our business model and the results we achieved 
throughout 2013 have resulted in regular enquiries from 
competent people within the industry who wish to work for us.

Knowledge and competence are critical to our success within 
the industry and markets in which Agasti operates. Our 
employees are characterised by a high level of professional 
knowledge, integrity and implementation abilities founded  
on experience, market understanding and analytical skills. Our 
expertise is built on quality and thoroughness, and we take a 
methodical approach to satisfying our customers’ interests and 
needs in the best possible manner. Our knowledgeable and 
skilled employees create a working environment characterised 
by high satisfaction and strong determination. In order for us  
to succeed together it is also important that our employees 
have private lives which make them balanced, energetic and 
satisfied. It is therefore important for us to give our employees 
flexibility in their everyday work in order to create balance and 
encourage excellent performance within all arenas. By pulling 
together in the same direction, we create energy and 
motivation for the further development of the organisation  
and continue to create opportunities for our customers.

A strong 
professional 
environment

A strong proFessionAl enVironment
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A strong proFessionAl enVironment

Bjørn tore Haga 
Head of Advisory services navigea securities As

Bjørn Tore Haga came from the position as a Senior Investment 
Adviser in Gjensidige. Haga has extensive experience in Banking, 
Finance	and	Insurance,	including	10	years	as	Vice	President	of	
Storebrand	Life	Insurance	AS	and	four	years	in	the	Norwegian	Public	
Service	Pension	Fund.	For	the	last	three	years	he	worked	as	a	
Certified	Financial	Advisor	in	Gjensidige.	Haga	has	a	B.Sc.	degree	 
in	Public	Administration	and	Economics	from	the	University	of	Agder	
in Kristiansand. Haga joined Navigea in January 2014.

olav skjervheim 
Head of investment services 1 & 2 navigea securities As

Olav Skjervheim joined us from SpareBank 1 Markets where he  
held a position as Head of Strategy & Business development.  
In this position he participated in the process of repositioning 
the company within the SpareBank 1 Alliance and further to the 
 repositioning in relation to other clients. Ahead of this Skjervheim, 
for	more	than	20	years,	held	various	positions	at	Swedbank	/	
First	Securities.	His	latest	position	was	as	Project	manager	where	
he was responsible for leading the execution of vital projects 
such as  change of core business systems and relocation of the 
company.  Skjervheim is  educated at BI Norwegian Business School. 
Skjervheim  had his first day at Navigea Securities in December 2013.

Jens-morten Wembstad 
chief investment strategist navigea securities As

Jens-Morten Wembstad has more than 20 years of experience in 
investment management and investment analysis. He has worked  
as	head	of	equity	research	with	the	brokerage	division	to	Union	
Bank of Norway,  been equity manager at Alfred Berg Asset 
 Management and Industrifinans Forvaltning. He has been chief 
investment strategist at Danske Invest and developed and managed 
their own asset allocation products. Wembstad holds BA(Hons) 
in	Business	Administration,	PhD	studies	in	international	busi-
ness,	European	Certified	Financial	Analyst,	and	holds	an	MBA	in	
Finance  from the Norwegian School of Economics. Wembstad has 
served  on numerous boards, including the Norwegian Society of 
Financial  Analysts, where he was responsible for the introduction 
of	the		Global	Investment	Performance	Standards	(GIPS)	in	Norway	
Wembstad joined Navigea in February 2014.
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A strong proFessionAl enVironment

richard p. olander 
senior director obligo investment management As

Rickard	Olander	has	16	years	experience	from	the	U.S.	capital	market	
and real estate industry. He has previously worked at Allegiance 
Investment Advisors in New York and Moody’s Investors Service  
in New York, and also has experience from the hotel industry in the 
United	States	and	Sweden.	Olander	has	a	BS	in	Management	from	
Johnson	&	Wales	University	in	Providence	and	a	Master	in	
Management	focusing	on	Real	Estate	Finance	from	Cornell	
University	in	Ithaca,	NY.	Olander	joined	Obligo	Investment	
Management in February 2013.

morten Kampli 
senior director obligo investment management As

Morten Kampli has more than ten years of experience in real estate 
and	real	estate	funds	for	Realkapital	Partners/RS	Platou	Fund	
	Management	and	Abrdeen	Property	Investors.	He	has	also	four	
years	of	experience	as	Management	Consultant	at	McKinsey	&	
Company.	Kampli	has	a	broad	experience	from	real	estate	analysis,	
capital raising, establishing of real estate structures and ongoing 
management of different real estate vehicles. He also has compre-
hensive experience with secondary trading in real estate funds, and 
has performed more than 750 secondary transactions. Kampli has 
a Master of Business and Economics from Norwegian School of 
Management	and	has	an	Authorized	Portfolio	Manager	degree	from	
NFF/NHH.	He	joined	Obligo	Investment	Management	in	September	
2013. 

espen Bjerke 
senior  director obligo investment management As

Mr.	Bjerke	was	formerly	a	partner	at	ABG	Sundal	Collier	Real	Estate,	
where he worked as an asset manager for five years. Mr. Bjerke has 
extensive real estate investment experience in the Nordic region 
across all property types and direct experience in refinancing, fund 
structuring and tax planning. Mr. Bjerke was previously with Ernst  
& Young where he was involved in auditing public companies, 
 financial due diligence and restructuring and his experience covers  
both	IFRS	and	US	GAAP.	Mr.	Bjerke	holds	a	MSc	in	in	Business	 
and Economics from BI Norwegian Business School and a MSc  
in accounting and auditing from Norwegian School of Economics. 
Mr. Bjerke joined Obligo in January 2013.
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A strong proFessionAl enVironment

Bjørn Halvor Kjølstad 
controller obligo investment management As

Mr.	Kjølstad	has	4	years	of	experience	from	hotel	property	/	
- investments as a consultant in Horwath HTL. Work included  market 
and business analysis, feasibility studies, valuations and strategy 
 advisory. He has extensive background within accounting, finance 
and business reporting from previous positions in Ernst&Young 
(audit and advisory) and First Hotels (controller). Experience in 
 development of accounting functions and processes, including 
financial statements, tax returns, group accounting, financial 
	reporting,	KPI	reporting,	budgets	and	forecasting,	as	well	as	tax	 
and	VAT	issues.	Kjølstad	holds	a	MBA	from	Southern	Cross	
	University,	Australia	and	MBE	from	Norwegian	School	of	Manage-
ment (Handelshøyskolen BI).

randi Fagervik talhaug 
director corporate Finance, Head of execution & operations
Agasti Wunderlich capital markets As (AWcm)

Prior	to	joining	AWCM	in	August	2013,	Talhaug	worked	several	years	 
as	Relationship	Manager	in	DNB’s	Corporate	Banking	division,	Large	
International	Clients,	working	with	credit	analysis,	LBOs	and	debt	
financing. Before that, Talhaug worked more than 12 years within  
	Corporate	Finance	at	Pareto	Securities	and	DNB	Markets.	She	has	
worked	particularly	with	Consumer	&	Manufacturing,	Energy,	Ship-
ping, Seafood, Real estate and Telecom, Media and Technology. 
Talhaug has extensive  experience from international and domes-
tic transaction management and execution, both debt and equity, 
working	with	more	than	60	IPOs,	25	delistings,	and	many	more	ECM	
and M&A deals. She holds a M.Sc. degree in Finance and Strategy 
from	NHH	(1997),	and	has	studied	3	years	at	the	University	of	Bergen	
(mathematics, physics and law).

marius Bruu 
Head of sales & project Finance  
Agasti Wunderlich capital markets As

Bruu	started	his	career	in	R.S.	Platou	Shipbrokers	in	1997	as	a	tanker	
and project broker, before he shifted to portfolio management in 
Terra Asset management in 2000. Bruu has worked within the 
financial sector for the last 13 years and been involved in a number of 
real estate, maritime, and private equity transactions in Norway and 
internationally.	Prior	to	starting	in	Agasti,	Bruu	worked	in	Optimum	
for 6 years as head of Optimum Markets. Bruu holds a double BSc 
from	the	David	Eccles	School	of	Business	at	the	University	of	Utah.
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A strong proFessionAl enVironment

Jon martin courbat 
Vice president Agasti Wunderlich capital markets As

Jon Martin has seven years of experience in the commercial 
 property market. He previously worked at Arctic Securities and 
Pangea	Property	Partners	in	real	estate	oriented	Corporate	Finance	
where he participated on transactions and syndicates focusing on 
the Norwegian market. He has previously worked in DNB Nærings-
megling with appreciation and analysis of the commercial property 
market. Jon Martin is a graduate in business administration from 
Bocconi	University	and	started	in	the	Agasti	Group	in	December	
2013.
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Head office
Oslo

locAtions

Locations in 2013
Wealth management
norway
Oslo
Kristiansand
Bergen
Fredrikstad
Hamar
Haugesund
Stavanger
Tromsø
Trondheim
Ålesund

sweden
Stockholm
Malmö
Gothenburg
Uppsala
Borås
Halmstad
Helsingborg
Jönköping
Karlstad
Kristianstad
Linköping
Västerås

investment management
Oslo
Stockholm
Berlin
London
Luxembourg
New York

capital markets
Oslo
Stavanger
New York
Houston

Our strategic alliance partner in  

the	USA,	Wunderlich	Investment	

Company,	has	29	offices	in	16	states.

New York

London

Luxembourg

Houston

Berlin

Stockholm
Oslo
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group mAnAgement

Group management
Jørgen pleym ulvness
chief executive officer Agasti Holding AsA
 
Ulvness	joined	the	Agasti	Group	in	September	2012	and	has	
previously	been	the	CEO	of	First	Securities	and	global	head	of	
investment banking at Swedbank. He has previously been the 
deputy	CEO	and	chief	legal	officer	of	First	Securities.	He	has	also	
worked	as	a	commercial	lawyer	in	Advokatfirmaet	Selmer.	Ulvness	
also has broad experience as an advisor in connection with 
restructuring, mergers and acquisitions, emissions and other 
strategic ownership issues. He has extensive experience from 
serving on boards of directors, both as an advisor and as chairman 
or	board	member	of	numerous	different	companies.	Ulvness	
graduated	as	a	lawyer	from	the	University	of	Oslo.	He	owns	
6,963,538 shares and 2,566,667 share options in Agasti Holding ASA.

christian dovland
chief Financial officer Agasti Holding AsA

Christian	Dovland	most	recently	served	as	senior	director	at	Obligo	
Investment Management AS, a subsidiary of Agasti Holding. Dovland 
has extensive experience from capital markets and from various 
roles within economy and finance, including from Arthur Andersen, 
as	controller	and	chief	investment	officer	of	Stormbull	AS	and	CFO	
of Nesthood International ASA. Dovland also worked for more than 11 
years with corporate finance at Swedbank First Securities and during 
the past year has been responsible for private equity, infrastructure 
and renewable energy in Obligo Investment Management AS. 
Dovland	holds	a	BA,	MBA	and	MA	from	Heriot-Watt	University	and	
Monterey Institute of International Studies. He owns 1,562,500 shares 
and 770,000 options in Agasti Holding ASA.

Bjarne eggesbø
chief executive officer obligo investment management As
Eggesbø came to Obligo in September 2012 and has previously been 
executive	director	at	UBS	and	head	of	real	estate	structuring	and	
securitization	at	Credit	Suisse	in	London.	Earlier	in	his	career	he	was	
senior ratings analyst at Moody’s Investor Service. Eggesbø has 
extensive experience from international finance where he specialised 
in	strategy,	funding	and	the	structuring	of	real	estate.	Combined	with	
this,	Eggesbø	has	institutional	experience	from	both	the	USA	and	
Europe.	Eggesbø	has	studied	real	estate	finance	at	Cornell	University	
and has also completed university studies in finance at New York 
University	and	the	London	Business	School.	He	owns	no	shares	and	
770,000 share options in Agasti Holding ASA.
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group mAnAgement

svein erik lilleland
chief executive officer Agasti Wunderlich capital markets As

Svein Erik Lilleland has 12 years’ experience in most aspects  
of the supplier industry, including sales, strategy, finance and 
management. Lilleland has worked for the Norwegian Trade 
Council	in	Houston,	been	managing	director	of	the	CorrOcean	
Houston	office	and	sales	director	and	deputy	managing	director	
of	CorrOcean	ASA.	Lilleland	has	lived	and	worked	in	the	UK	and	
USA	for	more	than	15	years.	He	holds	a	BSc	in	Engineering	from	
the	University	of	Portsmouth	and	an	MBA	from	London	Business	
School. He owns 1,822,917 shares and 770,000 share options in 
Agasti Holding ASA.

Kjersti Aksnes gjesdahl
chief executive officer Wealth management and  
Head of group legal

Gjesdahl started in Navigea Securities as Head of Legal, Risk and 
Compliance	in	October	2012.	Since	April	2013	she	has	been	Chief	
Executive	Officer	of	Navigea	Securities	AS.	Gjesdahl	came	from	
the position of senior lawyer in the banking and finance 
department of the law firm Arntzen de Besche and has previously 
worked for the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway as  
a senior advisor within the departments for securities and market 
behaviour. Gjesdahl also has experience from the Norwegian 
Ministry of Justice, the courts and the law firm Schjødt. Gjesdahl 
holds	a	law	degree	from	the	University	of	Oslo	and	Katholieke	
Universiteit	de	Leuven.	Gjesdahl	owns	859,375	shares	and	
770,000 share options in Agasti Holding ASA.

tor Arne olsen
chief communication officer 

Olsen joined the Agasti Group in December 2012. He was 
previously head of communications at Swedbank First Securities, 
and	press	officer	for	the	Oslo	Stock	Exchange	for	11	years.	 
His background primarily stems from finance, but he also has 
experience	from	real	estate	and	pensions/insurance.	He	holds	 
a	Bachelor	of	Business	Administration	in	Public	Relations	from	
Norges	Markedshøyskole/BI.	Olsen	owns	no	shares	or	share	
options in Agasti Holding ASA.
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tHe BoArd oF directors

The Board
erling meinich-Bache
chairman of the Board

Meinich-Bache	is	CFO	of	IKM	Gruppen	AS,	a	company	related	 
to one of Agasti Holding ASA’s largest shareholders. He also 
holds a number of board positions in various companies, both 
within and outside the IKM Group, including the companies 
Energy Ventures III AS and Energy Ventures IV AS. He holds a 
Master of Science in Financial Management. He has been a 
member of the board of Agasti Holding ASA since 23 May 
2012. Meinich-Bache owns no shares, share options or warrant 
shares in Agasti Holding ASA.

Beatriz malo de molina
Vice chairman of the Board

Molina is senior vice president and head of mergers and 
acquisitions of Orkla ASA.  She has previously been investment 
director	of	Kistefos	Private	Equity	and	associate	principal	for	
McKinsey	&	Co.	in	Oslo.	Prior	to	her	time	in	Norway,	Molina	
worked for 10 years within Goldman Sachs’s investment 
banking and capital markets divisions in the New York, Mexico 
City,	Frankfurt	and	London	offices.	Molina	has	served	on	

From the left: Merete Haugli, Beatriz Malo de Molina, Erling Meinich-Bache and Sissel Knutsen Hegdal.
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tHe BoArd oF directors

merete Haugli
member of the Board

Haugli has broad experience from a number of 
board	positions,	most	recently	from	Comrod	
Communication	ASA,	Reach	Subsea	ASA	and	RS	
Platou	ASA.	She	has	also	held	several	leading	
positions in SEB, Formuesforvaltning AS, First 
Securities	ASA	and	ABG	Sundal	Collier	ASA.	She	
has also held the position of assistant chief of police 
in	the	Oslo	Police	District	for	economic	and	
environmental crime. She holds qualifications from 
the	Norwegian	College	of	Banking	and	the	
Norwegian School of Management. She has been  
a member of the board of Agasti Holding ASA since 
11 May 2010. Haugli owns no shares, share options or 
warrant shares in the company.

several boards in international and Norwegian 
companies,	both	as	Chairman	and	as	non-Executive	
Director, and is currently a Director on the boards of 
Investinor AS (Norway) and Gränges Heat Transfer 
(Sweden). Molina graduated with summa cum laude 
honours	from	Georgetown	University	(Washington	
D.C.)	and	received	an	M.Phil	from	the	University	of	
Oslo. She has been a member of the board of Agasti 
Holding ASA since 29 November 2013. Molina owns 
no shares, share options or warrant shares in the 
company.

sissel Knutsen Hegdal
member of the Board

Hegdal has 20 years’ experience within corporate 
law. She is a partner and owner of Bjørk Advokat og 
Eiendom AS. She holds a number of board positions, 
both with publicly and privately owned companies. 
She is chairman of the board of Stavangerregionen 
Havn IKS, Museum Stavanger AS and Al Dente 
Reklamebyrå AS. She is also a board member of 
Risavika Havn AS. Hegdal holds a number of 
positions as a politician in Stavanger Høyre, 
including on the city council and the local council’s 
executive committee. She is also chairman of the 
committee of culture and sports in Stavanger. She  
is also a deputy member for Rogaland Høyre in the 
Parliament	of	Norway,	and	has	a	Master’s	degree	in	
law	from	the	University	of	Tromsø.	She	has	been	a	
member of the board of Agasti Holding ASA since 
23 May 2012. Hegdal owns no shares, share options 
or warrant shares in the company.
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the Agasti group is a provider of investment advice, 
investment brokerage and investment management, and an 
advisor and facilitator of capital market services for wealthy 
individuals, companies and institutional investors. 

The group was established in 1990 and the controlling 
company Agasti Holding ASA has been listed on the Oslo 
Stock Exchange since 2001. At the end of 2013 the group had 
226 employees in Norway, Sweden, Germany, Luxembourg, 
Great	Britain	and	the	USA.	The	head	office	is	situated	in	Oslo.	
As at 31.12.2012 the group managed a total of NOK 57  billion 
on behalf of 43,000 customers. 

Under	the	mantra	of	“Systematic	leading	expertise,”	the	Agasti	
Group has built one of the market’s most experienced teams 
with regard to real estate, private equity and shipping, and 
through our close collaboration with Wunderlich’s energy team 
in Houston, we have done the same within energy and oil 
services. We have achieved this by bringing together dedicated 
people with international experience of investment banking 
from	ABG	Sundal	Collier,	Swedbank	First,	DNB,	Pareto,	SEB,	
Morgan Stanley, Deutsche Bank and Wunderlich Securities. 

Based on our professional strength, international experience 
and ability to create opportunities for our customers, we offer 
a comprehensive concept based on:

•	 	Investment	advice	or	investment	brokerage	and	first-class	
selection of investment recommendations

•	 	Advice	for/facilitation	of	capital	market	transactions	for	
 Norwegian and international environments, with good 
distribution capacity and investment abilities

•	 	Complete	provision	of	management	services	associated	
with our customers’ direct investments 

In the Agasti Group, we have streamlined three business areas 
to ensure an improved, more professional and comprehensive 
range of services for you, the customer.

Three 
business  
areas

tHree Business AreAs

Investment Management

Capital Markets

Wealth Management
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Oslo
Paris 
New Dehli
Singapore
Tokyo
Dubai
London
Chicago 
New York

Obligo Investment Management o�ers a unique investment universe. The team 
consists of experts who work closely with local expertise to optimize the operation 
and performance of, for example, real estate projects in the USA, Germany, Norway 
and Sweden.  

inVestment mAnAgement

the investment management business area consists of 
obligo investment management As. this company and  
its subsidiaries manage all direct investments that our 
customers have made through the Agasti group. At the  
end of 2013 these totalled noK 49 billion.

Obligo Investment Management offers comprehensive 
investment management services, including asset manage-
ment, IR services and other business services on behalf of 
shareholders/investors	that	have	made	various	investments	
through the Agasti Group. This includes everything from the 
development and facilitation of investment projects to 
extensive reporting on the development of existing 
investment portfolios. Obligo is also responsible for board 
representation, monitoring portfolios on a daily basis and for 
ensuring that the advisers and brokers are highly familiar and 
up-to-date with the various investment products.

Obligo is among the largest real estate management 
companies in the Nordic region and has leading expertise 
within private equity, real estate, infrastructure, shipping and 
energy and oil services. Our team is composed of highly skilled 
individuals	with	experience	from	ABG	Sundal	Collier,	
Swedbank	First,	Pareto,	Morgan	Stanley	and	Deutsche	Bank,	
to name but a few. 

The company manages real estate portfolios with a total of 
NOK 38 billion. The next largest sector is shipping, in which 
customers	have	NOK	5	billion	under	management.	Private	
equity is the third largest sector with NOK 4 billion under 
management.

Obligo Investment Management carries out activities in Oslo, 
Stockholm, Berlin, London, Luxembourg and New York.

Investment 
Manage-
ment
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Employees in Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets are constantly on the lookout for capital 
market transactions which could provide interesting investment opportunities for 
selected customers. Our experienced environments shall have leading positions in real 
estate, private equity, shipping, energy and oil services. We assist with, amongst other 
things, investment brokage, financing, mergers, acquisitions and restructuring.

cApitAl mArKets

the capital markets business area consists of the company 
Agasti Wunderlich capital markets, which has already 
proved to be a competent and competitive provider of 
investment brokage services, advice and facilitation for 
various types of capital market transactions. 

We have established one of the most experienced teams 
within the sectors in which the Agasti Group aims to have a 
leading position; real estate, private equity, shipping and 
energy and oil services. We achieved this by bringing together 
dedicated people with international investment banking 
experience from renowned environments in Norway and 
abroad. Our strategic collaboration with Wunderlich 
Investment	Company	in	the	USA	means	that	we	have	a	close	
collaboration with their energy team in Houston. This also 
makes us a key player within the energy segment – both at 
home	and	in	the	USA.

Agasti	Wunderlich	Capital	Markets	assists	Norwegian	and	
international industry with financing, mergers, acquisitions 
and restructuring, etc. Based on a thorough assessment, 
selected customers are offered the opportunity to invest in 
various types of capital market transactions, for example 
participation in emissions.

We have an experienced broker desk with solid investment 
abilities and a broad distribution to wealthy individuals and 
institutional investors, both through our Norwegian company 
and through our strategic collaboration with Wunderlich in the 
USA,	as	well	as	broad	analytical	coverage	of	the	sectors	we	
cover.

Agasti	Wunderlich	Capital	Markets	carries	out	activities	in	
Oslo,	Stavanger	and	the	USA.

Capital  
Markets
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 A typical portfolio for an average customer managing 2 MNOK will often consist 
of 8 products. Typically, the customer wants the portfolio spread across two di�erent 
property funds, two di�erent equity funds, and to also contain assets in interest and 
Private Equity funds, infrastructure and shipping. 

Airport 
in Chicago

Real Estate 
in Berlin

Roads 
in Scotland

Shipping 
in Panama

Growth fund 
in Asia

WeAltH mAnAgement

the Wealth management  business area consists of the 
companies navigea securities As in norway and its swedish 
branch and navexa securities AB in sweden.

Through these companies we offer investment advice based 
on an individually tailored investment profile for wealthy 
individuals and companies.  

We are a major provider of renowned Norwegian and 
international equity and fixed income funds, and we take a 
methodical approach to carrying out thorough analyses of 
each individual fund that we consider for addition to our 
product range. We prioritise quality over quantity, as  
we believe it is most appropriate for customers to have a 
concentrated selection of quality products to choose from. 

Wealth Management customers are also given the opportu-
nity to invest in alternative products, for example investment 
portfolios within real estate, shipping, private equity and 
infrastructure, which are established and managed by the 
affiliated	company	Obligo	Investment	Management.

Based on a thorough suitability assessment we also offer 
attractive investment opportunities to selected customers  
in various capital market transactions facilitated by Agasti 
Wunderlich	Capital	Markets,	which	is	also	part	of	the	Agasti	
Group, or other facilitators. 

Wealth 
Manage-
ment
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Every day we strive to live up to the vision: “We 
create opportunities.” We always recommend that 
customers make the investments that we feel will 
provide the customer with the best possible rate of 
return based on an individually tailored risk profile 
and the customer’s wishes.

During 2013, Navigea introduced a completely new 
and, in a Norwegian context, unique system in which 
customers and advisers jointly map the customer’s 
overall investments. Based on this and the 
customer’s wishes, an individual profile is 
established. This is a highly useful tool when 
considering future investments.

In January 2014 Agasti entered into a strategic 
client ralationship with Griff Kapital As, an indepen-
dent advisory company. Griff will offer analysis and 

financial advice to Agasti’s clients.

WeAltH mAnAgement
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Hard work  
produces 
results

cHieF executiVe oFFicer´s comments

While 2012 was the great year of change for Agasti, 2013  
was the year when we delivered according to our ambitions, 
proved that our business model is working and that hard 
work produces results. But we have in no way crossed the 
finishing line and must continue to build trust and ensure 
better products and better management for our customers. 

When we sum up 2013, we cannot ignore the demanding 
starting point we were facing at the beginning of the year.  
The list was endless of planned initiatives and changes that  
had to be done to ensure a  turnaround and improve  the 
business. It consisted of a number of initiatives related to 
customers, competence and not least the arrangement of  
the	new	business	areas	Investment	Management	and	Capital	
Markets as well as the development of the new business model. 

Therefore, large parts of the first half were spent on getting 
the building blocks in place. It has not been easy, but on the 
contrary very demanding, and we have had to calibrate the 
business along the way. We have completed that, which we 
have constantly believed in. We have done everything that we 
said we would do. And slowly but surely, the results also came 
in - just as our ambitions and what we had expressed at the 
beginning of the year. 
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cHieF executiVe oFFicer´s comments

We have transformed operations from minus to plus, 
we	have	turned	a	decreasing	AUM	(Asset	Under	
Management)	into	a	growing	AUM,	we	have	turned	
around a five-year long negative trend and we have 
increased revenues on an annual basis by NOK 55 
million and improved results by NOK 52 million. All  
in the course of one year. The results for 2013 show 
that we have established a model that works. We 
have turned an old business around and we have 
established a solid and profitable business for the 
future. This is, of course, essential for all of our 
customers, employees and owners.

2013 was a demanding year with many challenges 
along the way. But one thing is certain; the 
perception of who we are, our expertise and  
what our system is able to deliver has changed 
significantly. Good proof of this is that as early as 
Easter in 2013, we were in in a very good recruiting 
position and recruited top talents for all our business 
areas throughout the year. Another and even better 
proof is the increase in confidence our customers 
have shown us. The latter is undoubtedly that which 
has pleased us the most in 2013. 

For customers, it is the return that matters, and 
therefore the development of the customers’ funds 
is what we are most concerned about. It is very 
gratifying that the equity our customers have for 
management during the course of 2013 increased  
by NOK 6 billion - and this in a year characterized  
by massive reorganization and major changes in  
our business, and at the same time, extensive 
adjustments have been made in several of the 
investment companies, which our customers have 
invested in. It also obviously builds confidence that 
both real estate investments and investments in  
our core portfolio for the selection of funds have 
provided the customers with a yield of more than 20 
percent throughout the year. And on top of this, the 
customers were paid out NOK 700 million in revenue 
in the spring of 2013.

It is a superior strategic goal to develop an overall 
better, and dynamic management company for  
our customers. This means, among other things,  
an integrated management model that to a greater 
extent is based on dynamics, and not a hold-to- 
maturity strategy. The rationale for this is very easy; 
the market changes, our customers have new needs 
and we must then adapt. At Agasti, the best interest 

of our customers must always be kept in mind, and 
the feedback our customers give through ongoing 
customer surveys indicate that those customers that 
are in contact with us on a consistent basis are very 
satisfied.

We have had much success in 2013, but we have by 
no means crossed the finish line. When the annual 
report was completed, the subsidiary Navigea 
Securities AS (Navigea) was in a challenging 
situation, where the company was at risk of losing  
its concessions to operate investment services. We 
apologize profusely for this to both our customers 
and employees. The consequence may be that we 
must adapt our business model to a situation where 
the Agasti Group itself can no longer offer 
investment consulting. In spite of Navigea, we will 
continue to offer attractive products and strive for 
good returns for our customers, and at the same 
time, we will continue to work hard on developing 
the company further. 

This means that we will position our business  
areas better and clearer, and continue our efforts  
to work on building a customer-focused, leading 
competence environment based on an institutional 
customer basis to ensure better products and better 
management for our customers. 

Being a customer in the Agasti Group must be 
profitable.  

Jørgen	Pleym	Ulvness
CEO
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mArKets

A strong 
stock  
exchange 
year

2013 will go down in history as a record-breaking year for 
many stock markets. the World index gave a rate of return of 
over 26 per cent measured in us dollars, and it was mature 
markets that were primarily responsible for this. despite 
occasional unrest, mainly due to reduced supported bond 
purchases in the usA, the overall volatility remained low. 

Many stock markets made significant contributions to returns 
for investors in 2013. The Oslo Stock Exchange and the 
Stockholm Stock Exchange rose by 23.6 per cent and 23.2 per 
cent respectively, both in local currency. The growth markets 
were the greatest disappointment throughout the year. The 
broad	growth	market	index	MSCI	Emerging	Markets	fell	by	5	
per cent, measured in dollars. 

Shares definitely made the best investments during last year. 
The 10-year American government bond yield increased from 
a record low 1.76 per cent to just over 3 per cent during the 
year, which resulted in government bonds providing a 
negative rate of return for the first time since 2009. At the 
same time, American high yield bonds solidly beat 
government	bonds	with	a	rate	of	return	of	7	per	cent.	Prices	
for most raw materials fell during the year. The gold price fell 
by over 27 per cent, while the price of aluminium fell by over 13 
per cent, both measured in dollars. The price of oil fluctuated 
significantly	throughout	the	year	and	ended	at	USD	110	per	
barrel, which was around the same level as at the start of the 
year. 
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mArKets

Customers	who	have	invested	in	our	hand-picked	
selection of funds experienced a good rate of return 
throughout the year. To a great extent, the rate of 
return reflects the clearly stronger development in 
the mature markets compared with the growth 
markets. 

Investors who have placed funds in our “core” 
selection, which is composed of broad funds which 
mainly invest in mature markets, experienced a rate 
of	return	of	20.5	per	cent	in	2013.	Customers	that	
invested in our “spicy” selection, which is composed 
of more specialised funds that primarily invest in 
growth markets, experienced a rate of return of  
15.8 percent in 2013. 

Investments placed in Navigea’s selection of  
money market and bond funds gave an excellent 
risk-adjusted return. In a year in which expectations 
of government bonds have been low, many of 
Navigea’s customers have been exposed to 
corporate bonds. The average rate of return for 
customers who have had investments in Navigea’s 
selection of fixed income and balanced funds ended 
at 9.1 per cent in 2013. All rate of return figures are 
given in NOK. 

USA
The recovery of the American economy has become 
increasingly evident, and the growth for 2013 is 
expected to end at 1.9 per cent according to the 
International Monetary Fund (IMF). During the year 
both American industry leaders and consumers 
gained a more positive outlook for the future. 

However, the American market has been 
characterised	by	the	US	Central	Bank’s	(Fed’s)	
objective to reduce the extensive bond purchases,  
in addition to the protracted budget negotiations in 
US	Congress.	In	September,	the	budget	negotiations	
between the Republicans and the Democrats came 
to a standstill, which resulted in the closure of parts 
of the American public administration for a period  
of one to two weeks. However, following extensive 
negotiations, an agreement was reached to raise  
the government debt limit and thereby avoid public 
pay stoppages. The drama is set to continue with 
new negotiations regarding the debt limit at the 
start of 2014. 

There was turmoil on the world’s stock markets,  
and bond yields fell sharply, when the outgoing 
Chairman	of	the	US	Federal	Reserve,	Ben	Bernanke,	
expressed that the significant bond purchases that 

have long stimulated the economy would be 
stopped. In accordance with the statement, the 
bond	purchases	of	USD	85	billion	per	month	would	
be scaled down as soon as the economy showed 
signs of being able to stand on its own. However,  
this reduction was long in coming, and it was not 
until towards the end of the year that Bernanke’s 
warnings became a reality. During December the 
supported	purchases	were	reduced	from	USD	85	
billion	to	USD	75	billion,	and	the	downscaling	is	
expected to continue throughout 2014, as long  
as the economy does not show signs of coming  
to a halt again. 

The recovery of the economy is balanced on a knife 
edge. Negative news, primarily from the labour 
market, may cause the Fed to delay the reductions. 
At the same time, the Fed has clearly stated that 
economic retrenchment in the form of higher 
interest rates will not be considered. At the end  
of the year, Janet Yellen was appointed as the  
new	Chairman	of	the	US	Federal	Reserve	following	
Ben Bernanke’s departure. The appointment was 
well-received by the market, and Yellen is expected 
to maintain Bernanke’s low interest rate policy.

Europe 
The Eurozone has been responsible for the most 
significant recovery during the year, and the growth 
in 2014 is finally expected to reach positive levels. 
After an extended period with debt restructuring 
and retrenchment activities, budget deficits are  
now falling in several of the countries. Germany 
continues to be the driving force within the region, 
and the IMF now expects that the country’s growth 
will increase from 0.5 per cent in 20013 to 1.6 per 
cent in 2014. But even though things are moving  
in the right direction for the region, some clouds  
still	loom	on	the	horizon.	Unemployment	is	still	high,	
especially in countries such as Spain and Greece, 
and particularly among young people. 

In recent years, many European companies have 
been penalised as a result of the Eurozone crisis  
and demand in the region remains relatively weak. 
However, 46 per cent of the income for European 
companies comes from the mature economies 
within	the	EU.	As	much	as	33	per	cent	comes	from	
emerging markets, compared with 12 per cent in 
2003. As a result of increased productivity and 
reduced labour costs in the region, international 
competitiveness has improved. 
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Storm clouds have also gathered around the 
Chinese	banking	system,	and	that	which	has	
become	known	as	“shadow	banking.”	Critics	have	
claimed	that	China	may	be	in	danger	of	creating	a	
new credit crisis, such as when Lehman Brothers 
went bankrupt, but there are some significant 
differences from the situation that occurred at that 
time.	Lending	in	China	is	primarily	domestically	
financed, and mainly linked to state companies. 
Chinese	individuals	are	still	paid	relatively	low	
salaries, which reduces the risk of a subprime-like 
crisis. Despite this, there is a certain risk that 
systematic	problems	in	the	Chinese	banking	system	
may	create	negative	effects	for	the	Chinese	
economy.

Despite occasional financial unrest, political conflicts 
and low growth levels throughout the year, it seems 
that the global economy is experiencing an upturn. 
Investors’ optimism has returned, and the effect on 
the stock markets has been clear – 2013 therefore 
enters the history books as one of the better years 
for the global stock market.

The	European	Central	Bank	(ECB)	cut	the	interest	
rate throughout last year. The key interest rate, 
which started the year at 1 per cent, has been 
continually reduced. At the end of the year the 
interest rate was 0.25 per cent. The threat of too 
little inflation has become more prominent 
throughout the year, and the inflation figures are 
now	well	below	the	Central	Bank’s	target	of	a	price	
increase	of	2	per	cent.	Central	Bank	President	Mario	
Draghi has stated that he is prepared to take aggres-
sive action in order to pull the Eurozone out of the 
recession which started in 2011, and to avoid 
deflation (falling prices).

Growth markets
The trend that, overall, the stock markets in mature 
economies have better rates of return than in the 
emerging economies continued throughout last 
year. Outflows of capital from the stock exchanges 
in emerging markets have been great, particularly 
for countries with large budget deficits. 

The traditional classification of economies as 
“mature” or “new markets” has proved to be 
increasingly complex. Emerging markets are 
anything but a homogeneous group, as was clearly 
seen	throughout	the	year.	Countries	such	as	Brazil	
and India struggled intensely with budget deficits 
and diminishing growth, while several of the African 
economies, for example, developed to the contrary. 
In	several	countries,	such	as	Thailand,	Ukraine	and	
Turkey, deep political conflicts are currently in 
progress, and it may be some time before these  
are resolved.

At the start of the year, there was great concern  
that	the	Chinese	economy	was	heading	for	a	
significant	slowdown.	For	many	years,	the	Chinese	
authorities have been keen to steer the growth  
from being dependent upon export and investments 
to being more driven by domestic consumption.  
The reform package that was presented in 
connection	with	China’s	Third	Plenum	included	
suggestions regarding reforms in the interest  
and foreign-exchange market.
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tittelKey eVents 

January
Acquisition of the management of all direct or 
indirect investments that our customers have made 
through	the	Agasti	Group	from	ABG	Sundal	Collier	
Real Estate and Swedbank First.

February
The Agasti Group cements the strategic alliance 
with	Wunderlich	Investment	Company,	Inc.	and	buys	
100 percent of the shares in the Norwegian 
investment company Wunderlich Securities AS. 

March
Private	placement	of	3.5	million	shares	at	a	price	of	
1.20 kroner regarding Wunderlich Acquisition 
Holding, Inc. that is selling 60% of Wunderlich 
Securities AS. The private placement further 
reinforces the strategic alliance with Wunderlich 
Investment	Company,	Inc.	

May
Equities under management increase by 3 billion 
kroner during the first three months of the year. 

Agasti reveals a planned purchase of 70.8% of 
Wunderlich	Investment	Company,	Inc.	and	the	
subsequent	establishment	of	the	only	Nordic/
USA-based	investment	bank	with	integrated	

business	within	Capital	Markets,	Investment	
Management and Wealth Management. The 
proposal is met with significant resistance among a 
group of shareholders and will later be withdrawn. 

June
To strengthen the Group’s capital base, it is decided 
to conduct a preferential rights issue of 31 million 
shares at a price of 1.35 kroner, which provides 
 Agasti with 42 million kroner. 

August
Agasti	acquires	RS	Platou	Fund	Management	AS,	
further strengthens its real estate team and 
increases	AUM	by	1.5	billion	kroner.

November
Agasti performs in line with the aspirations from 
2012 and all three business areas continue the 
positive trend. 

Equities under management have increased by 4.5 
billion kroner to 28 billion kroner since the start of the 
year, and Agasti’s assets now total 57 billion kroner. 

December
Jørgen	Pleym	Ulvness	appointed	as	Group	CEO.	

new Ceo
Jørgen Pleym Ulvness takes over  
at the helm.

Increased  
assets  
total 57 BnoK, of which 28 BnoK are equity.

Strengthens  
the capital base
Private placement adds 42 MnoK.

Acquisition of 
management
Applies to all direct investments 
made through the Agasti Group.

Cements strategic 
alliance
Purchasing of investment company Wunderlich 
Securities.
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mAin Figures

Operational key figures
2012 2013

Equity in advisory concepts (BNOK)  11.26  13.07 

Equity under management per customer in advisory concepts (MNOK)  1.04  1.52 

Equity under management (BNOK)  23.80  30.00 

Assets under management in Obligo (BNOK)  44  49 

Assets under management (BNOK)  51  57 

Financial key figures
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Risk management and internal control are an integrated 
part of the group’s management model
The Agasti Group has established risk management and 
internal control as an integrated part of the on-going 
execution of business activities. The overall framework for  
risk management and internal control is established at board 
level and subsequently implemented by the management  
and	operative	employees.	Control	functions	and	auditing	
bodies support the execution of risk management and  
internal control through the provision of professional advisory 
services, quality assurance, follow-up and independent 
reporting at board and management level. 

The purpose of risk management and internal control is  
to create assurance
The main purpose of risk management and internal control is 
to provide reasonable assurance that the group will achieve:

•	 	Quality	and	efficiency	within	internal	operations,	with	 
a view to creating profitability and security for customers

•	 Reliable	internal	and	external	reporting
•	 	Compliance	with	legislation	and	regulations,	as	well	as	

internal guidelines

risK mAnAgement And internAl control 

Risk  
manage-
ment and 
internal 
control 



AgAsti Holding AsA annual report 2013 30

as intended. The basic attitude within the group is 
that a conclusion that internal control is functioning 
must be based upon confirmation from the 
responsible manager and continuing positive test 
results from the control functions.

In several of the subsidiaries a third line of defence 
has also been established – Internal audit. The 
internal audit team is independent of the operative 
organisation and the management. The team works 
directly with the boards and carries out independent 
audits of the first and second lines of defence. The 
internal audit team’s audit plan is set by the board, 
based on the internal audit team’s independent 
assessments of governance, risk management  
and internal control. Typical audit subjects relate  
to organisation, management processes, control 
regimes,	ICT	security	and	capital	management,	as	
well as core and supporting business processes. The 
Agasti Group has outsourced the internal auditor 
role	to	PwC	in	order	to	ensure	an	independent	and	
external third line of defence, as well as flexibility 
with regard to access to competence and capacity.

It is important to base management practices on the 
company’s culture, routines and trust, but within the 
Agasti Group this is balanced with second and third 
lines of defence that undertake testing and control 
activities without guidance from the operative 
organisation. Trust but control!

The corporate board of directors and company 
boards undertake a complete assessment of the 
control regime annually
The risk management and control regime 
established through the three lines of defence 
ensures the continual management and control  
of the group’s activities and risks. Once a year, and 
more frequently if necessary, the group undertakes 
a structured, complete assessment of risk and 
internal control in all subsidiaries and underlying 
business areas. The assessment process is carried 
out using common methods and concludes with 
three main topics; (1) how has internal control 
functioned throughout the previous year, (2) what 
risks does the organisation face at the start of the 
new year, and (3) is the internal control at the start 
of	the	new	year	sufficient	for	the	risk	situation	or	 
is there a need a for additional measures. The final 
product consists of a formal debriefing and action 
plan at group level, company level and at underlying 
business area level. The measures usually consist of 
improvement measures linked to the existing control 
regime, control measures for managing new risks, 
and assessments of control measures that are so 

Operative risk management and internal control 
consists of a broad range of measures
The basis for effective risk management and internal 
control lies in the employees’ culture and attitudes. 
Within the Agasti Group, the foundational culture  
is constructed around creating value and security 
for our customers. A broad spectrum of measures 
and management elements are used in order to 
achieve this. We set high professional and ethical 
competence requirements for our employees, and 
we work systematically with training, instruction and 
certification. Formal routines have been established 
in order to ensure quality, accountability and 
consistency in our work processes, supplemented 
by	effective	tools	and	ICT	systems.	Managers	ensure	
that current work processes are adapted to changes 
in regulations and risk, and that established internal 
control measures are appropriately completed. 
Significant changes in risk conditions are 
communicated through established management 
forums and reporting lines on an on-going basis,  
so that appropriate risk management measures can 
be implemented. 

In the subsidiaries, the management teams and 
company boards have the overall responsibility  
for ensuring proper management and control,  
while at group level this is carried out by the group 
management and corporate board of directors.  
At group level, an audit committee has also been 
established, which carries out significant work in 
order to support the corporate board of directors  
in the follow-up of financial reporting, risk 
management, internal control, internal audits and 
financial audits. In sum, the foundational culture  
and the operative controllers, as well as manage-
ment and board follow-up, constitute a first line of 
defence that ensures effective risk management  
and internal control of the group’s activities.

Independent control functions and audit bodies 
have also been established
As a second line of defence, risk management  
and compliance functions have been established 
within the subsidiaries. The control functions are 
independent of the operative organisation and 
report directly to the general manager and the 
board. The control functions work in accordance 
with a systematic control methodology and focus  
on work within and towards areas requiring a high 
level of control. Even though the controls are strict 
and intended to identify any omissions and control 
failures, they also have the purpose of forming a 
systematic and professional base that will help to 
ensure that established control measures function 

risK mAnAgement And internAl control 
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risK mAnAgement And internAl control 

important that they should be subject to closer 
follow-up from the first, second and third lines of 
defence. In sum, the process forms an important 
basis for the follow up of risk management and 
 internal control throughout the coming year at 
group level, company level and underlying business 
area level. 

During 2013 the group has strengthened the risk 
management and internal control regime further
During 2013 the group has increased focus on 
training and certification, and improved routines and 
customer service systems have been introduced. 
Furthermore, parameters relating to quality and  
the implementation of control have been added to 
the remuneration-related incentive programmes.  
In addition, personnel resources within the risk 
management and compliance functions have been 
strengthened so that the scope of independent 
control measures can be increased. In 2013 an 
internal audit team was established within Agasti 
Wunderlich	Capital	Markets,	and	a	comprehensive	
internal audit programme was completed within 
Navigea and Navexa. In sum, internal control has 
been strengthened significantly throughout 2013.
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Articles of 
association

Adopted at the annual general meeting of 31 march 2005, 
last amended at the Board meeting of 13 February 2014. 

§ 1 Company name and registered office 
The company is a public limited company. The company’s 
name is Agasti Holding ASA. 

The	company’s	registered	office	is	located	in	the	city	of	Oslo.	

§ 2 Objects 
The	Company’s	objective	is	to	manage	its	interests,	conduct	
financial and industrial investments and provide administrative 
services, as well as all other activities which are naturally 
related to this.

§ 3 Share capital 
The company’s share capital totals NOK 52,868,534.22 
divided among 293,714,079 shares, each with a nominal  
value of NOK 0.18. The shares shall be registered with the 
Norwegian Registry of Securities. 

§ 4 Share transfer 
Notification of any acquisition of shares in the company shall 
be sent immediately to the Norwegian Registry of Securities. 

The purchaser of a share may only exercise the rights 
appropriated to a shareholder when the acquisition has been 
registered in the shareholder register, or when he or she has 
reported and paid for the acquisition. 

Articles oF AssociAtion For AgAsti Holding AsA
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Articles oF AssociAtion For AgAsti Holding AsA

§ 9 Publishing of general meeting documents  
on the company’s website
If documents to be considered by the general 
meeting in accordance with the agenda for the 
meeting have been made available on the 
company’s website, the company does not have  
to send these physically to the shareholders. Any 
such documents shall, however, be sent free of 
charge upon request from individual shareholders.

§ 10 Location of the general meeting 
The general meeting shall be held in the city of Oslo 
where	the	company’s	registered	office	is.	However,	
the Board of Directors may decide to hold the 
general meeting in the city of Stavanger or 
elsewhere when appropriate. 

§ 11 Duties of the general meeting 
The ordinary general meeting shall: 

Approve the annual accounts consisting of the profit 
and loss account, the balance sheet and the annual 
report, including the consolidated accounts and 
dividends. Address other items to be dealt with by 
the general meeting according to legislation or the 
articles of association

§ 5 Structure of the Board 
The company’s Board of Directors consists of three 
to seven members according to the resolution 
adopted by the general meeting. 

§ 6 Nomination committee 
The company’s nomination committee consists of 
three to five members according to the resolution 
adopted by the general meeting. 

§ 7 Company signature 
One board member together with either the 
Chairman	of	the	Board	or	the	Chief	Executive	officer	
may sign for the company. 

The Board of Directors may grant power of attorney 
and special authorisations. 

§ 8 Ordinary general meeting 
The ordinary general meeting shall be held annually 
by the end of June.

The Board of Directors shall call the general meeting 
by issuing written invitations with at least 21 days’ 
notice to all shareholders with a known address, 
unless	the	Joint	Stock	Public	Companies	Act	allows	
a shorter notice. Shareholders who wish to attend 
must send notification of such to the company 
within the deadline specified on the notice of the 
general meeting. The deadline must not be more 
than five days before the date of the general 
meeting. The right to participate and vote at the 
company ś general meeting only can be exercised 
for shares when the purchase of shares is listed in 
the shareholder register no later than five workdays 
prior to the general meeting. 

At the general meeting, each share is allocated one 
vote.
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Stock exchange listing
Shares in Agasti Holding ASA were listed on the SMB list at the 
Oslo Stock Exchange on 16 July 2001. The company was 
included in the Oslo Stock Exchange Main Index, OSEBX, from 
January 2004 and from October 2004 in the “OB Match” list 
after the Oslo Stock Exchange replaced the previous industry 
structure for companies structured by liquidity. After the 25 
largest companies on the OBX list, the “OB Match” list consists 
of the most liquid companies. One of the criteria for inclusion is 
that there is a minimum of 10 trades in the shares per day. The 
company’s stock exchange ticker is AGA. In 2013, the number 
of Agasti shares traded on the Oslo Stock Exchange was 96 
million, which gives a velocity of circulation of 0.3. On average 
in 2013, 0.3 million shares across 26 transactions per day were 
traded in Agasti Holding ASA. The company complies with 
Oslo Stock Exchange’s recommendations regarding the 
reporting of IR information, which sets requirements regarding 
the information that must be made available on companies’ 
websites. 

Share capital and shares
As at 31 December 2013, Agasti Holding ASA had a share 
capital of NOK 52.8 million, divided into 293,472,726 million 
shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.18. 

Authorisation to issue shares
Agasti Holding ASA’s annual general meeting has given the 
company’s board of directors authorisation to issue new 
shares. The authorisation was granted at the ordinary annual 
general meeting on 26 June 2013 and applies for the issuing of 

Shareholder 
information
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up to 57.1 million shares with a nominal value of NOK 
0.18.	Parts	of	this	authorisation	are	specifically	linked	
to a rights issue of 31.1 million shares. The remaining 
authorisation for 26 million shares is valid until the 
date of the next ordinary annual general meeting, 
but no later than 30 June 2014.   

During 2013, the board of directors of Agasti Holding 
ASA issued 3,500,000 shares under the authorisa-
tion granted by the company’s general meeting on 
23 May 2012. The shares are used as consideration  
in connection with the company’s acquisition of 
investment company Wunderlich Securities AS. 
During 2013, the board of directors of Agasti Holding 
ASA also issued 1,330,865 shares under the 
authorisation described in the previous paragraph. 
These shares were issued in order to fulfil the 
company’s obligations in connection with stock 
options allocated to employees in senior positions 
which were exercised during the year. In addition,  
on 26 June 2013 the company’s board of directors 
decided to issue 31,111,111 shares in a rights issue in 
order to strengthen the company’s capital base. The 
total number of shares issued by the board under the 
authorisation given by the annual general meeting 
during 2013 is 35,941,976.

Authorisation to acquire the company’s own shares
The annual general meeting of Agasti Holding ASA 
has authorised the company’s board of directors  
to purchase the company’s own shares. The 
authorisation was granted at the annual general 
meeting on 26 June 2013 and applies to the 
acquisition of up to 26 million shares with a nominal 
value of NOK 0.18 within a price range of NOK 0.18 to 
NOK 10. The authorisation is valid until the date of 
the next ordinary annual general meeting, but no 
later than 30 June 2014.   

During 2013, the board of directors of Agasti Holding 
ASA did not make use of this authorisation.

Options 
In the period 2009-2012 the Board of Directors of 
Agasti Holding ASA allocated options in accordance 
with a three-year incentive scheme that covered all 
employees within the Group. All the options in 
accordance with this scheme have expired at the 
time of adoption of the annual accounts. In 2012, the 
Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA adopted 
an incentive scheme for selected managers in the 
Group. In 2014, this scheme was replaced by a new 
option scheme for selected managers within the 
Group. The scheme is part of a long-term incentive 
scheme for Agasti managers, which will contribute 
to creating positive results and attracting new 

employees as well as retaining existing employees. 
In 2013 and 2014, 1.57 million options were redeemed 
by Agasti Group employees. At the time of the 
adoption of the annual accounts, a total of 10 million 
stock options have been allocated, of which 
employees in leading positions hold 6,15 million 
stock options. The allocation is in accordance with 
the authorisation granted by the annual general 
meetings on 11 May 2010, 25 May 2011, 23 May 2012 
and 26 June 2013.

Of the options that were allocated in 2011, and which 
were still outstanding at the start of 2013, 216,000 
were redeemed during 2013. Aside from some 
three-year programmes which expired in February 
2014, the rest became due during 2013 without any 
redemption taking place. Of the options that were 
allocated in 2012, and which had an expiry date in 
2013, 1.11 million were redeemed. Of the options that 
were allocated in February 2012, and which fell due 
in their entirety in February 2014, 241,000 were 
redeemed. The redemption prices for the 
outstanding options are NOK 1.33 for the options 
allocated in August 2012, NOK 1.58 for the options 
allocated in November 2012 and NOK 2.01 for the 
options allocated in March 2014. The redemption 
price for the options shall be reduced by the 
accumulated dividends paid out during the period 
after allocation of the options. No dividend was paid 
for the financial year 2012. The Board of Directors of 
Agasti Holding ASA has proposed to the annual 
general meeting that dividends are not paid out for 
the 2013 financial year. Stock options allocated to 
selected managers in the Group during August and 
November	2012	may	be	redeemed	by	1/3	in	2014	
and	1/3	in	2015,	during	specific	periods	in	both	years.	
Share options allocated to selected managers in the 
Group	during	March	2014	may	be	redeemed	by	1/3	
in	2015,	1/3	in	2016	and	1/3	in	2017,	during	specific	
periods in all three years. At the end of 2013, the 
share price was NOK 1.87.

As at 31 December 2013, Agasti Holding ASA had 
not issued any other financial instruments that may 
result in a demand for issuing of new shares other 
than the mentioned share options.

Share price performance 
The share price at the end of the year was NOK 1.87, 
which prices the company at NOK 549 million. In 
2013 the highest and lowest market prices have been 
NOK 2.75 and NOK 1.05 respectively. For 
comparison, the price at the end of 2012 was NOK 
1.37. This constitutes a price increase of 36 percent 
during 2013. Oslo Stock Exchange’s Main Index 
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(OSEBX) rose by 24 percent in the same period, 
whereas the finance index (OSE40) experienced 
a rise of 49 percent.

The figure on the previous page shows the price and 
turnover development for shares in Agasti Holding 
ASA from 1 January to 31 December 2013 compared 
with the main index in the Oslo Stock Exchange.

Proprietary trading
Employees who normally have access to or work 
with investment services or management of financial 
instruments for securities companies, or on behalf of 
the securities company’s customers, are covered by 
the proprietary trading rules regulated by securities 
trading legislation. It is crucial that the Agasti Group 
has a proper relationship with the financial market 
and the supervisory authorities, and the manage-
ment has decided that all employees in the Agasti 
Group’s securities companies Agasti Wunderlich 
Capital	Markets	AS	and	Navigea	Securities	AS,	
including its Swedish branch and Navexa Securities 
AB, will be covered by these rules. The company has 
prepared rules for how employees must behave in 
relation to the securities market. 

Insider regulations
Agasti Holding ASA has clear rules for the group 
which regulate employees’, employee representa-
tives’ and related parties’ transactions in securities 
issued by Agasti Holding ASA. The rules set out  
a clear framework for how the transactions can  
take place and the periods during which trade in 
securities issued by Agasti Holding ASA is permitted. 

Dividends policy
The company’s dividends policy remains unchanged 
from 2012 and aims to pay out the highest possible 
share of the profits after tax as dividends, taking into 
account legislative requirements and the need for 
solvency and liquidity. The board of directors of 
Agasti Holding ASA has proposed to the company’s 
annual general meeting that dividends are not paid 
for the 2013 financial year.

Shareholders
Agasti’s owners include institutional owners, various 
investors and a main owner who was also involved in 
founding the company over 20 years ago. At the end 
of the year, the 20 largest shareholders owned a total 
of 68 percent of the company’s shares. As at 31 
December 2013, Agasti Holding ASA had 3,085 
shareholders, 100 fewer than the previous year. The 
number of foreign shareholders has increased by one 
to 167. The number of Norwegian shareholders has 
reduced from 3,019 to 2,918. An overview of the 20 
largest shareholders as at 31.12.2013 is shown in the 
table to the right.

Percentage of foreign shareholders
At the end of 2013 the total percentage of foreign 
shareholders amounted to 17.1 million shares or 5.8 
percent distributed across 167 shareholders. For 
comparison, the percentage at the end of 2012 was 
18.5 million shares or 7.6 percent distributed across 
166 shareholders, whereas the percentage of foreign 
shareholders at the end of 2011 was 8.9 percent. An 
overview of the distribution by nationality has been 
provided in the table below. 

shareholders by nationality as at 31.12.2013 

nationality Shares Percent
Share

holders
Per 
cent

Norway 276 335 847 94.16 2 918 94.59

USA 6 075 427 2.07 18 0.58

Luxembourg 5 038 463 1.72 2 0.06

Sweden 3 178 135 1.08 72 2.33

Denmark 692 935 0.24 16 0.52

United Kingdom 636 952 0.22 20 0.65

Cayman Islands 500 000 0.17 1 0.03

Other 1 014 967 0.35 38 1.23

total 293 472 726 100.00 3 085 99.97

Shareholders
number of 

shares
equity
stake

Coil Investment Group AS 35 068 547 11.95 %

Ludvig Lorentzen AS 31 342 523 10.68 %

Perestroika AS 25 047 228 8.53 %

Tenold Gruppen AS 20 195 948 6.88 %

Best Invest AS 12 808 707 4.36 %

IKM Industri-Invest AS 11 190 000 3.81 %

Bjelland Invest AS 10 785 000 3.67 %

Mons Holding AS 10 766 620 3.67 %

Sissener Sirius ASA 10 360 000 3.53 %

Sanden A/S 7 500 000 2.56 %

SEB Private Bank S.A. (Extended) 4 300 000 1.47 %

Wunderlich Acquistion Holding Inc. 3 500 000 1.19 %

Coldevin Invest AS 2 918 856 0.99 %

Extellus AS 2 800 000 0.95 %

International Oilfield Services AS 2 500 000 0.85 %

Steinar Lindberg A.S. 2 100 000 0.72 %

Jag Holding AS 2 000 000 0.68 %

Wunderlich Securities, Inc. 1 916 400 0.65 %

Brattetveit AS 1 833 022 0.62 %

Ringern Invest AS 1 520 251 0.52 %

total 20 largest shareholders 200 453 102 68.30 %

Total other shareholders 93 019 624 31.70 %

total number of shares 293 472 726 100.00 %
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2014 Financial calendar 
The financial calendar is presented to the right.  
The quarterly presentations and the annual general 
meeting are usually held in Oslo. All presentations 
are open and the quarterly presentations are 
transmitted via the internet.  

Investor contact
The Agasti Group wishes to maintain the company’s 
excellent contacts and keep an open dialogue with 
all participants in the capital markets. The Investor 
Relations role is exercised by the company’s  
Head	of	IR	Jo-Inge	Fisketjøn.	Contact	information	 
can be found below:

E-mail: ir@agasti.no, tel.: +47 21 00 33 49

Internet
The Agasti Group’s interim reports, interim 
presentations, annual reports, stock exchange 
announcements, up-to-date shareholder registers, 
etc. are continuously published at www.agasti.no. 

18.06.14
Ordinary
general
meeting

05.11.14
Quarter 3
interim  
report 2014

14.05.14
Quarter 1
interim  
report 2014

20.08.14
Quarter 2
interim  
report 2014
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corporate governance at Agasti Holding AsA is in 
accordance with the current “norwegian recommendations 
for corporate governance.” Agasti Holding AsA will provide 
its reports in accordance with the recommendations and will 
explain how the group has complied with the individual 
items set out in the recommendations. in cases where Agasti 
deviates from the recommendations, this will be commented 
on separately.
 
Agasti Holding AsA actively works to maintain the 
company’s excellent contacts and keep an open dialogue 
with all participants in the capital markets.

Norwegian Code of Practice
“The	Norwegian	Code	of	Practice	for	Corporate	Governance”	
was	first	published	by	the	Norwegian	Corporate	Governance	
Board	(NUES)	on	7	December	2004.	On	the	basis	of	changes	
to legislation and regulations and experience gained from the 
use	of	the	Code	of	Practice,	NUES	annually	evaluates	whether	
it	is	necessary	to	update	the	Code	of	Practice.	Revisions	to	 
the	Code	of	Practice	were	presented		on	8	December	2005,	 
28 November 2006, 4 December 2007, 21 October 2009, 21 
October 2010, 20 October 2011 and 23 October 2012. 

1. Statement regarding corporate governance
The Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA will comply with 
the	Code	of	Practice	for	Corporate	Governance	in	all	key	
areas. The group has prepared guidelines for corporate social 
responsibility, ethical guidelines, guidelines for managing 

corporAte goVernAnce

Corporate 
Governance
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conflicts of interest and internal guidelines for 
proprietary trading and insider trading. The 
guidelines describe laws and regulations applicable 
to all employees, temporary workers and employee 
representatives, both internally and across the 
groups’ interest groups. The ethical guidelines are 
based on the Agasti Group’s basic values, which 
guide all activities within the group. Agasti’s 
activities  
are based on the following values: integrity, 
customisation,  well informed and energy. The ethical 
guidelines are clearly communicated throughout  
the organisation and define what is desirable and 
undesirable conduct. The guidelines that describe 
corporate social responsibility deal with the Agasti 
Group’s responsibility towards the people, society 
and environment affected by the company.

2. Activities
Agasti’s vision is “We create opportunities”. The 
vision has clear ambition and indicates a clear 
direction. The vision invokes community and has 
been a guiding principle in selecting the group’s 
values. The group’s objective with the vision and 
values is that they, taken together, will inspire and 
influence employee attitudes and contribute to 
decision-making processes. The articles of 
association of Agasti Holding ASA are reproduced  
in their entirety in the annual report.

3. Company capital and dividends
equity
As at 31.12.2013 the group’s equity was NOK 230 
million, which comprised 55 percent of the total 
capital. Agasti has a business model that requires 
low capital, which is also confirmed by the fact that 
the need to invest is low during periods of organic 
growth. The board of directors continuously 
analyses the company’s financial solvency 
requirements in light of the company’s objectives, 
strategy and risk profile.

dividends policy
The company’s dividends policy remains unchanged 
from 2012, which means that the company will 
exercise a dividends policy whereby the highest 
possible share of the net income is paid as 
dividends, taking into account legal requirements 
and needs for satisfactory financial solvency and 
liquidity. For the 2013 financial year, the board of 
Agasti Holding ASA has proposed that dividends 
are not paid. The dividends policy is also presented 
in the chapter Shareholder information (page 36).

capital increase
Agasti Holding ASA’s ordinary general meeting has 
given the company’s board of directors authorisa-
tion to issue new shares. The authorisation was 
granted at the ordinary general meeting on 26 June 
2013 and applies for the issuing of up to 57.1 million 
shares	with	a	nominal	value	of	NOK	0.18.	Parts	of	
this authorisation are specifically linked to a rights 
issue of 31.1 million shares and was valid until  
1 September 2013. The remaining authorisation for  
26 million shares is valid until the date of the next 
ordinary general meeting, but no later than 30 June 
2014. The authorisation is based on a desire to be 
able to cover the company’s capital requirements, 
issue shares as payment in the event of acquisitions 
and pay stock options or allocate shares, stock 
options	and/or	warrant	shares	to	employees	in	
senior positions.

During 2013, the board of directors of Agasti 
Holding ASA issued 3,500,000 shares under the 
authorisation granted by the company’s general 
meeting on 23 May 2012. The shares are used as 
consideration in connection with the company’s 
acquisition of investment company Wunderlich 
Securities AS. During 2013, the board of directors  
of Agasti Holding ASA also issued 1,330,865 shares 
under the authorisation described in the previous 
paragraph. These shares were issued in order to fulfil 
the company’s obligations in connection with stock 
options granted to employees in senior positions. In 
addition, on 26 June 2013 the company’s board of 
directors decided to issue 31,111,111 shares in a rights 
issue in order to strengthen the company’s capital 
base. The total number of shares issued by the 
board during 2013 under the authorisation given  
by the general meeting is 35,941,976.

At the ordinary general meeting it is proposed that 
the company’s board of directors be granted a new 
authorisation to issue up to 29 million new shares, 
valid until the next annual ordinary general meeting, 
but which will expire no later than 30 June 2015. The 
authorisation to issue remains applicable for just 
under 10 percent of outstanding shares.
Buy-back of shares
The general meeting of Agasti Holding ASA has 
authorised the company’s board of directors to 
purchase the company’s own shares. The 
authorisation was granted at the general meeting  
on 26 June 2013 and applies to the acquisition of up 
to 26 million shares with a nominal value of NOK  
0.18 within a price range of NOK 0.18 to NOK 10.  
The authorisation is justified in that such authority  
is common in large listed companies and provides 
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Exchange or otherwise in accordance with the 
market price. All subsidiaries are wholly owned and 
as such there are no conflicts of interest with any 
minority shareholders. In August 2012 Agasti 
Holding ASA entered into an agreement with the 
then board member and later chairman of the board 
Merete Haugli regarding services relating to the area 
of compliance. The services are beyond the scope of 
the work tasks and binding positions she has within 
Agasti. In 2013, the board decided to remunerate 
Merete Haugli with a total of NOK 150,000 for this 
work during the period 2012-2013. In August 2012 
the group entered into an exclusive strategic alliance 
with	Wunderlich	Investment	Company,	Inc.,	which	is	
partially owned by one of the company’s largest 
shareholders,	Coil	Investment	Group	AS.	Former	
chairman	of	the	board	and	later	CEO	Alfred	Ydstebø	
has	a	controlling	interest	in	Coil	Investment	Group	
AS.	In	order	to	strengthen	the	alliance,	USD	2.5	
million was invested in the form of a convertible 
debenture. In February 2013 the Agasti group also 
acquired 100% of Wunderlich Securities AS for NOK 
11 million. This company was also controlled by 
Alfred Ydstebø. Beyond this, there have been no 
material transactions between the company and 
shareholders, the board of directors or manage-
ment.	Potential	conflicts	of	interest	between	the	
board of directors and these groups are dealt with 
by the board of directors.

5. Free negotiability
The company has no ownership or trading 
restrictions affecting the company’s shares.

6. General meeting
The general meeting ensures that shareholders are 
able to participate in the body which constitutes the 
highest authority in the company and in which the 
company’s Articles of Association are stipulated. 
The board of directors will facilitate in such a way 
that as many shareholders as possible can exercise 
their ownership rights by participating in the 
company’s general meeting.

notice
The general meeting is held by June each year. In 
2014 the general meeting will be held on 18 June. 
Notice and agenda documents for ordinary and 
extraordinary general meetings are, without 
exception, issued to shareholders with a minimum  
of 21 days’ notice. The board of directors also strives 
to make the nomination committee’s recommenda-
tions available at least 21 days before the general 
meeting if available. The company’s financial 
calender is published through stock exchange 

the opportunity to use the financial instruments  
and mechanisms prescribed by the Norwegian act 
relating to public limited liability companies. It also 
gives the company the opportunity to optimise its 
capital structure. The authorisation is also granted 
so that the company is able to use its own shares as 
consideration in the case of acquisitions and to fulfil 
the option scheme for management and key 
personnel, etc. The authorisation is valid until the 
date of the next general meeting, but no later than 
30 June 2014.

It will be proposed that this authorisation is replaced 
at the ordinary general meeting by a new 
authorisation to buy back up to 29 million shares, 
valid until the next ordinary general meeting, but 
with an expiry date no later than 30 June 2015.

During 2013, the board of directors of Agasti 
Holding ASA did not make use of this authorisation. 

4. Equal treatment of shareholders and 
transactions with related parties
Agasti Holding ASA has one share class, in which 
each share entitles the holder to one vote at the 
company’s general meeting. Equal treatment of 
shareholders has also been ensured in that all capital 
increases after the stock exchange listing in 2001 
have occurred with preferential rights for existing 
shareholders. The only exceptions have been for 
emissions targeted at employees and capital 
increases which took place in connection with the 
company’s procurement of the investment advice 
company Axir ASA in 2010, the procurement of the 
securities company Wunderlich Securities AS in 
2013 and emissions in connection with the 
company’s obligation in connection with stock 
options allocated to key personnel. However, in the 
case of other emissions targeted at employees, all 
employees have been able to participate under the 
same conditions, regardless of their position within 
the company. If the company’s board of directors 
approves capital increases which deviate from the 
preferential rights of existing shareholders on the 
basis of the authorisation given at the general 
meeting, the reason for this must be made public in 
a stock exchange announcement in connection with 
the capital increase.

Authorisation regarding the purchase of the 
company’s own shares gives the board of directors 
purchasing freedom in relation to the methods 
through which the purchasing and sale of shares can 
occur. Transactions in the company’s own shares 
would normally be carried out in the Oslo Stock 
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Agasti Holding ASA shall have a nomination 
committee in accordance with the recommenda-
tions on corporate governance. In accordance with 
guidelines adopted by the general meeting, the 
nomination committee’s tasks include providing 
recommendations to the general meeting for the 
election of board members and remuneration of 
said members. The committee shall consist of three 
to five members each serving for two years. All 
members and the chairman of the committee will  
be elected by the general meeting. The general 
meeting determines the committee’s remuneration 
based on the nomination committee’s recommenda-
tions.

The committee consists of Nils Foldal (chairman), 
Ulf-Einar	Staalesen	(member)	and	Steinar	Olsen	
(member). All committee members are considered 
independent of the board of directors and 
management	employees.	The	Chief	Executive	
Officer	or	other	management	employees	are	not	
members of the nomination committee. The 
composition of the nomination committee aims  
to balance multiple concerns, among other things 
the principle of independence and impartiality in  
the relationship between the committee and those 
who will be elected is emphasised. The nomination 
committee’s independence from the board of 
directors and the company management implies 
that the recommendation for members of the 
nomination committee should be made by the 
nomination committee itself. The deadline for 
providing input regarding candidates to the board  
of directors and the nomination committee for 2015 
is 31 December 2014 and this can be done by 
contacting	Agasti	Holding	ASA	c/o	the	nomination	
committee,	PO	Box	120,	4001	Stavanger,	Norway.	
The nomination committee’s recommendation of 
members is normally issued with the notice for the 
general meeting. The composition of the nomination 
committee is decided by simple majority vote. 

8. Corporate assembly and board of directors  
– composition and independence
corporate assembly
At the end of 2013 the Agasti Group had 226 
permanent employees, the majority of whom are 
employed in the securities company Navigea 
Securities AS, a subsidiary of the parent company 
Agasti Holding ASA. However, the number of 
employees in Navigea Securities AS is less than  
200 and there is no requirement for a corporate 
assembly. 

announcements, on Agasti’s websites and in the 
company’s annual report. The board of directors 
ensures that agenda documents include all 
necessary information in order for shareholders to 
be able to consider all items that will be dealt with. 
The annual report is published electronically only. 
Shareholders may request a physical copy of the 
annual report free of charge. The general meeting is 
usually held in Oslo in accordance with the 
company’s Articles of Association.

participation
The company’s Articles of Association stipulate that 
the deadline for registration may not expire earlier 
than five days before the date of the general 
meeting and that the right to participate and vote  
in the general meeting may be exercised only for 
shares when the share position has been entered in 
the register of shareholders by the fifth working day 
preceding the general meeting. Shareholders are 
welcome to vote by proxy and proxies may be grant-
ed	for	each	individual	case	that	is	discussed.	Proxy	
forms are enclosed with the notice and may also  
be used to provide instructions concerning votes 
associated with each item under discussion. The 
chairman of the board of directors will, if desired,  
be able to vote on behalf of shareholders as an 
authorised proxy. The board of directors feels that 
recommendations from the nomination committee 
should be voted on as a whole and not individually. 
This is because the committee’s recommendation 
for candidates for each position in the company’s 
bodies is based on the properties already 
represented in the board of directors by members 
not up for election. The nomination committee 
attempts to supplement these with members who 
hold the desired experience and expertise. 

As a rule of thumb, the chairman, management, 
chairman of the nomination committee and the 
auditor will be present. In recent years the general 
meeting has been chaired by an independent 
chairperson. In 2013 the ordinary general meeting 
was held on 23 June and 77 percent of the total 
capital was represented. An extraordinary general 
meeting was held on 29 November, at which 52 
percent of the total capital was represented. The 
minutes from the general meeting are made 
available on the company’s website as soon as 
possible and no later than 15 days after the general 
meeting is held.

7. Nomination committee
At the ordinary general meeting on 31 March 2005, 
it was stipulated in the Articles of Association that 
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management should not be members of the board. 
Suggestions for the composition of the board will 
also emphasise diversity, the ability to collaborate 
and a balanced gender representation.

9. The work of the board of directors
the duties of the board of directors
The board has the overall responsibility for the 
management of the group and for overseeing 
general management and the group’s business 
activities. The main tasks include participating in 
shaping the group’s strategy, as well as control and 
advisory tasks. Each year, the board prepares a plan 
for the coming year’s work, in which meeting dates 
and themes are set out. The board appoints the 
CEO.

rules of procedure
The board has developed rules of procedure for the 
board and the general management with emphasis 
on clear allocation of internal responsibilities and 
tasks.

Board committees
Agasti Holding ASA has two board committees,  
an audit committee and a remuneration committee. 
The tasks of the respective committees are listed 
below.

the duties of the Audit committee:
•	 	To	prepare	the	board’s	quality	assurance	of	the	

Group’s accounting and financial reporting
•	 	To	evaluate	the	company’s	fundamental	

accounting principles and analysis of entries
•	 	To	make	sure	a	risk	profile	for	Agasti	is	established	

based on board-approved objectives; establish 
principles and a framework for risk management 
within the Group; monitor the company’s internal 
controls, the company’s risk management systems 
and internal auditing, including the internal 
auditor’s plans; and ensure the internal auditor  
has	sufficient	resources

•	 	To	facilitate	a	systematic	annual	review	of	the	
processes for risk management and the results of 
the risk assessments in the individual companies 
as part of the operational management, and 
ensure that the risk management system is 
effective

•	 	To	receive	and	assess	consolidated	risk	reports	 
for subsidiaries

•	 	To	ensure	the	reaching	of	objectives	within	the	risk	
tolerances, as defined in the prevailing applicable 
strategy 

Board of directors
The board of directors of Agasti Holding ASA 
consists of four members and currently has the 
following composition: Erling Meinich-Bache 
(chairman), Beatriz Malo de Molina (deputy 
chairman), Merete Haugli and Sissel Knutsen Hegdal.

independence
Agasti endeavours to ensure independence 
between shareholders, the board of directors  
and the company’s administration. No members  
of the Agasti Holding ASA board of directors are 
employees of the group. Of the four board 
members, three are independent of main 
shareholders. These are Beatriz Malo de Molina, 
Merete Haugli and Sissel Knutsen Hegdal. Erling 
Meinich-Bache represents one of the company’s 
largest shareholders and is therefore not regarded 
as independent.

Board members are selected in accordance with  
the Norwegian act relating to public limited liability 
companies	for	two	years	at	a	time.	The	Chief	
Executive	Officer	is	not	a	member	of	the	board	 
of Directors.

Board members’ shareholdings
As at 31.12.13, no board member of Agasti Holding 
ASA owns shares or stock options in the company. 
Chairman	of	the	board	Erling	Meinich-Bache	
represents IKM Industri-Invest AS, which owns  
11.1 million shares in Agasti Holding ASA. Board 
members are encouraged to own shares in the 
company.
selection of the board of directors
The members of the board of directors and its 
chairman are elected at the general meeting. The 
nomination committee prepares a recommendation 
of board members prior to the election. The 
recommendation is usually issued to shareholders 
together with the notice of the general meeting. The 
composition of the board of directors is decided by 
simple majority vote. For the election of new board 
members, the suggestions for the board’s 
composition take into account conditions set out in 
the code of practice with regard to independence 
from the management. This means that the majority 
of the shareholder-elected members who are 
selected must be independent of the company’s 
general management and significant business 
connections. At least two of the shareholder-elected 
members should be independent of the main 
shareholders and representatives of the general 
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management companies for mutual funds
•	 	To	prepare	all	cases	regarding	the	remuneration	

scheme which shall be determined by the board  
of directors in the securities companies

•	 	To	determine	remuneration	for	the	CEO
•	 	To	determine	salary	levels	and	the	principles	for,	

and scope of, bonus schemes
•	 	To	deal	with	other	significant	personnel-related	

issues for leading, and other, employees
•	 	To	act	as	a	common	remuneration	committee,	in	

accordance with regulations for the entire Agasti 
Group

Agasti Holding ASA has been given permission by 
the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway to 
have a common remuneration committee for the 
group and as such there is no requirement regarding 
separate remuneration committees in the securities 
companies. 

The remuneration committee consists of Sissel 
Knutsen Hegdal, chairman, and Beatriz Malo De 
Molina. All members are considered to be 
independent of employees in senior positions.

the board’s self-assessment
The board carries out an annual self-assessment  
of its operations and expertise, which includes an 
analysis of the board’s composition and how 
members function both individually and as a group 
in relation to the goals that have been set.

10. Risk management and internal control
The Agasti Group has established risk management 
and internal control as an integrated part of the 
on-going execution of business activities. The 
overall framework for risk management and internal 
control is established at board level and 
subsequently  implemented by the management  
and operative employees through the establishment 
of routines, systems and the on-going follow-up  
of risk and control activities. Independent risk 
management and compliance functions and internal 
audits support the execution of risk management 
and internal control through the provision of 
professional advisory services, quality assurance, 
follow-up and independent reporting at board and 
management level. 

•	 	To	describe	the	key	elements	in	the	company’s	risk	
management in the annual report in accordance 
with good accounting practice and the 
recommendations	of	the	Norwegian	Corporate	
Governance	Board	(NUES)

•	 	To	ensure	that	risk	management	and	internal	
controls are established in accordance with laws 
and regulations, statutes, orders from licensing 
authorities and guidelines issued by the board  
of management by, among other things, the 
processing of reports

•	 	To	evaluate	its	work	and	competence	related	 
to	the	company’s	risk	management,	ICAAP	and	
internal checks 

•	 	To	maintain	contact,	as	required,	with	the	
company’s selected auditor regarding the auditing 
of the company’s interim and annual accounts, 
both on a company and consolidated level

•	 	To	review	external	auditor’s	plans	and	budget
•	 	To,	together	with	the	external	auditor,	review	and	

monitor the independence of the auditor and audit 
company, including any services other than 
auditing that are delivered by the auditor or 
auditing company

•	 	To	assist	the	board	in	the	exercise	of	its	control	
and management function, especially with regard 
to ensuring that all operations within Agasti 
Holding are conducted in accordance with the 
applicable legislation, rules and guidelines

•	 	To	ensure	that	the	company	establishes	and	
maintains internal procedures and instructions in 
line with applicable legislation and regulations, 
and to ensure that these are communicated to 
employees

The audit committee consists of Merete Haugli, 
chairman, Beatriz Malo de Molina and Erling 
Meinich-Bache. The members of the audit 
committee are considered to be independent of  
the company.

The audit committee’s mandate satisfies the legal 
requirement for audit committees for listed 
companies. 

the duties of the remuneration committee:
•	 	To	provide	the	board	with	guidelines	and	cases	

regarding remuneration for leading employees
•	 	To	determine	and	ensure	that	the	company,	at	 

any given time, has and follows guidelines and a 
framework for a remuneration scheme that shall 
be valid for the entire company and its subsidiaries 
and that is in accordance with the regulations 
concerning remuneration schemes in financial 
institutions, investment companies and 
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tasks naturally associated with the positions she has 
held during the period.

12. Remuneration to employees in senior positions
The	CEO’s	remuneration	is	determined	by	the	board	
of directors. The board also sets guidelines for 
remuneration of other employees in senior positions, 
including fixed salaries and the principles for and 
scope of bonus schemes. These guidelines are 
presented at the general meeting. The guidelines for 
remuneration of employees in senior positions are 
described in detail in the notes to the annual report.

13. Information and communication
Agasti Holding ASA aims to carry out accounting 
and financial reporting that is trusted by the 
financial market. Emphasis is placed on information 
being equal and synchronous. Effective communica-
tion with the financial market is ensured through all 
significant new information being sent as stock 
exchange announcements in accordance with 
applicable regulations, including the company’s 
financial calendar with dates for the publication  
of interim reports, general meeting and any  
dividend payments. 

Agasti works to ensure open and active 
communication  with the financial market. Open 
investor presentations are arranged in connection 
with annual and quarterly results. The company’s 
quarterly and biannual presentations are 
transmitted live on the internet and are also available 
on the company’s website under Investor Relations. 
Agasti Holding ASA has applied for and been 
granted dispensation from the language 
requirements specified in the legislation on 
securities trading. Interim reports are therefore 
published in English only. The company has placed 
emphasis on further developing and improving the 
webpages for Investor Relations content. The 
company complies with Oslo Stock Exchange’s 
recommendations on reporting of IR information,  
in which, among other things, requirements are set 
out relating to the information which must be made 
available on companies’ websites. The need for 
further improvement of these pages is assessed  
on a continuous basis.

The group’s Investor Relations department is  
in regular contact with shareholders, investors, 
analysts and the financial market in general.

Shareholders, investors, brokers, analysts and  
other parties with an interest in Agasti shares  
are encouraged to contact the company’s IR 

The main purpose of risk management and internal 
control is to provide reasonable assurance that the 
group will achieve: 

•	 	Quality	and	efficiency	within	internal	operations,	
with a view to creating profitability and security 
for customers

•	 	Reliable	internal	and	external	reporting	
•	 	Compliance	with	legislation	and	regulations,	 

as well as internal guidelines 

The main elements in the internal control of financial 
reporting consist of a common service centre for 
finance and accounting, where a comprehensive 
financial control regime has been established. 
Internal financial reporting is used actively in the 
commercial follow-up of the organisation, both  
at overall and operative level. This means that any 
errors and omissions are quickly identified by those 
who possess thorough knowledge of the 
organisation’s financial development, so that the 
probability of significant errors in the financial 
reporting is unlikely. At the overall level, control  
of the financial reporting is carried out through 
handling by the company’s management teams and 
boards, as well as through the group’s consideration 
of the accounts by group management, the audit 
committee and corporate board of directors. 

See also the dedicated section of the annual report 
in which risk management and internal control are 
discussed in detail.

11. The board of directors’ remuneration
The board of director’s remuneration is decided 
upon at the general meeting and is in accordance 
with the board’s responsibilities, expertise and time 
spent. In 2013, remuneration paid to the board was 
NOK 350,000 for the chairman of the board and 
NOK 200,000 for other members. The chairman  
and members of the audit committee also received 
an additional NOK 110,000 and NOK 70,000 
respectively. Members of the remuneration 
committee also received NOK 20,000 each. The 
chairman of the nomination committee was paid 
NOK 40,000 and other members NOK 20,000 each. 

This remuneration is fixed and is in no way 
dependent upon results.

In 2013, the board of directors of Agasti Holding 
decided to remunerate Merete Haugli with a single 
payment of NOK 150,000 for the work relating to 
compliance that she carried out during the period 
2012-2013, and which was beyond the scope of the 
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15. Auditor
The external auditor submits a plan to the board 
annually, in which the main features of the planned 
audit are described. The external auditor 
participates in the board meeting that deals with 
annual accounts, as well as other board meetings  
or audit committee meetings at which significant 
decisions in relation to accounting or internal  
control are to be made, along with any other 
meetings in accordance with the board’s wishes. 
Both the internal and the external auditor participate 
in two audit committee meetings per year. The 
auditors shall, on an annual basis, explain the work 
carried out in the previous financial year including 
particular circumstances that have been subject to 
attention or discussion with management, as well  
as the organisation and implementation of internal 
control in the operational subsidiaries. Together with 
the audit committee, the internal auditor reviews the 
conditions regarding risk management and internal 
control within the group. Both the external and 
internal auditor can meet with the board without the 
general management being present, if there is a 
need for this.

The external auditor is engaged on the basis of the 
ordinary conditions for each company in the group. 
The external auditor carries out limited tasks for  
the group beyond auditing and assistance with the 
preparation and reporting of tax accounts. Fees for 
auditing and consultancy services are explained in 
the notes to the annual accounts and are also stated 
in the documentation for the general meeting.

department by e-mail ir@agasti.no or by phone  
+47	21	00	33	49.	Contact	information	is	also	easily	
accessible on the company’s website.

14. Corporate takeover
In the event of any takeover bids, the board and 
management of Agasti have an independent 
responsibility to ensure that the shareholders in 
Agasti are treated equally. The board has particular 
responsibility for ensuring that shareholders have 
sufficient	information	to	be	able	to	consider	the	
offer. The board endorses the code of practice’s 
condition that the board cannot try to prevent or 
impede an offer regarding the company’s business 
or shares, and will adhere to this. No significant 
share issuance authorisations exist beyond that 
which is accounted for here, or other possible 
measures that can be used to impede or prevent  
any offer on the company’s shares. In the event of  
an offer for the company’s shares, the board will 
provide a statement with an assessment of the  
offer and a recommendation to the company’s 
shareholders. If the board is not able to make a 
recommendation, the reason for this will be given. 
In the event of a takeover situation, the board  
will assess whether to obtain a valuation from  
an independent expert.

Transactions that, in effect, constitute a sale of the 
company, will where possible be presented at the 
general meeting for a final decision.
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the Agasti group’s business operations depend upon the 
trust of customers, investors, shareholders and the 
authorities. Agasti Holding AsA (Agasti) has prepared 
corporate social responsibility guidelines which describe 
how the group has organised its activities in order to attend 
to the responsibilities the company has towards employees 
and society in general. through actively exercised corporate 
social responsibility, the Agasti group shall be characterised 
by a high level of integrity and good business practices. the 
group shall be known for its ethical business operations and 
transparent corporate governance and business manage-
ment practices.

The overall objective of corporate social responsibility within 
the Agasti Group is to strengthen the group’s competitiveness 
by reducing unnecessary risk, thereby creating opportunities 
and increased shareholder value. The Agasti Group shall attain 
commercial profitability by exercising respect for individuals, 
the environment and society in accordance with fundamental 
ethical values. The group and its employees shall act 
professionally and responsibly, and in accordance with 
national and international legislation. Beyond the market’s 
expectations, actively exercised corporate social responsibility 
will further strengthen the group’s reputation and business 
opportunities, as well as provide opportunities for a potentially 
larger base of customers and partners. By creating awareness 
of corporate social responsibility, the group will more easily 
enable its employees to identify instances of non-compliance.

Social  
respon-
sibility

sociAl responsiBility



AgAsti Holding AsA annual report 2013 47

Environmental considerations
Agasti’s business operations shall comply with all 
relevant environmental legislation, and shall 
continuously strive to make improvements that may 
reduce or prevent pollution. Agasti shall operate a 
healthy business characterised by responsibility for 
employees, society and the environment. We will 
always comply with local environmental legislation 
in areas where we carry out our activities, and shall 
continuously improve our environmental work. 
 Holding telephone meetings and video conferences 
instead of physical meetings that require travel 
which pollutes the environment, the recycling of 
paper and mobile telephones, and making 
employees	aware	of	their	consumption	of	office	
stationery are examples of measures that the group 
has implemented in order to reduce our overall 
impact on the environment around us. 

Human rights
Agasti recognises international human rights.  
Agasti does not tolerate any form of offence or 
discrimination on the basis of gender, race, religion 
or sexual orientation. All Agasti employees are equal 
regardless of gender, age, disability, life philosophy, 
cultural differences and sexual orientation. Individual 
qualities shall be respected and valued regardless of 
the employee’s position within the group. The group 
shall not engage in business or other activities that 
may be connected with any breach of human rights. 

Working conditions

Working environment
Through the values integrity, customisation, 
well-informed and energy, Agasti strives to be  
a workplace with a good working environment.

contracts and terms of employment
All Agasti employees shall have a written contract 
and terms of employment that are in accordance 
with current applicable legislation and regulations. 
Salary and other conditions in comparable positions 
are the same for women as they are for men.

recruitment, career opportunities and employee 
development
Recruitment, career opportunities and employee 
development are based on performance, 
qualifications and equal opportunities, regardless  
of race, skin colour, religion, salary, age, nationality, 
sexual orientation, civil status and disability. As a 
general rule, positions shall be advertised internally, 
as well as externally as necessary.

discrimination and harassment
Agasti shall have a culture of proper and appropriate 
conduct. Discrimination, bullying and harassment 
are not accepted. We shall promote openness, so 
that censurable conditions can be taken up for 
discussion and solved as early as possible, and 
closest to where they occur. Employees are 
requested to report incidents of an undesirable 
nature to their relevant manager or to the 
company’s safety representative. Agasti has 
prepared routines and systems for such reporting.

Health, safety and environment
Through active HSE work, Agasti shall create a 
healthy and safe working environment with a high 
level of employee satisfaction.

Corporate governance and integrity control

trading activities
Employees within Agasti shall follow legislation and 
guidelines that are relevant to the group, and 
maintain high ethical standards. The Agasti Group 
has prepared ethical guidelines that employees are 
made aware of upon appointment, and which are 
easily accessible via the Intranet. Employees who 
become aware of possible breaches of legislation 
and regulations or possible violations of Agasti’s 
corporate social responsibility guidelines are 
requested to report these in accordance with the 
established reporting procedures. Employees who 
report such violations may elect to make the report 
anonymously. Those who make reports shall also be 
protected against retaliation. The Agasti Group has 
prepared dedicated reporting procedures that 
employees are made aware of through publication 
via the Intranet.

information management
As a listed company, Agasti is subject to strict 
requirements regarding information that may affect 
the share price. Agasti has prepared guidelines for 
proprietary trading and for the secure handling of 
insider information. The group has also prepared 
guidelines for employees’ use of social media. The 
guidelines are easily accessible to employees via  
the Intranet. Information from Agasti shall be 
communicated correctly and precisely, both 
externally and internally. Agasti’s employees are 
obligated to maintain confidentiality regarding 
commercial information that has not been made 
public.	Caution	shall	be	exercised	when	discussing	
Agasti’s internal affairs in the proximity of third 
parties or via electronic media that may be open to 

sociAl responsiBility
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others.	Confidential	agreements	that	the	group	has	
entered into shall be respected.

customers and suppliers
Agasti shall act independently of its business 
connections. All customers shall be treated with 
integrity and respect, and customers’ needs shall be 
attended to in the best way possible within Agasti’s 
commercial and ethical frameworks. Suppliers shall 
be treated impartially and fairly. Expectations of our 
suppliers are based on the same requirements that 
we set for our own organisation.

conflicts of interest
Agasti’s employees shall act loyally towards Agasti’s 
interests, and are not permitted to participate in 
activities that are not in line with Agasti’s interests or 
that give an impression of impropriety or divided 
loyalty.

corruption
Agasti has zero tolerance for all forms of corruption. 

money laundering and financing of terrorism
Agasti’s employees are expected to have a 
conscious attitude towards and awareness of 
challenges relating to money laundering and the 
financing of terrorism. Employees in exposed 
positions are obligated to complete regular internal 
training, which must be completed within given 
deadlines. The agreements that the Agasti Group 
enters into with some of the group’s most central 
partners also contain clauses that demand 
adherence to applicable regulations to prevent 
money laundering and the financing of terrorism. 

Companies	within	the	Agasti	Group	frequently	
check	their	client	lists	against	the	EU	Global,	UN	
Al-Qaida,	UN	Taliban	and	OFAC	lists.	Annual	checks	
are	also	carried	out	against	PEP	(politically	exposed	
persons) lists. No suspicious transactions or 
customer relationships were discovered in 2013. Nor 
have any suspicious transactions been reported to 
the Norwegian National Authority for Investigation 
and	Prosecution	of	Economic	and	Environmental	
Crime	(Økokrim)	in	either	Norway	or	Sweden.

gifts
As a general rule, Agasti’s employees shall not give 
or receive gifts to or from existing or potential 
customers. Gifts that are classified as insignificant 
and which are therefore non-taxable in accordance 
with relevant legislation may be given or received, 
provided that the purpose of the gift is not to gain 
advantageous treatment. 

drugs
Agasti opposes all illegal drug use.

Adherence to adopted guidelines

systematic work
The Agasti Group has a clear interest corporate 
social responsibility and a basic willingness to work 
systematically with this. Systematic corporate social 
responsibility work is carried out through the 
updating and adaptation of both our corporate 
social responsibility guidelines and other internal 
regulations. All employees are obligated to notify 
the management of actual and potential deviations 
from the group’s adopted corporate social 
responsibility guidelines. All employees are required 
to comply with both the regulations’ wording and 
purpose in order to ensure the Agasti Group’s 
reputation. 

compliance requirements
The responsibility to act ethically and in accordance 
with applicable regulations will always rest with the 
individual employee. Such compliance is a basic 
factor in every contract of employment. Significant 
breaches of compliance with the current applicable 
rules and regulations may have consequences for 
the employment relationship. 

Future expectations
Today, it is a generally accepted attitude that 
industry must be more aware of the responsibility 
that lies with the individual in order to ensure that 
society is not negatively affected by business 
activities	that	are	carried	out.	Consideration	of	
human rights, employee rights, social conditions  
and the external environment, as well as measures  
to combat corruption, money laundering and the 
financing of terrorism, will therefore be important 
for all industry participants that wish to do their  
part in this important corporate social responsibility 
work. The Agasti Group is aware of its responsibili-
ties, and will continue to further develop the 
company’s procedures, guidelines and reporting  
in order to ensure that the organisation effectively 
attends to its responsibilities towards employees 
and the rest of society. As this work becomes 
increasingly widespread, including among our 
international partners, there will be reason to believe 
that society will be negatively affected by the 
business activities that are carried to an ever lesser 
extent. 

sociAl responsiBility
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The Agasti Group
The Agasti Group consists of the parent company Agasti 
Holding ASA and the wholly-owned subsidiaries Navigea 
Securities AS and its associated Swedish branch, Navexa 
Securities	AB,	Agasti	Capital	Markets	AS,	Obligo	Investment	
Management AS and Agasti Business Services AS, including 
the company’s Swedish branch. The Group’s activities are  
also carried out from the companies Agasti Wunderlich 
Capital	Markets	AS,	Obligo	Real	Estate	AS	and	Obligo	Fund	
Management AS, where the former is a subsidiary of Agasti 
Capital	Markets	AS	and	the	remaining	two	are	subsidiaries	 
of Obligo Investment Management AS. The Group also owns 
the companies Acta Asset Management AS and Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS, including Acta Kapitalforvaltning  
AS’ Swedish branch Acta Kapitalförvaltning. 

Overview of activities and where the Group operates
The Agasti Group undertakes activities within the fields  
of investment advice and management of alternative 
investments, and also acts as an advisor and facilitator  
of capital market services for wealthy individuals, companies 
and institutional investors.

The Group was established in 1990 and the controlling 
company Agasti Holding ASA has been listed on the Oslo 
Stock Exchange since 2001. The Group operates in Norway, 
Sweden,	Germany,	Luxembourg,	Great	Britain	and	the	USA.	

In addition to being a major distributor of selected equity and 
fixed income funds, the Agasti Group has established one of 
the most experienced teams in the market within real estate, 
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shipping and private equity. Through a strategic 
collaborative agreement with Wunderlich 
Investment	Company	and	their	energy	team	in	
Houston, the Group also possesses unique 
competence within energy and oil services. This has 
been achieved by bringing together dedicated 
people with international investment banking 
experience from renowned financial institutions in 
Norway and abroad, whilst at the same time further 
developing the strategic collaboration with 
Wunderlich	Securities	in	the	USA.	Collectively,	the	
Agasti Group’s activities represent the entire 
industry line - from investment advice and wealth 
management, through facilitation and advice 
associated with project financing and capital market 
transactions for industry, to the provision of a 
complete management service for all the 
investments our clients have made through the 
Agasti Group. The Agasti Group carries out activities 
within the areas of investment advice and insurance 
mediation, represented by Navigea Securities in 
Norway and its Swedish branch, as well as Navexa 
Securities in Sweden. Operations requiring licences 
from the authorities are carried out by the 
companies Navigea Securities AS, Navexa Securities 
AB	and	Agasti	Wunderlich	Capital	Markets	AS.	The	
Agasti Group does not carry out research and 
development activities.  

Agasti’s vision is “We create opportunities”. The 
vision has clear ambition and indicates a clear 
direction. The vision invokes a sense of community 
and is a guiding principle in the selection of our 
values. The Group’s objective with its vision and 
values is that taken together, they will inspire and 
influence employee attitudes and provide direction 
for the Group in decision-making processes. 

Going concern assumption
In accordance with Section 3-3 of the Norwegian 
Accounting Act, it is hereby confirmed that the 
accounts have been prepared on the basis of a 
going concern assumption.

Corporate governance
Agasti Holding ASA has one share class, in which 
each share entitles the holder to one vote at the 
company’s general meeting.

Agasti Holding ASA’s ordinary general meeting  
has given the company’s Board of Directors 
authorisation  to issue new shares. The authorisation 
was granted at the ordinary general meeting on  
26 June 2013 and applies for the issuing of up to  
57.1 million shares with a nominal value of NOK 0.18. 
Parts	of	this	authorisation	are	specifically	linked	to	 
a rights issue of 31.1 million shares, and were valid 

until 1 September 2013. The remaining authorisation 
for 26 million shares is valid until the date of the next 
ordinary general meeting, but no later than 30 June 
2014. The authorisation is based on a desire to be 
able to cover the company’s capital requirements, 
issue shares as payment in the event of acquisitions 
and pay stock options or allocate shares, stock 
options	and/or	warrant	shares	to	employees	in	
senior positions.

During 2013, the Board of Directors of Agasti 
Holding ASA issued 3,500,000 shares under the 
authorisation granted by the company’s general 
meeting on 23 May 2012. The shares are used as 
consideration in connection with the company’s 
acquisition of investment company Wunderlich 
Securities AS. During 2013, the Board of Directors  
of Agasti Holding ASA also issued 1,330,865 shares 
under the authorisation described in the previous 
paragraph. These shares were issued in order to fulfil 
the company’s obligations in connection with stock 
options granted to employees in senior positions.  
In addition, on 26 June 2013 the company’s Board  
of Directors decided to issue 31,111,111 shares in a 
rights issue in order to strengthen the company’s 
capital base. The total number of shares issued by 
the board during 2013 under the authorisation given  
by the general meeting is 35,941,976.

During 2013, the Board of Directors of Agasti 
Holding ASA has not used the authorisation granted 
at the general meetings of 23 May 2012 and 26 June 
2013 to acquire up to 25.5 million and 26 million of 
the company’s own shares, respectively. 

In March of 2014, the Board of Directors of Agasti 
Holding ASA adopted a new incentive scheme for 
selected managers in the Group. The scheme is part 
of a long-term incentive scheme, which shall 
contribute to creating positive results, attracting 
new employees as well as retaining existing key 
persons. At the time of adoption of the annual 
accounts, a total of 10 million stock options are 
outstanding, of which employees in leading 
positions hold 5.6 million stock options. The 
allocation is in accordance with the authorisation  
granted by the annual general meeting on 23 May 
2012 and 26 June 2013.

All subsidiaries are wholly-owned and as such there 
are no conflicts of interest with any minority 
shareholders. 

In August 2012, Agasti Holding ASA entered into an 
agreement with then Board Member and later 
Chairman	of	the	Board	Merete	Haugli	regarding	
services linked to the area of compliance. The 
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in the American. At the end of the year, Agasti 
Holding ASA had six employees, of whom one was 
on leave.

The Board of Directors regards the working 
environment in Agasti as good. The Agasti Group  
is characterised by highly qualified employees with  
a positive attitude and low sickness absenteeism. 
Sickness absenteeism for the financial year totalled 
8,699 hours, which corresponds to approximately 
2.0 percent of the total working hours, compared 
with 2.2 percent in 2012. Agasti has not had any 
reported injuries, property damage or accidents of 
any significance in 2013. The nature of the Group’s 
activities is such that they only have a minor direct 
impact on the external environment. 

Agasti has the goal of ensuring diversity in the 
Group, and shall recruit, develop and maintain the 
best employees, independent of gender, age, 
ethnicity or reduced functional ability. In certain  
job categories, the Agasti Group currently has a 
 relatively uniformly composed group of employees. 
Agasti shall ensure diversity through steered 
recruitment processes, where priority is placed on 
professional qualifications and competencies for  
the relevant role, as well as greater variation in the 
Group’s diversity. This will be an ongoing activity 
associated with the Agasti Group’s recruitment 
processes. Individual departments have challenges 
in ensuring diversity among the qualified 
candidates. This is especially evident in administra-
tive	job	categories	in	staffing	and	support	functions.	
Here, the work to increase diversity will continue.

Central	processes	linked	to	the	payment	of	salaries,	
working conditions and personnel policy have been 
established. These are intended to ensure that 
employees can maintain a balance between their 
career and family life, and safeguard employees 
against harassment and discrimination. Agasti 
usually carries out an annual employee survey  
to identify possible challenges linked to employee 
satisfaction and personnel management. As  
a result of the replacement of personnel within  
the company’s HR department the survey was not 
carried out in 2013, but the company plans to do this 
in 2014.

The Board of Directors and management of Agasti 
place emphasis on equal opportunities between the 
genders and endeavour to facilitate this through the 
company’s personnel policy in terms of salary, 
promotion and recruitment. However, Agasti has a 
clear gender division where men form the majority 
within management positions and positions within 
advisory services. Women have a similarly dominant 

services were beyond the scope of the work tasks 
and obligations relating to the other positions she 
holds within Agasti. In 2013, the Board of Directors 
decided to remunerate Merete Haugli with a total of 
NOK 150,000 for this work in the period 2012-2013.

The strategic collaboration with Wunderlich 
Investment	Company,	Inc.	has	resulted	in	the	Agasti	
Group acquiring 100 per cent of Wunderlich 
Securities AS for NOK 11 million in February 2013. 
This company was indirectly controlled by Alfred 
Ydstebø,	former	Chairman	of	the	Board	and	Chief	
Executive	Officer	between	August	2012	and	
December 2013. Beyond this, there have been no 
material transactions between the company and 
shareholders, the Board of Directors or manage-
ment.	Potential	conflicts	of	interest	between	the	
Board of Directors and these groups are dealt with 
by the Board of Directors, and the Board of 
Directors has been extremely committed to 
following the current applicable rules regarding 
impartiality and good corporate governance.

The Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA 
complies with the current applicable Norwegian 
Code	of	Practice	for	Corporate	Governance.	The	
Board of Directors has provided an account of 
Corporate	Governance	within	the	Agasti	Group	in	a	
separate chapter of the annual report. The report is 
also available at www.agasti.no. 

The Accounting Act Section 3-3b, Sub-section 2 
(statement on corporate governance)
The statement on corporate governance also 
explains how the Accounting Act Section 3-3b, 
Subsection 2 is covered in the Agasti Group. 

The Accounting Act Section 3-3c  
(statement on corporate social responsibility) 
The Agasti Group has adopted dedicated corporate 
social responsibility guidelines, which describe how 
the Group relates to environmental considerations, 
human rights, working conditions and corporate 
governance and integrity control. These guidelines 
are described in a separate statement of corporate 
social responsibility, which is included in the Group’s 
annual report for 2013. 

Information on the working environment, equal 
opportunities and impact on the external 
environment
At the end of 2013 the Group had a total of 242 
employees, of whom 203 worked full-time, 16 
worked part-time (substitutes and temporary 
positions) and 23 were on leave. At the end of the 
year, 169 persons were employed in the Norwegian 
operations, 70 in the Swedish operations and three 
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Securities	AS	and	Platou	Fund	Management	AS,	
which contributed positively to equity under 
management with NOK 0.4 billion and NOK 1.2 
billion, respectively. On the other hand, the 
development of client funds under management  
has been negatively affected by payments to clients 
of NOK 0.7 billion throughout the year. 

Recurring revenues ended at NOK 362 million in 
2013, which is an increase of NOK 26 million, or 7.6 
per cent, from NOK 337 million in 2012. The 
acquisition of investment management companies 
within shipping and real estate from ABG Sundal 
Collier	Norge	ASA,	the	takeover	of	management	
mandates within private equity, infrastructure and 
other alternative investments from Swedbank First 
Securities,	and	the	acquisition	of	Platou	Fund	
Management AS and associated companies have 
contributed to the increase in the recurring 
revenues. 

The Agasti Group has a strong focus on building 
long-term recurring revenues, which together with 
an active focus on expenses helps to strengthen  
the business model and make it robust. In 2013, 
recurring revenues covered 93 per cent of the 
company’s fixed and activity-based costs, 
compared with 93 per cent in 2012. The Agasti 
Group has a strategic objective that the Group’s 
recurring revenues shall cover the fixed and 
activity-based costs.

Agasti Holding ASA has no external operations, and 
only had operating revenues of NOK 22 million from 
the provision of internal services within the Group. 

Earnings
In 2013, the Agasti Group’s operating earnings 
ended at NOK -4 million, compared with NOK -56 
million in 2012. The result after tax was NOK -2 
million. The equivalent figure for 2012 was NOK -54 
million. The improvement in the result is primarily 
due to an increase in the Group’s total income of 
NOK 55 million. 

The underlying operation in the group is positive, 
and the operating result excluding impairment of 
goodwill and the costs of restructuring totalling 
NOK 23 million associated with the Norwegian 
Financial Supervisory Authority’s notice to recall 
Navigea Securities AS’ permissions is NOK 19 million. 
In 2013, variable and activity-based costs ended  
at NOK 23 million and NOK 63 million respectively, 
which is a total reduction of NOK 41 million 
compared with the corresponding figures for 2012. 
Fixed contractual costs ended at NOK 312 million in 
2013. The equivalent figure for 2012 was 272 million. 

position	within	staffing	and	support	functions.	
Agasti has an equal salary principle, which states 
that there shall be equal basic pay for equal work. 
However, men have a higher average salary than 
women, since the majority of management 
employees are men, and advisors have a higher 
salary	level	on	average	than	positions	within	staffing	
and support functions. Of the Group’s 242 
employees, 88 were women and 154 were men.  
The company actively seeks women to take leading 
positions, including positions on the Board of 
Directors. At the end of 2013 the company’s Board 
of Directors consisted of three women, including the 
Vice	Chairman	of	the	Board,	and	one	man	who	is	the	
Chairman	of	the	Board.

Comments on the annual accounts
In	the	view	of	the	Board	of	Directors	and	Chief	
Executive	Officer,	the	consolidated	income	
statement, the consolidated balance sheet, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and  
the consolidated cash flow statement, and the notes 
attached for the Group and the company income 
statement, the company balance sheet and the 
company cash flow statement with attached notes 
for Agasti Holding ASA, provide a full and fair 
account of the operations for the year and the 
financial position of the Group at the end of the year. 
No conditions have occurred after the end of the 
financial year that affect this assessment of the 
Group or company’s results and financial position 
that are not presented in the Directors’ report or the 
annual accounts.

Revenues
The Group’s revenues totalled NOK 421 million in 
2013, compared with 366 million in 2012. 

Transaction revenues ended at NOK 59 million.  
The equivalent figure for 2012 was 29 million. The 
increase compared with 2012 is due to increased 
activity within the Markets segment, combined with 
higher gross subscriptions for the Group’s savings 
and investment products. Transaction revenues are 
affected by the fact that a majority of the Group’s 
active clients within the Wealth Management 
segment have chosen to hold their investments  
with the Agasti Group through advisory accounts, 
and are therefore only charged a fee based on their 
equity under management. 

Equity under management increased from NOK 24 
billion at the beginning of the year to NOK 30 billion 
as at 31 December 2013. This significant increase is 
mainly a result of a return on clients’ investments of 
NOK 4.5 billion, NOK 0.7 billion in net deposits from 
customers, and the acquisition of Wunderlich 
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Net liquid funds for the Group at the end of 2013 
comprised NOK 131 million. In addition, the Group 
had unused overdraft entitlements totalling NOK 50 
million. The Group expects a continued acceptable 
liquidity situation in 2014.

Segment information
Throughout the entire year, the Agasti Group has 
reported on the Wealth Management, Markets and 
Other segments. 

Wealth Management
This segment includes the Group’s investment 
advisory activities, customer centres and custodial 
services in addition to corresponding support 
functions. During the first half of 2014, the customer 
centres	were	moved	to	Agasti	Wunderlich	Capital	
Markets as a part of the Markets segment.

Throughout 2013, Navigea Securities AS and Navexa 
Securities AB have been responsible for the Group’s 
activities relating to investment advice, and have 
also been responsible for the Group’s brokerage 
activities throughout parts of the year. From 1 
October 2013, Navigea Securities AS’ activities  
in Sweden have been arranged as a branch with 
Navexa Securities AB as the associated agent. The 
brokerage activities relating to unlisted shares and 
larger clients were transferred to fellow subsidiary 
Agasti	Wunderlich	Capital	Markets	AS	in	March	2013.	

Throughout the year, the Agasti Group has 
maintained its strong position in the market for 
savings and investment solutions, and external 
parties’ on-going measurement of customer 
satisfaction shows that clients have become 
increasingly satisfied with us throughout 2013. The 
Group has a well-established distribution apparatus 
in both Norway and Sweden consisting of advisory 
offices,	in	addition	to	investment	centres	for	order	
processing, investment brokerage and customer 
service. At year-end, the Agasti Group had 43,000 
clients in Norway and Sweden within this segment. 

The Agasti Group’s business model within Wealth 
Management involves focusing on offering an 
increased level of service to the largest clients, while 
smaller	clients	will	be	offered	adequate	and	efficient	
service through customer centres. The Agasti 
Group’s advisory clients within Wealth Management 
hold their investments in an advisory account. 
Advisory accounts are based on fixed fees, which 
are set based on the amount of equity the client has 
invested through the Agasti Group. At the end of 
December 2013, around 8,600 clients had 
approximately NOK 13 billion invested through 
advisory accounts. 

The increase of NOK 40 million is partly due to the 
provision for future lease obligations, the fact that 
the Agasti Group throughout the year has taken 
over	employees	from	ABG	Sundal	Collier,	Swedbank	
First	Securities	and	RS	Platou,	while	simultaneously	
recruiting highly qualified personnel with extensive 
international and national work experience from 
renowned competitors. 

The Group’s tax expenses for the year are NOK 5 
million, compared with NOK -6 million in 2012. The 
effective tax rate for 2013 is 171 per cent. The 
equivalent figure for 2012 was minus 10.2 per cent. 

The parent company, Agasti Holding ASA, had 
operating earnings of NOK -15 million, compared 
with NOK -8 million in the previous year. After a 
valuation of the shares in subsidiary company 
Navigea Securities AS, the shares are written down 
by NOK 25 million. The company had a net income 
of NOK 7 million compared with NOK -32 million in 
the previous year. Net income includes Group contri-
butions received from the operational subsidiaries of 
NOK 60 million.

Balance sheet 
The Group’s total capital at the end of 2013 was NOK 
419 million compared with NOK 339 million at the 
end of 2012. The increase is explained by an increase 
in goodwill from the acquisition of companies as 
discussed under segment information below, an 
increase in current receivables, and an increase in 
financial	assets/shares	in	investment	portfolios	
taken over in connection with the settlement of 
client	issues.	Consolidated	equity	at	the	end	of	the	
year was NOK 230 million, which represents an 
equity ratio of 55 per cent. The equivalent figures  
for 2012 were NOK 184 million and 55 per cent, 
respectively.

Cash flow and liquidity
In 2013 the Group had a negative cash flow from 
operational activities of NOK -8 million. The 
discrepancy between the positive operating 
earnings and negative cash flow from operational 
activities can be mainly explained by the cash  
effect of the dissolution of previous employee 
restructuring costs, repayment of bank overdrafts 
and changes in other current receivables and 
liabilities	in	relation	to	2012.	Cash	flow	from	investing	
activities was negative at NOK 16 million, from 
investing in fixed assets and subsidiaries as well as 
investing	in	financial	assets.	Cash	flow	from	
financing activities was positive with NOK 41 million 
from capital increases throughout the year and an 
increase in long-term liabilities. Liquidity at the start 
of the year was good, and remained so at year-end. 
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Wunderlich	Capital	Markets	AS,	has	a	solid	position	
within the real estate, shipping, energy, infrastruc-
ture and private equity sectors. These are sectors 
that are extremely well-suited to the Agasti Group’s 
business model in terms of both strategy and 
expertise. The acquisition resulted in an increase in 
equity under management of around NOK 0.4 billion. 

Through	its	activities	within	Capital	Markets,	the	
Agasti Group has won additional mandates in 
Norway	and	the	USA.	Several	of	these	have	been	
obtained as a direct consequence of the cross- 
border activities that the strategic collaboration  
with	Wunderlich	in	the	USA	represents.	Agasti	uses	
both the American and Norwegian networks to raise 
capital, and is able to assist clients with analyses 
through Wunderlich Securities. 

The Investment Management business area carries 
out a broad spectrum of management services, 
including investor relations and business operations 
on behalf of clients who have made various 
investments through the Agasti Group. This includes 
everything from development and facilitation of 
investment projects to extensive reporting on the 
development of existing investment portfolios. The 
Group’s activities within Investment Management 
are operated by Obligo Investment Management AS 
and its subsidiaries. From July 2014, some of these 
activities will be covered by the AIFM Directive, and 
Obligo is currently executing a process to prepare 
the implementation of the directive, which includes 
an application for a licence to be a manager of 
alternative investment funds (AIF). 

With effect from January 2013, Obligo Investment 
Management AS has taken over the management  
of all structures that clients of the Agasti Group  
have invested in within real estate, shipping, private 
equity, infrastructure and renewable energy. In 
October, Obligo Investment Management took  
over	Platou	Fund	Management	AS	and	further	
strengthened the real estate team while simultane-
ously increasing equity under management by 
around NOK 1.2 billion. These transactions, including 
the acquisition of Wunderlich Securities AS, have 
strengthened the segment considerably with 
increased annual recurring revenues of over 10 per 
cent in 2013. 

Operating revenues totalled NOK 140 million in 2013, 
compared with NOK 99 million in 2012. Operating 
earnings ended at NOK 20 million, compared with 
NOK 31 million in 2012. 

As a result of the demerger of the management unit 
from Navigea Securities AS to Obligo Investment 

Gross subscriptions in savings and investment 
products offered by the Agasti Group ended at NOK 
2,989 million, which is an increase of NOK 1,308 
million compared with 2012. Since a significant 
proportion of clients’ investments are held in 
different variants of the Advisory account, and that 
here clients do not pay transaction fees, revenues in 
the short term will be affected by new sales to a 
lesser extent. Subscriptions to new investments are 
however important, since for some financial 
instruments that are subscribed to in the event of 
new sales, the Group will be entitled to receive 
recurring revenues on the investments in the future. 

Operating revenues in the segment ended at NOK 
281 million in 2013. The equivalent figure for 2012 was 
267 million. Operating earnings for the year ended at 
NOK 3 million compared with NOK -59 million in 2012. 
The improvement of NOK 62 million is due to a 
combination of increased revenues and the reduction 
of operating expenses throughout the year. 

Markets 
This segment includes the Group’s activities within 
Capital	Markets	and	Investment	Management.	The	
companies Navigea Securities AS, Agasti 
Wunderlich	Capital	Markets	AS	and	Obligo	
Investment Management AS have had responsibility 
for the Group’s operations within Markets in 2013. 
Operations requiring licences from the authorities 
have been carried out from Navigea Securities AS 
and	Agasti	Wunderlich	Capital	Markets	AS.	From	
2014, all operative activities relating to the segment 
will be undertaken within the companies Agasti 
Wunderlich	Capital	Markets	AS	and	Obligo	
Investment Management AS.  

The	Capital	Markets	business	area	covers	the	Group’s	
operations requiring licences from the authorities 
within corporate finance, institutional sales and 
product	development.	Capital	Markets	also	covers	
project brokerage and the trading of unlisted shares 
on the secondary market. Brokerage relating to 
unlisted shares and larger clients was moved from the 
Wealth Management segment to the Markets segment 
during the first quarter of 2013, and the comparable 
figures for 2012 have been adjusted accordingly. As a 
result of a strategy process initiated in the spring of 
2013 The Group’s Norwegian customer centre was 
transferred	to	Capital	Markets	as	a	part	of	the	Markets	
segment effective from February 2014. An equivalent 
transfer of the Swedish customer centre will take place 
during the first half of 2014.

Agasti	Capital	Markets	AS	acquired	the	securities	
company Wunderlich Securities AS in February 
2013. The company, which is now named Agasti 
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The investors dispute the obligation to repay the 
loans to the bank, and have also turned to Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS as advisor to claim coverage 
for any loan that is not covered by the bank, and lost 
equity. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS considers the risk 
linked to these actions to be relatively limited, since 
the company is only responsible for the advisory 
service, and this is provided on an individual basis. 
This assessment is also supported by the Swedish 
National	Board	for	Consumer	Complaints	(ARN),	
which in March 2010 reached the principle decision 
that Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS is not liable towards 
investors due to inexpedient advice in connection 
with the bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers. Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS expects that, through 
individual legal proceedings, the court will come to 
the same conclusion as the ARN. The legal actions 
that have now been brought against Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS do however involve risk, both 
economically and in terms of reputation, since the 
company may be responsible for errors or omissions 
in the advice in certain cases, something which the 
ARN has also maintained. Economically, the 
maximum exposure is estimated to be around SEK 
168 million provided that all the plaintiffs win their 
claims, and that lost equity must also be compen-
sated. Any legal costs and accrued interest will be in 
addition. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS disputes the 
claims. Regarding reputational damage, much of this 
has already occurred, in that the case has circulated 
in the media since September 2008.
In January 2009, the Norwegian Financial Services 
Complaints	Board	(Finansklagenemnda)	announced	
its ruling on a complaint against a major Norwegian 
bank’s sale of two leveraged structured products to 
investors in the year 2000. The Board’s decision was 
not unanimous. Three of the five members voted in 
favour of the complainant. Immediately after the 
verdict was announced, the bank stated that it 
would comply with the decision of the Board. The 
Norwegian	Supreme	Court	handled	the	case	in	2013,	
and decided that the bank should compensate the 
customer	for	his	lost	equity.	The	Supreme	Court	
determined that the bank had given the investor 
incorrect and overoptimistic information regarding 
the investment. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS notes 
that the judgement relates to two specific products 
from a particular bank. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 
deems that a comparison with all structured 
products is not justified. After an internal review, 
equivalent incorrect information has not been found 
in any of the products distributed by Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 
considers the risk of a group action lawsuit from 
customers who have chosen to invest in similar 
products distributed by the company and which 
may result in major losses to be relatively limited. 

Management AS, the share of the total fixed 
revenues allocated to the Markets segment was 
reduced from 50 per cent to 30 per cent. The 
reallocation of income between the two segments  
is a consequence of a new collaborative agreement 
between Navigea Securities and Obligo Investment 
Management. The agreement came into effect in the 
fourth quarter of 2012.

Activities in the Markets segment will be further 
developed in the times ahead, and therefore be well 
equipped to take on new responsibilities within 
product development, administration of investment 
portfolios and corporate finance in the future. 

Other
Under	the	Other	activities	segment,	Group	
administration and Group internal administrative 
services within finance and economy, personnel, IT, 
communications and markets are reported on, in 
addition to costs relating to Acta Kapitalforvaltning 
AS and Acta Asset Management AS. A significant 
proportion of the IT operations is contracted out to 
external partners. The Other segment normally has 
no external income, but covers costs by providing 
services to other segments through internal service 
agreements, entered into under arm’s length 
conditions. 

The total operating income for the segment was 
NOK -26 million, compared with NOK -28 million the 
previous year. The operating earnings are negatively 
affected by a write-down of goodwill of NOK 8.8 
million relating to the acquisition of Axir ASA in the 
spring of 2010. The company is continued in the 
Agasti Group by Navigea Securities AS, and in the 
Norwegian business operations. On 17 March 2014, 
Navigea Securities AS received notice from the 
Financial Supervisory Authority of the withdrawal  
of licences based on the results of an on-site 
inspection in April 2013. The consequence of a 
decision in line with the notice from the FSA may 
result in the liquidation or disposal of parts or all of 
the Group’s activities within investment advice. The 
FSA has not yet reached a final decision in the case, 
but experience from previous cases dictates that in 
most instances the final decision is in line with the 
provided temporary notice. 

Regulatory and legal matters
Just under 450 Swedish investors, who in the years 
2006 and 2007 invested in bonds issued by Lehman 
Brothers, and which were distributed by Acta 
Kapitalförvaltning, a branch of Acta Kapitalforvaltning 
AS, a subsidiary of Agasti Holding ASA, have brought 
legal action against Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS. 
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the Agasti Group represents a strategic risk factor 
for the Group. The same is true of a decline in 
revenues in the form of lower margins than desired. 
The Agasti Group has implemented action plans  
to counteract the negative effects of these risks. 
Furthermore, the failure of the business model itself, 
whereby financial profits are not achieved, is a risk 
that must be classified as strategic. The failure of 
routines and other conditions of a serious nature at 
our most important business partners, as well as the 
risk that the Agasti Group is unable to comply with 
the regulatory requirements that apply to the Group 
at any given time, will also be important strategic 
risk factors. The Financial Supervisory Authority  
of Norway’s on-site inspection of Navigea Securities 
AS in the spring of 2013 confirmed this. In 
connection with the Financial Supervisory Authority 
of Norway’s notification of the possible revocation 
of Navigea Securites’ licences to provide investment 
services, there is a danger that suppliers and clients 
will evaluate their relations with Agasti, which 
represents further strategic risks for the Group. The 
Agasti Group has detailed these risks in an analysis 
and implemented measures. The Group considers 
the strategic risk factors to be manageable.

Operational risk
Failures in the most central processes in the Group 
represent an operational risk. Errors in the advice we 
give to clients, transaction errors, products that do 
not perform as expected as well as errors and 
failures in computer systems used within the Group 
are all examples of operational risk. The Agasti 
Group and its subsidiaries have carried out these risk 
assessments and implemented measures to ensure 
that this risk is as minimal as possible.

Financial risk
The Agasti Group has relatively low exposure to 
financial instruments. The Group’s liquidity is held  
in	the	form	of	bank	deposits	and/or	treasury	bills	
with short terms and very low exchange rate risk.  
At the end of 2013, the Group has limited 
interest-bearing liabilities and therefore has no 
interest rate risk related to borrowed capital.

The financial market risk is otherwise mainly limited 
to future income being affected by changes in 
market prices of the company’s products, as well as 
general market fluctuations. A persistent negative 
trend in the savings and investment market in 
general may result in dissatisfied customers because 
of poor returns on their invested capital. Such a 
development may result in a risk of reduced 
business transactions with existing clients. Future 
portfolio income will vary with fluctuations in market 
prices of the client portfolios being managed. The 

Unlike	the	bank,	which	has	been	the	customer’s	
financial advisor, lender, producer and organiser, 
Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS has only been 
responsible for financial advice in relation to its 
customers. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS admits 
liability for the advice given. The risk of a group 
action is also considered to be relatively limited 
because of the fact that all advice is given on an 
 individual basis.

Capital adequacy requirements
Agasti Holding ASA is subject to capital adequacy 
requirements on a consolidated basis, cf. Section 
8-12	of	the	Securities	Trading	Act.	Consolidated	
requirements for subordinated capital as at 31 
December 2013 consist of requirements regarding 
the coverage of operational risk estimated based on 
the Group’s average turnover for the past three 
years, with the addition of coverage for credit risk 
calculated based on the Group’s combined assets. 
Net subordinated capital is estimated at NOK 110 
million and shows a surplus of subordinated capital 
as at 31 December 2013 of NOK 31 million with 
regard to the authorities’ requirements of NOK 79 
million equivalent to 8 per cent of the calculation 
basis. 
On the basis of the rules on major interests derived 
from subordinated capital, restrictions exist 
regarding the opportunity to transfer funds 
between companies in the Group.

Risk assessment
The Board of Directors carries out a review of risk 
management within the Agasti Group on an annual 
basis.	The	Board	of	Directors	and	CEO	consider	the	
most significant risks for the Agasti Group’s 
operations to be possible shortcomings of the 
advisory processes, where recommended 
investment solutions do not match the requirements 
and	suitability	of	the	client.	Product	selection	
processes where there is the possibility of a shortfall 
in the quality control of fund managers will also 
represent a risk for the Group. An increase in the 
number of client complaints in general and 
particularly the legal processes regarding products 
containing bonds issued by Lehman Brothers is also 
one of the most significant risk factors for the 
Group. The total number of complaints about the 
advice that have been made since the introduction 
of new and stricter requirements for the advisory 
process is low. The vast majority of the complaints 
that the Group has received date from the period 
before the MiFID Directive came into force in 
November 2007. 

Strategic risk
A decline in the demand for products offered by  
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investment advice. This may negatively impact upon 
Agasti’s earnings for 2014 as a result of restructuring 
costs. A temporary estimate of such costs amounts 
to around NOK 40 million if the activities within 
investment advisory are terminated. In this case, it  
is costs that will be charged to the consolidated 
financial statements in the first half of 2014 with the 
exception of NOK 14 million related to future lease 
obligations, for which provisions have been made 
during the 2013 financial year.

Future prospects
The acquisition of investment management 
companies	from	ABG	Sundal	Collier	Norge	ASA	and	
Platou	Fund	Management	AS,	in	combination	with	
the takeover of certain investment management 
mandates from Swedbank First Securities, makes 
the Agasti Group, through its subsidiary Obligo 
Investment Management AS, an even stronger 
player in the Nordic market for investment 
management services. With more than NOK 57 
billion under management, of which the majority is  
in alternative investments, the Agasti Group has the 
best starting point from which to further consolidate 
its market position in these areas. The Agasti Group 
now has a robust and knowledge-driven manage-
ment platform that will contribute to improving the 
cash flow from our clients’ alternative investments 
with the Group. Going forward, the ambition is to take 
on more mandates, both internal and external. 

The acquisition of Wunderlich Securities AS, now 
Agasti	Wunderlich	Capital	Markets	AS,	combined	
with the strategic alliance with Wunderlich 
Investment	Company,	Inc.	in	the	USA,	means	that	the	
Agasti Group possesses one of the industry’s most 
experienced and qualified teams within real estate, 
private equity, shipping and energy and oil services. 

The acquisition of the companies from ABG Sundal 
Collier	Norge	ASA,	the	takeover	of	investment	
management mandates from Swedbank First 
Securities and the acquisition of Wunderlich 
Securities	AS	and	Platou	Fund	Management	AS,	are	
all in line with previously stated aims to strengthen 
the Group’s presence in the Investment Manage-
ment	and	Capital	Markets	business	areas.	These	
transactions will contribute to considerably 
improving the Group’s competitive edge and 
offering to clients in both the short and long term. 

The Agasti Group will continue to develop the 
Investment	Management	and	Capital	Markets	
business areas. Agasti will actively use the strategic 
alliance	with	Wunderlich	Investment	Company,	Inc.	
in	the	USA	to	attract	new	business,	both	in	the	
Nordic	market	and	the	US	market.	

currency risk in the Agasti Group is mainly linked  
to a significant part of the company’s business 
operations being located in Sweden. On the basis of 
the development and expectations in the currency 
and interest markets, the Board has assessed the 
currency risk as moderate, and has no plans 
regarding currency hedging at the present time. 

As at 31.12.2013, Agasti Holding ASA had pledged 
unconditional guarantees for individual tenancy 
agreements entered into by the subsidiaries. The 
rental guarantees have a remaining duration of 
between one to five years. 

The risk that a customer or other counterparty  
does not have the economic ability to fulfil their 
obligations is regarded as relatively low. Total 
receivables and accrued income as at 31.12.2013 
totalled NOK 91 million. Historically, losses on 
receivables have been low.

Events after balance sheet date
In order to fulfil the company’s obligations under 
option agreements entered into with employees, the 
Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA decided 
on 13 February 2014 to make use of the share 
issuance authorisation granted by the annual 
general meeting on 26 June 2013 towards the 
relevant option holders. The Board of Directors 
decided to increase the company’s share capital by 
NOK 43,443.54 from NOK 52,825,090.68 to NOK 
52,868,534.22 through the issuing of 241,353 new 
shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.18. As a 
result of the issue, Agasti received gross proceeds of 
NOK 265,488.30.

At its meeting of 6 March 2014, the Board of 
Directors of Agasti Holding ASA adopted an option 
scheme for selected managers in the Agasti Group 
with a total budget of 7 million stock options. The 
scheme is part of an incentive programme for the 
Agasti Group, which will help to give positive results 
and attract new employees as well as retain existing 
employees. On 6 March 2014, 5.67 million stock 
options were allocated to selected managers in the 
Agasti Group. Following this allocation, the number 
of issued options totals 10.00 million shares.

On 17 March 2014, subsidiary Navigea Securities AS 
received a “Notice of the withdrawal of licences” 
from the Financial Supervisory Authority following 
an on-site inspection in April 2013. The final report 
from the FSA will be issued once Navigea Securities 
AS has provided its response to the notice. The 
consequence of a decision in line with the notice 
from the FSA may result in the liquidation or 
disposal of parts or all of the Group’s activities within 
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The strategic restructuring that the Agasti Group 
will carry out in 2014 will focus on profitable growth 
within	the	Capital	Markets	and	Investment	
Management business areas. A possible liquidation 
or disposal of the Group’s activities within 
investment advice is expected to improve the 
Group’s profitability in the long term.

The	Board	of	Directors	and	the	CEO	expect	a	good	
long-term market for savings and investment 
solutions offered by companies in the Agasti Group. 
As one of the dominating market participants in 
Scandinavia, and with Europe’s most attractive clients 
in our catchment area, we have a solid basis for 
profitable operation both in the short and long term. 

Profitability
Throughout 2013, the Agasti Group has continued 
the trend of improving profitability in the underlying 
operations. There is healthy cost control across the 
entire Group, and the Board of Directors will 
continue to focus on this in the future. The Group’s 
current situation with a strong and attractive 
pipeline in which several mandates are starting to 
materialise, together with strategic measures within 
Investment	Management	and	Capital	Markets,	
means that the Board of Directors and management 
have a clear ambition to increase both the activity 
and financial results, excluding restructuring costs, 
within the Group in 2014.

Statements relating to assessments of future 
conditions will always be associated with a 
significant degree of uncertainty and risk. All 
statements, excluding those of a historical nature, 
must therefore not be understood as any form  
of guarantee or security regarding future 
development. 

Dividends
The Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA has 
proposed that dividends shall not be paid for the 
financial year 2013. 

Distribution and transfers – Agasti Holding ASA
The Board of Directors proposes that the net 
income of NOK 7,123,000 for 2013 should be 
distributed as follows:

All amounts in thousands of NOK

Transferred to other reserves 7,123

Dividends 0

Total transfers 7,123

 
Oslo, 4 April 2014

erling MeinichBache    Beatriz Malo de Molina   Merete Haugli 
Chairman	of	the	Board		 	 	 Vice	Chairman	of	the	Board	 	 Board	Member

Sissel Knutsen Hegdal   Jørgen Pleym Ulvness  
Board	Member	 	 	 	 CEO
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AGAStI GRoUP 
StAteMent oF CoMPReHenSIVe InCoMe  IFRS  FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 31 DeCeMBeR 2013

All amounts in thousands of NOK Note 2013 2012

operating revenues 2 420 856 365 870

Wages and salaries 3 254 372 250 953

Depreciations 6,7 18 431 23 155

Write-downs 6,7 8 823 405

Other operating expenses 4 143 163 147 501

total operating expenses 424 789 422 014

operating earnings 3 933 56 144

Financial income 4 19 194 6 669

Financial expenses 4 12 075 10 545

net financial items 7 119 3 876

net income before taxes 3 186 60 020

Income taxes 15 5 435 -6 146

net InCoMe 2 249 53 874

other revenues and expenses

Currency translation differences 755 357

total other revenues and expenses 755 357

CoMPReHenSIVe InCoMe oF tHe YeAR 1 494 53 517

Earnings per share 10 -0,01 -0,21

Earnings per share - diluted 10 -0,01 -0,21

Effective tax rate 170,6 % 10,2 %
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AGAStI GRoUP    
StAteMent oF FInAnCIAL PoSItIon (BALAnCe)  IFRS  AS oF 31 DeCeMBeR 2013 

All amounts in thousands of NOK Note 2013 2012

ASSetS

noncurrent assets  

Goodwill 6 42 160 8 823

Other intangible assets 6 30 334 34 814

Deferred tax assets 15 47 314 49 560

Fixed assets 7 7 477 7 701

Other financial assets 5 15 209 13 916

total assets 142 494 114 814

Current assets

Other financial assets 5, 13 43 606 32 192

Current receivables 5, 12 91 333 56 355

Bank deposits 5 141 329 135 150

total current assets 276 268 223 697

totAL ASSetS 418 762 338 511

eQUItY AnD LIABILItIeS

equity

Share capital 10 52 825 46 356

Share premium 66 964 27 786

Other paid-in equity 16 218 14 953

total paidin equity 136 007 89 095

Other equity 93 743 95 237

total retained earnings 93 743 95 237

total equity 229 750 184 332

Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities 5,8 35 266 0

total other longterm liabilities 35 266 0

Accounts payable 5 13 892 6 988

Liabilities to credit institutions 5, 19 10 172 20 840

Tax payable 15 564 0

Taxes and public fees payable 17 187 17 616

Provisions and other current liabilities 14 111 931 108 734

total current liabilities 153 746 154 178

total liabilities 189 012 154 178

totAL eQUItY AnD LIABILItIeS 418 762 338 511
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AGAStI GRoUP   
StAteMent oF CHAnGeS In eQUItY  IFRS  FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 31 DeCeMBeR 2013

All amounts in thousands of NOK
Share

capital
Share  

premium
other paid  

in equity
Conversion 
difference 1)

Losses/
other

equity
equity
capital

Balance as per 01 January 2012 46 356 27 786 12 234 5 312 143 442 235 131

Net income -53 874 -53 874

Conversion difference 357 357

Profit for the year 0 0 0 357 53 874 53 517

Deposits from and payments to owners

Stock option programme 2 719 2 719

Balance as per 31 December 2012 46 356 27 786 14 953 5 669 89 568 184 332

Balance as per 01 January 2013 46 356 27 786 14 953 5 669 89 568 184 332

Net income -2 249 -2 249

Conversion difference 755 755

Profit for the year 0 0 0 755 2 249 1 494

Deposits from and payments to owners

Rights issue March 2013 630 3 570 4 200

Rights issue August 2013 5 600 36 400 41 999

Rights issue August 2013 159 1 016 1 175

Rights issue November 2013 81 609 690

Rights issue expenses -2 417 -2 417

Stock option programme 1 265 1 265

Balance as at 31 December 2013 52 825 66 964 16 218 6 424 87 319 229 750

   

1)  The translation difference is attributed to the translation of the assets and liabilities from SEK to NOK of Navexa  
Securities AB and Navigea Securities AS’, Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS’ and Agasti Business Services AS’ Swedish  
branches	and	the	translation	of	the	assets	and	liabilities	from	USD	to	NOK	from	Obligo	Real	Estate,	Inc.
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AGAStI GRoUP
StAteMent oF CASH FLoW  IFRS  FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 31 DeCeMBeR 2013

All amounts in thousands of NOK note 2013 2012

oPeRAtInG ACtIVItIeS

Net income before tax expenses 3 186 -60 020

Taxes paid in reporting period -3 684 -26 344

Depreciations/Write-downs 6,7 27 254 23 560

Write-downs of financial assets 0 3 350

Stock options charged against income 3 1 265 2 719

Change in current receivables -36 271 10 091

Change in accounts payable 6 905 -9 099

Change in other accruals -7 079 -85 943

net cash flow from operating activities 8 424 141 687

InVeStInG ACtIVItIeS

Payments for aquisition of fixed assets 6,7 -4 348 -1 565

Received payments from sale of fixed assets 6,7 0 5 324

Payments for aquisition of intangible assets 6,7 -9 380 -18 432

Payments in connection with investment in convertible bonds 5 0 -14 461

Net payments upon investment in subsidiaries, net of cash 1) 3 318 0

Payments for aquisition of other financial assets 13 -5 766 -19 425

net cash flow from investing activities 16 176 48 559

FInAnCInG ACtIVItIeS

Proceeds from equity (net proceeds) 2) 41 447 0

net cash flow from financing activities 41 447 0

Bank deposits, short-term investments, etc. as at 01.01. 114 310 304 556

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 0 0

Bank deposits, shortterm investments, bank overdrafts,  
etc. as at 31.12. 131 157 114 310

Unused overdraft facilities 49 828 9 160

Bank deposits and investments 141 329 135 150

Overdraft facilities -10 172 -20 840

net bank deposits, bank overdrafts etc. as per 31.12.13 131 157 114 310

1)   A positive net cash flow from investment in subsidiaries due to a sales credit as part of the agreement, additional  
fees that will not be paid until later, and part of the settlement were made by issuing own shares. 

2)   NOK 4,2 million of proceeds from equity were used as part of the settlement when purchasing Agasti Wunderlich 
Capital	Markets	AS,	and	do	not	have	a	cash	flow	effect.
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noteS on tHe ConSoLIDAteD ACCoUntS

Note 1 Accounting principles 

1.1 Basis for preparation of the consolidated 
accounts
The consolidated accounts are presented in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and interpretations from the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), 
which	are	approved	by	the	EU	as	of	31	December	
2013. 

The annual accounts consist of the Agasti Group’s 
income statement, balance sheet, consolidated 
changes in equity, cash flow and notes. The annual 
accounts constitute a whole and are prepared using 
the historical cost principle, with the exception of 
financial instruments, which are entered at fair value 
through profit or loss which is entered at fair value.

The	head	office	of	Agasti	Holding	ASA	has	the	
address	P.O.Box	1753	Vika,	0122	Oslo.	The	annual	
accounts were submitted by the Board on 4 April 
2014.

The accounting principles described below are used 
consistently for all the periods presented in the 
consolidated accounts.

1.2 Consolidation principles
The consolidated accounts include the parent 
company Agasti Holding ASA and the companies 
that Agasti Holding ASA controls. Such control 
exists when the parent company has a decisive 
direct or indirect influence on the financial and 
operational management of the subsidiaries, and 
thereby benefits from their activities. In the 
assessment of control, the potential voting rights 
that may be immediately exercised or converted are 
taken into account.

The financial accounts of the subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated accounts from the 
point at which control is achieved and until its 
cessation.	Companies	that	are	included	in	the	
consolidation are listed in note 9. Intercompany 
accounts and any unrealised gains and losses or 
revenue and expenses arising from transactions 
within the Group, are eliminated during the 
preparation of the consolidated accounts.  

The consolidated accounts have been drawn up on 
the basis of uniform principles by applying the same 

accounting principles in the subsidiaries as in the 
parent company. Shares in subsidiaries are eliminated. 

1.3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
The preparation of the consolidated accounts entails 
that the management makes estimates and 
judgements and assumptions that have an impact 
upon the effect of the application of the accounting 
principles. This will therefore affect the entered 
amounts for assets and liabilities, income and costs. 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and various 
other factors, including expectations of future 
events, which are believed to be reasonable on the 
balance	sheet	date.	Changes	in	accounting	
estimates are entered in the period in which the 
estimates are changed, and in all future periods that 
are affected.

share-based payment/share options
When valuing options, there is uncertainty linked  
to the estimation of the assumption of risk free 
interest rate at the time of redemption. See Note 3.

estimated impairment of goodwill 
See Note 6 for information about goodwill. Goodwill 
constituted approx. 10 per cent of the Group’s 
balance sheet at the end of 2013.

Fair value of financial instruments
Fair value of financial instruments that are not 
traded in an active market is determined using 
various valuation techniques. The Group evaluates 
and selects methods and assumptions that, 
wherever possible, are based on the market 
conditions on the balance sheet date. In valuing 
financial instruments for which observable data is 
not available, the Group will make assumptions 
about what the market will use as the basis for the 
valuation of similar financial instruments. The 
valuations require a high level of discretion in the 
calculation of liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. 
A change in the mentioned factors can affect the 
determined fair value of the Group’s financial 
instruments. See also Note 5 Financial instruments.

income tax, including deferred tax assets
The Group is subject to income taxes within  
Norway,	Sweden	and	the	USA.	Significant	
judgement is required in determining income tax  
in the consolidated accounts, including assessments 
of the recognition of deferred tax assets.
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The Group recognises deferred tax assets with the 
amount likely to be utilised against future taxable 
income.	Comprehensive	assessments	must	be	
carried out in order to determine the amount that 
can be recognised, including the expected date of 
utilisation and the level of positive tax results, as well 
as tax planning strategies and the existence of 
taxable temporary differences.

contingencies
As a consequence of the operations in Norway and 
Sweden, the Agasti Group will regularly be part in  
a number of legal disputes. Any effects on the 
accounts are assessed in each individual instance. 
The Group evaluates, among other things, the 
likelihood of an unfavourable outcome. See Note 14 
Provisions	and	other	current	liabilities.

1.4 Currency
Transactions in foreign currency are converted using 
the exchange rate in effect at the time of the 
transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency 
are converted to Norwegian kroner by using the 
exchange rate on the balance sheet date. The 
exchange rate difference as a result of conversion is 
included in the income statement. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities that are measured at historical 
cost in foreign currency are converted at the 
exchange rate at the time of the transaction. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities with a nominal 
value in foreign currencies, which are stated at fair 
value, are translated into Norwegian kroner by using 
the exchange rate in effect on the date the fair value 
was determined.

1.5 Conversion of foreign units
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, 
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising 
from consolidation, are translated into Norwegian 
kroner at the foreign exchange rates in effect on the 
balance sheet date. The revenues and expenses of 
foreign operations are translated into Norwegian 
kroner at rates approximating the foreign exchange 
rates in effect on the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange differences arising from 
translation are specified as a translation difference in 
the equity. They are recognised in the profit and loss 
statement upon disposal of the foreign unit.

1.6 Revenue 
Income is entered in the accounts when it is earned. 
Entry of income normally occurs at the time of 
delivery for the sale of services.  

Commission	earnings	on	subscriptions	to	funds,	
insurance (unit-linked), real estate shares, and shares 
in shipping, private equity, infrastructure and 
renewable energy companies are recognised when 
written agreements have been entered into with 
clients and clients’ payment of the agreed 
subscription amount and commission have been 
confirmed. Revenue from new subscriptions to 
structured products is recognised when binding 
agreements are entered into with clients. Insertion 
fees are recognised when the client adds new funds 
to the portfolio account.

Recurring revenues and management fees are 
recognised on an on-going basis, based on 
estimated income. The estimate builds upon a 
calculated average of the portfolio with the fund 
provider, and the relevant commission rate 
according	to	the	agreement.	Consultancy	and	
portfolio account fees are calculated on the basis of 
the client’s holdings and recognised on an on-going 
basis. 

The fees for the syndication of real estate, shipping, 
private equity, infrastructure and renewable energy 
companies etc. are recognised when the fees are 
accrued according to agreements. 

Performance-based	fees	are	recognised	at	the	time	
of liquidation of the portfolios. 

The structure margin from structured products is 
recognised when underlying security instruments 
are traded and margins are finally determined.

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive 
payment is determined. Interest income and other 
financial income is recognised when earned.

1.7 expenses
Expenses are generally accrued in line with receipt 
of	goods	and	services.	Commission-based	
remuneration to advisors is recognised when a 
payment commitment arises in accordance with 
agreements and it is probable that the remuneration 
will be paid. Interest income and other financial 
income is recognised when earned.

1.8 Provisions
A provision is entered when the Group has a liability 
as a result of a previous incident, where it is probable 
that an economic settlement will occur as a result of 
this liability and the amount’s size can be reliably 
measured. If the effect is significant, the provision is 
calculated by discounting the expected future cash 
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flow with a discount rate before tax, which  
reflects the market’s price setting of the time value 
of money and, if relevant, risks specifically linked  
to the liability. 

Restructuring provisions are entered when the 
Group has approved a detailed and formal 
restructuring plan, and the restructuring has either 
started or been announced. 

1.9 Defined contribution pension schemes
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
pension schemes are entered as expenses in the 
income statement when incurred.

1.10 Sharebased payment transactions
Employee stock options are measured at fair value 
at the time of distribution. The stock options are 
valued according to the Black & Scholes model. The 
calculated value is recognised as a personnel costs, 
with a corresponding entry in other paid-in equity. 
The cost is divided over the period until the 
employees become unconditionally entitled to the 
stock options. 

1.11 Main rules for valuation and classification of 
assets and liabilities
Assets that are expected to be realised in the 
Group’s ordinary operating cycle or within twelve 
months after the balance sheet date, and assets in 
the form of cash or cash equivalents, are classified 
as current assets. All other assets are classified as 
fixed assets.

Liabilities that are expected to be settled in the 
Group’s normal operating cycle, which fall due for 
settlement within twelve months after the balance 
sheet date, or where the Group does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least twelve months after the balance 
sheet date, are classified as current liabilities. All 
other assets are classified as non-current liabilities. 

1.12 Fixed assets
Fixed assets are entered at cost price with 
deductions for accumulated depreciations and 
write-downs. Fixed assets are depreciated linearly 
over the asset’s expected lifetime, taking into 
account any residual value. The estimated economic 
lifetime is as follows: 
•		Machines	and	equipment		 	 3	-	7	years
•		Fixtures	and	fittings	 	 	 4	-	7	years

Leasehold improvements are classified as fixed 
assets and included in fixed assets in the balance 

sheet. Leasehold improvements are depreciated 
over the lease’s lifetime. 

Expenses incurred in replacing parts of property, 
plant and equipment are entered in the balance 
sheet as the value for an item of property, plant and 
equipment when such expenses are expected to 
give the company future economic benefits related 
to the replacements, and the costs for the replaced 
parts can be reliably measured. All other expenses 
are entered in the accounts in the period they are 
incurred. 

When parts of equipment have different economic 
lifetimes, they are entered in the accounts as 
separate parts. Residual value is reassessed annually 
if this is significant.

The values of fixed assets entered in the balance 
sheet, which are depreciated, are tested for a 
reduction in value if indications of such exist. If an 
asset’s entered value is higher than the asset’s 
recoverable value, a loss of value is entered in the 
accounts.  The recoverable value is the highest of 
the net sales value and the fixed asset’s use value. 
Fixed assets are grouped and assessed at the lowest 
level for measurement of cash flow.
 
If there is an identifiable need for write-down, the 
asset is valued at the lower of the value entered in 
the balance sheet and the recoverable value.

1.13 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are entered  
in the balance sheet at cost. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired through acquisitions is recorded  
in the balance sheet at fair value. Entered intangible 
assets are entered at cost, reduced for any 
depreciations and write-downs. Internally generated 
intangible assets, excluding development costs 
included in the balance sheet, are not included in  
the sheet, but expensed on an on-going basis. The 
economic lifetime is either definite or indefinite. 
Intangible assets with a definite lifetime are 
depreciated over the economic lifetime and tested 
for write-downs in the event of indications of such. 
The depreciation method and period is assessed  
at	least	once	a	year.	Changes	in	the	depreciation	
method or period are treated as estimated 
changes. Intangible assets with indefinite lifetimes 
are tested for write-downs at least once a year, 
either individually or as a part of a cash flow 
generating unit. Intangible assets with an indefinite 
lifetime are not depreciated. The lifetime is assessed 
annually, with consideration of whether the 
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assumption of an indefinite lifetime is justifiable.  
If not, the change to definite lifetime is handled 
prospectively.   

patents and licences
Amounts paid for patents and licences are entered 
in the balance sheet and depreciated linearly over 
the expected useful life. The expected lifetime for 
patents and licences varies from five to ten years. 

software
Expenses linked to the purchase of new software are 
entered in the balance sheet as an intangible asset,  
if these expenses are not a part of the original 
hardware cost. Software is normally depreciated 
linearly over four to five years. Expenses incurred  
as a result of maintaining or upholding the future 
benefit of software are expensed if the changes in 
the software do not increase the future economic 
benefit of the software.

1.14 Business combinations
Business combinations are entered in accordance 
with the purchase method. Transaction expenses  
are entered when they are incurred. 
 
The consideration of an acquisition is measured at 
fair value at the date of acquisition and consists of 
cash and issued shares in Agasti Holding ASA

In the event of acquisition of a company, all acquired 
assets and liabilities are assessed for classification 
and mapping in accordance with contract terms, 
economic circumstances and relevant conditions  
at the time of acquisition. Acquired assets and 
liabilities are entered in the balance sheet at fair 
value in the opening balance. Allocation of goodwill 
in the event of business combinations is changed if 
new information regarding fair value applicable on 
the date for takeover of control is obtained. The 
allocation can be changed up to 12 months after the 
date of acquisition. Minority interests are calculated 
at the minority’s share of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities. Selection of the method used is carried 
out for each individual business combination.  

In the event of a stepwise acquisition, previous 
ownership stakes are measured at fair value at the 
time of acquisition. Value changes on previous 
ownership stakes are entered in the profit or loss 
accounts.
 
Goodwill is calculated as the sum of the 
consideration  and the entered value of minority 
interests and the fair value of previously owned 

shares, with deductions for the net value of 
identifiable assets and liabilities calculated at the 
date of acquisition. Goodwill is not depreciated, but 
tested for a reduction in value at least once a year, or 
in the event of an indication of a reduction in value. 
In connection with an assessment of write-downs, 
goodwill is allocated to the cash flow generating 
units or groups of cash flow generating units that 
are expected to receive synergies from the business 
combination. The part of the equity’s fair value that 
exceeds the consideration (negative goodwill) is 
posted as revenue immediately at the time of 
acquisition.

1.15 Financial instruments
Financial instruments are classified in the following 
categories: fair value with changes through profit  
or loss, hold to maturity and loans and receivables. 
Financial assets with fixed or determinable cash 
flows and specific maturity dates, where the Group 
has the intention and ability to hold the investment 
to maturity, are classified as investments held to 
maturity, with the exception of the instruments that 
the organisation designates as at fair value with 
value changes through profit and loss or available 
for sale, or which meet the criteria for entry in the 
loans and receivables category. Financial assets with 
fixed or determinable cash flows which are not listed 
on an active market are classified as loans and 
receivables, with the exception of instruments which 
the Group has designated as at fair value with value 
changes through profit and loss. Financial liabilities 
that do not come under the category of held for 
trading, and which are not designated as at fair 
value with value changes through profit and loss,  
are classified as other liabilities.

Financial instruments held to maturity are included 
in financial fixed assets unless the maturity date is 
within 12 months of the balance sheet date. Other 
financial instruments are presented as current assets 
if the management has decided to dispose of the 
instrument within 12 months of the balance sheet 
date. Investments held to maturity, loans and 
receivables and other liabilities are entered at 
amortised	cost.	Changes	in	fair	value	of	financial	
instruments which are designated as at fair value 
with value changes through profit and loss are 
entered	and	presented	as	financial	income/
expenses.

The fair value of financial instruments that are 
traded on active markets is determined at the end of 
the reporting period with reference to listed market 
prices or prices from traders of financial instruments 
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(bid price for long positions and offer price for short 
positions), without deductions for transaction costs.

For financial instruments that are not traded on an 
active market, the fair value is determined using an 
appropriate valuation method. Such valuation 
methods include using recent arm’s length market 
transactions between well-informed and willing 
parties, if such transactions are available, reference 
to the current fair value of another instrument that is 
practically the same, discounted cash flow analysis 
or other valuation models. 

An analysis of the fair value of financial instruments 
and further details about the measurement of this is 
provided in notes 5 and 20.

1.16 Income tax
Income tax consists of tax for the period and the 
change in deferred tax. Liabilities and deferred tax 
assets are calculated on all differences between 
accounting and tax values of assets and liabilities 
with the exception of:

•			Initial	recognition	of	goodwill,
•			Initial	recognition	of	an	asset	or	liability	in	 

a transaction that
•			Is	not	a	business	combination	and,	
•			at	the	time	of	the	transaction	affects	neither	

accounting profit nor taxable income (tax loss) 
•			Temporary	differences	relating	to	investments	in	

subsidiaries, associate companies or joint ventures 
when the Group controls when the temporary 
differences will be reversed and this is not 
expected to occur in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised when it is 
probable	that	the	company	will	have	sufficient	
taxable profit in future periods to benefit from the 
tax asset. The companies recognise previously 
unrecognised deferred tax assets to the extent that 
it is probable that the company will be able to make 
use of the deferred tax asset. The company will also 
reduce deferred tax assets to the extent that the 
company no longer considers it probable that it can 
utilise the deferred tax asset.

Liabilities and deferred tax assets are measured 
based on the expected future tax rates for the 
companies in the Group for which temporary 
differences have arisen.

Liabilities and deferred tax assets are recognised  
at nominal value and are classified as fixed assets 
(non-current liabilities) in the balance sheet.

Tax for the period and deferred tax assets or liabilities 
are recognised directly against equity to the extent 
that the tax items relate to equity transactions.

1.17 Leasing agreements
The Agasti Group’s leasing agreements are entered in 
the accounts in accordance with the following rules:
 
operating leasing agreements
Leases where the most significant risks and returns 
associated with ownership of the asset are not 
acquired by the company are classified as operating 
lease agreements. Lease payments are classified as 
an operating expense, and are recognised linearly 
over the contract period. 

1.18 Segment reporting
The company has segment reporting based on 
business areas. This grouping coincides with the way 
in which the Group management receives reported 
figures and evaluates them. The accounting 
principles for segment reporting are the same as  
for the Group accounting in general. Transactions 
between segments are valued using the arm’s length 
principle.

1.19 events after balance sheet date
New information after the balance sheet date, of the 
company’s financial position at the balance sheet 
date, is included in the annual accounts. Events after 
the balance sheet date that do not affect the 
company’s financial position at the balance sheet 
date, but which will affect the company’s future 
financial position are disclosed if they are significant.

1.20 Changes in accounting principles and notes

changes in accounting principles
The accounting principles applied are consistent 
with those applied in the previous accounting 
period, except for the changes in IFRS, which have 
been implemented by the Group in the current 
accounting period. Below are listed the changes that 
have been relevant for the Group in the IFRS 
effective for the 2013 accounts, and the effect this 
has had on the consolidated annual accounts.

The following new and amended accounting 
standards and interpretations were first applied in 
2013:

iAs 1 presentation of financial statements
The changes to IAS 1 require that the items in a 
statement	of	other	comprehensive	income	(OCI)	
should be grouped in two categories. Items that may 
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be reclassified to profit or loss at a future date  
(e.g. the net gain on securing of net investment, 
exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operation into the reporting currency, net change  
in cash flow security and net gains or losses on 
financial assets classified as available for sale) to  
be presented separately from items that will never 
be reclassified (e.g. actuarial gains and losses 
associated with defined benefit plans). The changes 
affect only the presentation and have had no impact 
on the financial position or results.

iFrs 13 Fair Value measurement  
The standard provides principles and guidance  
for the measurement of fair value for assets and 
liabilities that standards require or allow to be 
measured at fair value. The standard says nothing 
about when fair value shall be utilised, but this 
follows from other standards.

The change has no significant effect on the Group’s 
assets and liabilities. 

1.21 Implementation of IFRS
The standards and interpretations adopted until the 
time of preparing the Group accounts, but where 
the effective date is in the future are specified below. 
The Group’s intention is to implement the relevant 
changes	on	the	effective	date,	provided	that	the	EU	
approves the changes prior to preparation of the 
Group accounts. 

iAs 36 impairment of Assets 
The change entails that information must be given 
about the recoverable amount of assets that have 
been written down, if this has been determined at 
fair value reduced for sales costs. The change must 
be seen in the context of IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement. The changes apply for fiscal years 
starting on 01 January 2014 or later. The change is 
not expected to have any significant impact on the 
Group accounts.

iFrs 9 Financial instruments
IFRS 9 currently comprises the first and second 
phases of the IASB’s work to replace the current IAS 
39. The first phase deals with the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and liabilities, while 
the second phase deals with hedge accounting. The 
final phases of this project relate to measurement  
at amortised cost and the write-down of financial 
assets. The date on which IFRS 9 will come into 
effect has been postponed indefinitely, and it is 
expected that the standard will be given a 
mandatory effective date for financial years that 

start on 1 January 2018 at the earliest. The Group will 
evaluate the potential effects of IFRS 9 in 
accordance with the other phases, as soon as the 
final standard including all phases is published.

iFrs 10 consolidated Financial statements
IFRS	10	replaces	the	parts	of	IAS	27	Consolidated	
and Separate Financial Statements that deal with 
consolidated	financial	statements	and	SIC-12	
Consolidation	-	Consolidation	-	Special	Purpose	
Entities. IFRS 10 establishes a single control model 
that applies to all entities including special purpose 
entities	(SPE).	The	introduced	amendments	to	IFRS	
10 require management to exercise a significant 
degree of discretion in determining which entities 
are controlled by the parent company, where all enti-
ties that are controlled shall be consolidated. 
Whether control exists is a deciding factor in 
whether entities shall be consolidated in accordance 
with	IFRS	10.	Control	over	another	entity	exists	when	
the investor is exposed or has rights to variable 
returns from involvement in the entity, and the 
ability to use power over the investee to control the 
activities of the entity that significantly affect the 
returns.	Within	the	EU/EEA,	IFRS	10	applies	for	fiscal	
years starting on 01 January 2014 or later. The 
change is not expected to have any significant 
impact on the Group accounts.

1.22 Annual improvement project 20102012

iFrs 2 share-based payment 
Vesting and service conditions are defined in order 
to clarify various conditions, including the following:

•			A	vesting	condition	must	contain	a	service	
condition.

•			A	performance	target	must	be	fulfilled	while	the	
counterparty performs the service.

•			A	performance	target	can	be	related	to	the	
business or activities of an entity, or an entity in 
the same group.

•			A	performance	target	may	be	a	market	condition	
or a non-market condition.

•			If	the	counterparty,	regardless	of	the	reason,	stops	
supplying services during the vesting period, the 
performance target is not fulfilled.

iFrs 8 operating segments 
Operating segments may be aggregated if 
aggregation is consistent with the core principles of 
the standard, if the segments have similar economic 
characteristics, and if they are similar in other 
qualitative aspects. If operating segments are 
aggregated, the entity must disclose the economic 
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characteristics (such as sales and gross margins) 
used in the assessment of whether the segments are 
similar.

The amendment clarifies that the reconciliation of 
segment assets against total assets is required only 
if the reconciliation is reported to the chief operating 
decision maker, as for segment liabilities.

iFrs 13 Fair Value measurement 
The IASB clarifies that non-interest bearing 
short-term receivables and payables may be 
measured at the invoice amount when the effect  
of discounting is insignificant.

Note 2 Segment information

Businessrelated segments
IFRS 8 requires that the Group use a management 
approach for the identification of the segments.  
The information reported is that which the Group 
management uses internally to evaluate the 
segments’ results and to decide how resources  
shall be allocated to the segments.

For internal and external reporting purposes, the 
Group uses business-related segments. The Agasti 
Group currently carries out business subject to the 
Norwegian Securities Trading Act, with, among 
other things, distribution, advisory services, 
execution of orders, trading and settlement of 
investors’ portfolios of financial products in the 
Wealth Management segment. The Markets 
segment includes the Group’s operations within 
corporate finance, institutional sales, product 
development, the organisation of projects, 
companies and structured products, as well  
as the administration of investment portfolios.

The Group uses three cost groups: variable, activity 
based and fixed costs. These are further divided into 
costs linked to salaries and personnel, and other 
costs. Variable costs include costs that are closely 
related to sales income, as well as bonuses and other 
performance based remuneration of the Group’s 
employees. Activity based salary and personnel 
costs are linked to recruitment, personnel 
development and other costs linked to personnel 
related activities. Other activity based operating 
expenses cover various market activities, client 
recruitment, travel, lawyer and consultant fees, and 
various costs that vary in relation to the Group’s 
activity level. Fixed costs consist of fixed salaries  
for the Group’s employees, rental of premises and 
equipment, auditor’s fees, contractual IT costs, 
insurance and other costs related to agreements 
and that to a lesser degree vary with short-term 
fluctuations in the Group’s activity level. The Group 
reports the net financial income for the segments,  
in line with internal reporting routines. 

The Group changed the segment reporting during 
2011. Business-related segments are more 
descriptive of the Group’s activities than 
geographical	segments.	Under	Other	activities/
Eliminations, the Group administration and Group 
internal administrative services within finance and 
economy, personnel, IT, markets and compliance  
are reported on, in addition to costs relating to  
Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS and Acta Asset 
Management AS. Other activities normally has  
no external income, but covers costs through 
providing services to other segments through 
internal service agreements, entered into under 
arm’s length conditions. Financial information is 
given in the table below. 
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note 2 Segment information (continued) 
Wealth  

Management Markets
other activities/

eliminations Group total
All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Transaction revenues 19 932 17 112 38 639 12 237 -5 -66 58 566 29 283
Fixed revenues 260 655 249 473 101 618 87 110 16 5 362 289 336 587
total operating revenues 280 587 266 584 140 258 99 347 11 -62 420 856 365 870

Variable salary and personnel expenses 5 608 33 264 10 149 534 6 627 83 22 384 33 881
Other variable operating expenses 202 1 536 6 1 389 4 1 205 212 4 130
total variable expenses 5 810 34 800 10 156 1 924 6 630 1 288 22 596 38 012

Activity-based salary and personnel 
expenses

4 922 9 033 1 479 3 448 959 905 7 361 13 387

Other activity-based operating expenses 23 778 42 389 13 655 11 832 18 169 20 552 55 602 74 773
total activitybased expenses 28 700 51 422 15 134 15 281 19 129 21 457 62 963 88 160

Fixed salary and personnel expenses 133 934 147 266 59 024 29 354 31 460 23 488 224 419 200 108
Other fixed operating expenses 106 131 87 413 36 282 21 669 -54 857 -36 907 87 557 72 174
total fixed expenses 240 065 234 679 95 307 51 022 -23 397 -13 419 311 975 272 283

Depreciations 3 023 4 031 156 466 15 252 18 658 18 431 23 155
Write-downs 0 405 0 0 8 823 0 8 823 405

operating earnings 2 988 -58 753 19 505 30 655 -26 426 -28 046 -3 933 -56 144
Financial income 5 061 5 597 8 262 367 -2 339 705 10 984 6 669
Financial expenses 5 161 9 517 5 747 1 875 -7 043 -847 3 865 10 545
net financial items -100 -3 920 2 515 -1 508 4 704 1 552 7 119 -3 876
Income taxes 1 813 277 4 966 771 -1 344 -7 194 5 435 -6 146
net income 1 075 -62 950 17 054 28 376 -20 378 -19 300 -2 249 -53 874
Effective tax rate 63 % 0 % 23 % 3 % 6 % 27 % 171 % 10 %

other information

Segment assets
Non-current assets 21 269 25 277 102 513 15 077 18 712 74 460 142 494 114 814
Other financial assets 628 0 2 145 0 40 833 32 192 43 606 32 192
Current receivables 81 416 87 681 62 271 18 066 -52 354 -49 393 91 333 56 355
Bank deposits 53 737 85 231 51 647 18 558 35 945 31 361 141 329 135 150
total assets 157 051 198 189 218 576 51 702 43 135 88 620 418 762 338 511

Segment liabilities
Taxes and public fees payable 11 365 11 992 2 889 2 669 2 932 2 955 17 187 17 616
Other current liabilities 84 308  84 583  102 955  38 990  -50 704  12 989 136 559  136 562 
total liabilities 95 674  96 576  105 844  41 659  -47 771  15 944 153 746  154 178 

Investments in fixed assets   2 408 19 520 356 10 680 18 820 13 608 19 195

Geographical areas 

Income statement norway Sweden
other activities/

eliminations Group total
total operating revenues 275 114 237 354 145 730 128 577 11 -62 420 856 365 870

Balances
total fixed assets 108 970 24 977 14 812 15 377 18 712 74 460 142 494 114 814
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Note 3 Salary costs, total employees, remuneration, loans to employees, etc. 
   
All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 

Salaries 177 969 171 595

Bonus/profit sharing 16 239 12 745

Pension costs, defined contribution plans 10 712 6 323

Estimated benefit options scheme 915 2 770

National insurance contributions 34 652 34 487

Other benefits 13 885 23 032

total 254 372 250 953

Average total full-time equivalent positions 219 228

Benefits paid to employees in leading positions:  

All amounts in thousands of NOK Period Salary 1)

Contri
bution 
based 

pension 

Bonus/
profit 

sharing
other

benefits

Jørgen Pleym Ulvness 2) CEO 2013  2 825 246  64 

Agasti Holding ASA 2012  1 700  83 

Alfred Ydstebø 3) Chief Executive Officer (from Aug 2012 
to Dec 2013)

2013  2 850  893  118 

Agasti Holding ASA 2012  1 150  17  191 

Christian Tunge 4) Chief Financial Officer 2013  2 228  789  33 

Agasti Holding ASA 2012  2 296  51 639  17 

Svein Erik Lilleland Chief Executive Officer (from June 2013) 2013  906 

Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS 2012

Bjarne Eggesbø Chief Executive Officer (from April 2013) 2013  1 159  35  393  86 

Obligo Investment Management AS 2012

Kjersti Aksnes Gjesdahl Chief Executive Officer (from April 2013) 2013  1 396  55 

Navigea Securities AS 2012

1)  Salaries etc. are shown for the period in which employees in leading positions have been in the post during the  
financial year.

2)		Took	up	position	as	CEO	on	12	December	2013.		Ulvness	was	employed	as	Deputy	CEO	of	Agasti	Holding	AS	until	12	
December 2013, but salary and other benefits up until 1 July 2013 were paid from other companies within the Group.

3)		Left	position	as	CEO	of	Agasti	Holding	ASA	on	12	Desember	2013.	 	 	 	 	 	
4)		Left	position	as	CFO	on	11	February	2014.	Christian	Dovland	took	up	the	position	as	the	new	CFO	on	the	same	day.

Benefits to employees in leading positions
The	CEO’s	remuneration	is	determined	by	the	Boards	remuneration	committee.	The	Board’s	remuneration	
committee sets guidelines for remuneration of other employees in senior positions, including fixed salaries 
and the principles for and scope of bonus schemes.  

Employees in leading positions have ordinary bonus agreements with annually fixed limits, and normally 
limited to between 40 and 200 per cent of basic salary, depending on position. The estimated accrued 
bonus is expensed on an on-going basis.
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note 3 Salary costs, total employees, remuneration, loans to employees, etc. (continued)

Some employees in senior positions receive severence pay during the notice period if dismissed without 
good reason as a result of large changes in tasks, e.g. due to takeover or fusion:

employee in leading 
position Company Position

Period of 
notice

Pay after 
termination of 
employment

Jørgen Pleym Ulvness Agasti Capital Markets AS CEO 6 months 12 months

Christian Tunge 1) Agasti Holding ASA Chief Financial Officer 6 months 12 months

Christian Dovland 2) Agasti Holding ASA Chief Financial Officer 6 months 6 months

Kjersti Aksnes Gjesdahl Navigea Securities AS CEO 6 months 12 months

Svein Erik Lilleland Agasti Wunderlich Securities AS CEO 3 months 12 months

Bjarne Eggesbø Obligo Investment Management 
AS

CEO 6 months 12 months

1) Left the position on 11 February 2014.  
2) Took up position on 11 February 2014.  

Benefits to employees in leading positions
The Agasti Group established a defined contribution 
scheme for all permanent employees in Norway and 
Sweden with effect from 1 January 2005. In Norway, 
the contribution rate for 2013 was four per cent of fixed 
salaries between 1G and 6G and six per cent of fixed 
salaries between 6G and 12G. In relation to the 
requirements regarding mandatory occupational 
pensions	(OTP)	that	came	into	force	on	1	July	2006,	
Agasti Group has a pension plan which exceeds the 
minimum requirement of two per cent of salary over 1G 
up to 12G. In 2013, the contribution percentage for the 
employees in Sweden was five per cent of fixed salary. 

In the period 2009-2012 the Board of Directors of 
Agasti Holding ASA allocated options in accordance 
with a three-year incentive scheme that covered all 
employees within the Group. All the options in 
accordance with this scheme have expired at the 
time of adoption of the annual accounts. In 2012, the 
Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA adopted 
an incentive scheme for selected managers in the 
Group. In 2014, this scheme was replaced by a new 
option scheme for selected managers within the 
Group. The scheme is part of a long-term incentive 
scheme for Agasti managers, which will contribute 
to creating positive results and attracting new 
employees as well as retaining existing employees. 
In 2013 and 2014, 1.57 million options were redeemed 
by Agasti Group employees. At the time of the 
adoption of the annual accounts, a total of 10 million 
stock options have been allocated, of which 
employees in leading positions hold 6,15 million 
stock options. The allocation is in accordance with 
the authorisation granted by the annual general 
meetings on 11 May 2010, 25 May 2011, 23 May 2012 
and 26 June 2013.

Of the options that were allocated in 2011, and which 
were still outstanding at the start of 2013, 216,000 
were redeemed during 2013. Aside from some 
three-year programmes which expired in February 
2014, the rest became due during 2013 without any 
redemption taking place. Of the options that were 
allocated in 2012, and which had an expiry date in 
2013, 1.11 million were redeemed. Of the options that 
were allocated in February 2012, and which fell due 
in their entirety in February 2014, 241,000 were 
redeemed. The redemption prices for the 
outstanding options are NOK 1.33 for the options 
allocated in August 2012, NOK 1.58 for the options 
allocated in November 2012 and NOK 2.01 for the 
options allocated in March 2014. The redemption 
price for the options shall be reduced by the 
accumulated dividends paid out during the period 
after allocation of the options. No dividend was paid 
for the financial year 2012. The Board of Directors of 
Agasti Holding ASA has proposed to the annual 
general meeting that dividends are not paid out for 
the 2013 financial year. Stock options allocated to 
selected managers in the Group during August and 
November	2012	may	be	redeemed	by	1/3	in	2014	
and	1/3	in	2015,	during	specific	periods	in	both	years.	
Share options allocated to selected managers in the 
Group	during	March	2014	may	be	redeemed	by	1/3	
in	2015,	1/3	in	2016	and	1/3	in	2017,	during	specific	
periods in all three years. At the end of 2013, the 
share price was NOK 1.87.

As at 31 December 2013, Agasti Holding ASA had 
not issued any other financial instruments that may 
result in a demand for issuing of new shares other 
than the mentioned share options.
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note 3 Salary costs, total employees, remuneration, loans to employees, etc. (continued)

Benefits paid to Agasti Holding Board members:    

All amounts in thousands of NOK 
Board members’ 

fees 1)

Member of the Board Position at time of adoption Periode 2013 2012

Erling Meinich-Bache 2) Chairman of the Board 2013 270

Beatriz Malo de Molina 3) Vice Chairman of the Board from 29.11.13

Merete Haugli 4) Board Member 2013 440 290

Sissel Knutsen Hegdal Board Member 2013 235 133

Stein Aukner Vice Chairman of the Board until 29.11.13 220 220

Arne Reinemo Chairman of the Board 29.11-16.12.13

Paal Espen Johnsen Board Member 26.06-16.12.13

Pia Gideon Board Member until 29.11.13 200 200

Ole Peter Lorentzen Board Member until 30/04/2013 215 200

1)		Board	Members’	fees	etc.	are	shown	for	the	period	in	which	the	Board	Member	has	held	the	office.
2)		Has	acted	as	a	Board	Member	and	Vice	Chairman	of	the	Board	in	parts	of	the	stated	period.
3)  Has acted as a Board Member during parts of the stated period.
4)		Has	acted	as	Chairman	of	the	Board	during	parts	of	the	stated	period.	The	fee	includes	remuneration	from	 
 the audit committee.

2013 2012 

options number VGIK1 1) number VGIK1 1)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 12 527 533 1,73 9 504 011 3.00

Awarded during the year 0 9 930 000 1.36

Redeemed during the year 1 330 865 1,40 0

Expired during the year 2) 3 086 244 2,25 5 091 337 3.04

Terminated during the year 2 963 415 1,60 1 815 141 3.02

outstanding at the end of the year 5 147 008 1,53 12 527 533 1.73

Redeemable at the end of the year 0 0

1)  Weighted average redemption price. Amount in NOK.
2)  The weighted average share price at the time of redemption was NOK 1.59.

The weighted average lifetime of outstanding stock options as of 31 December 2013 is 1.0 years.
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note 3 Salary costs, total employees, remuneration, loans to employees, etc. (continued)

The weighted average redemption price of outstanding stock options at the end of the year:  

2013 2012

Maturity date number VGIK1 1) number VGIK1 1)

13.02.14 813 675  2,31 963 192  2,29 

15.08.14 1 750 000  1,33 2 500 000  1,33 

07.11.14 416 667  1,58 541 667  1,58 

14.08.15 1 750 000  1,33 2 500 000  1,33 

06.11.15 416 667  1,58 541 667  1,58 

Sum 5 147 008  1,53 12 527 533  1,73 

1) Weighted average redemption price. Amount in NOK.  

Agasti has used the Black & Scholes model in valuing the options. The risk-free interest rate used in the 
model	is	the	treasury	rate/government	bond	rate	with	maturity	as	close	as	possible	to	the	allocation	date.	
Due to the dilution effect on the existing shares, the price of the option is found numerically. In the model  
the following assumptions are used as the basis for new allocations:

Allocation
expected dividend 

yield (%)
Historical  

volatility (%)

expected lifetime 
for the stock option 

(years)

Feb 2011 3,05 67,79 2,00

Feb 2012 9,05 58,89 1,98

Aug 2012 0,00 65,76 2,00

Nov 2012 0,00 67,10 1,99

Expected volatility is calculated from historical volatility based on daily data over the same timescale as the 
term of the stock options.       

Stock options effect on the accounts:  

Description All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 

Acquisition of stock options 1 265 2 770

Change in provisions for employer’s National Insurance contributions 281 56

net stock option income/expenses 1 546 2 826

Change in liabilities 1) 281 56

1) Refers only to employer’s National Insurance contributions  
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Note 4 Combined items in the income statement 

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Costs relating to premises 42 511 44 490
IT costs 26 907 22 633
Fees for auditors, lawyers and consultants 25 124 34 207
Telephone and postage costs 5 120 6 281
Travel activities 10 840 8 513
Printed materials and stationery 2 559 4 745
Marketing activities 6 717 9 622
VPS – The Norwegian Central Securities Depository   200
Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway 837 1 997
Payments and change in provisions for estimated compensation to clients and process 
costs relating to received customer complaints 1)

4 837 10 674

Provision for lease obligations 13 588 0
Other operating expenses 4 123 4 140
total other operating expenses 143 163 147 501

1) In 2013, NOK 12.0 million has been paid in compensation to customers relating to customer cases. See Note 14.

Statutory audit 1 351 1 072

Other audit-related services 90 553
Assistance with tax return, etc. 27 24
Other services excluding auditing 2 425 1 972
total auditing fee 3 893 3 621
The fees are given excluding VAT. 

Interest, bank deposits 1 383 2 754
Other financial income 17 811 3 915
total financial income 19 194 6 669

Bank interest and fees 937 515
Other financial expenses 11 138 10 030
total financial expenses 12 075 10 545

Of other financial expenses in 2013, NOK 1.2 million relate to allowance for liquidity premium of unlisted 
shares in various investment portfolios that Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS has acquired in connection with  
the settlement of client issues. The remaining costs are primarily related to realised and unrealised foreign 
currency gains and losses associated with invoicing and settlement in foreign currency.

Note 5 Financial instruments 

Per 31 December 2013  

All amounts in thousands of NOK 

Financial 
instruments 
at fair value 

through 
profit or loss

Financial 
instruments 

valued at 
amortised 

cost

Financial 
instruments 

held to  
maturity total

Loans to and deposits with credit institutions    141 329    141 329 
Shares  43 606      43 606 
Notes and bonds, held until maturity    15 209  15 209 
Other assets    91 333    91 333 
total financial assets  43 606  232 662  15 209  291 477 

      
Other long-term liabilities as a result of the acquisition 
of companies   

   35 266    35 266 

Liabilities to credit institutions    10 172    10 172 
Other liabilities   92 377   92 377
total financial liabilities 0 137 815 0  137 815
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note 5 Financial instruments (continued)

Per 31 December 2012  

All amounts in thousands of NOK 

Financial 
instruments 
at fair value 

through 
profit or loss

Financial 
instruments 

valued at 
amortised 

cost

Financial 
instruments 

held to  
maturity total

Loans to and deposits with credit institutions    135 150    135 150 
Shares  32 192      32 192 
Notes and bonds, held until maturity    13 916  13 916 
Other assets   35 512    35 512 
total financial assets  32 192  170 662  13 916  216 770 

      
Liabilities to credit institutions    20 840    20 840 
Other liabilities    73 279    73 279 
total financial liabilities 0  94 118 0  94 118 

Financial instruments at fair value 
The fair value of unlisted financial assets has been 
estimated using valuation techniques based on 
assumptions that are not supported by observable  
market prices. The following of the company’s 
financial instruments are not valued at fair value: 
Cash	and	cash	equivalents,	accounts	receivable,	
other current receivables and bank overdrafts.  
The value of cash and cash equivalents and 
bank overdrafts entered in the balance sheet 
approximates  fair value because these instruments  
have short maturities. Similarly, the value of 
accounts  receivable and accounts payable entered  
in the balance sheet approximates fair value as 
these have ”normal” conditions.

Financial instruments at amortised cost
Most assets and liabilities in the Agasti Group’s 
balance sheet are valued at amortised cost in the 
accounts. 

Amortised cost involves valuing balance sheet 
items in accordance with original contractual  
cash flows, adjusted for any depreciation if 
necessary.  Such valuations will not always give 
 values  consistent with the market’s assessment  
of the same instruments. Deviations are due to 
 different perceptions of the macro outlook, market 
conditions,  risk and returns, as well as differences  
in access to accurate information. The value is 
estimated based on quoted prices in active markets 
where such information is available, internal models 
which calculate a theoretical value in the absence  
of active markets, or comparison between the 
 prices of instruments in the portfolio in relation  
to the most recent transaction prices.

Valuations are based on the individual instruments’ 
properties and values on the balance sheet date. 
However, these values do not include the total 
value of client relationships, market access, brands, 
organisation, personnel and structural capital. Such 
intangible assets are generally not recognised. In 
addition, most client relationships are evaluated and 
valued in context for several products as a whole, 
where products in the balance sheet are seen in 
connection with other products and services that 
the client also uses. The individual assets and liabili-
ties therefore do not provide an adequate indication 
of the overall value of the Group’s operations.

Financial instruments held until maturity
Financial instruments classified as held until 
 maturity consist of a convertible bond issued by  
the	Wunderlich	Investment	Company,	Inc.	On	 
5	September	2012,	Agasti	Capital	Markets	AS	
invested in a subordinated convertible bond with 
a	nominal	value	of	USD	2.5	million	with	an	annual	
coupon rate of 7.5 per cent, payable quarterly and 
with	a	conversion	price	of	USD	16	per	share.	The	
convertible bond has a term of less than 5 years 
with a maturity date of  31 July 2017. The bond is 
valued at amortised cost as at 31 December 2013  
at NOK 15.2 million. 
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model is used, with a normalised risk-free interest 
rate in the unit’s home market and a normalised risk 
premium of 4 per cent. Beta values are estimated for 
each assessment unit. 

The estimates are built upon central assumptions 
such	as	total	offices,	total	employees	in	sales	related	
positions, total clients, assets under management 
and expected demand for the various cash 
generating unit’s services and products, both from 
existing and new clients. 

Goodwill relating to acquisition of Axir ASA
The entered goodwill relating to the acquisition of 
Axir ASA in spring 2010 amounts to NOK 8.8 million. 
The company is continued in the Agasti Group by 
Navigea Securities AS, and in the Norwegian 
business operations. On 17 March 2014, Navigea 
Securities AS received notice from the Financial 
Supervisory Authority of the withdrawal of licences 
based on the results of an on-site inspection in April 
2013. The consequence of a decision in line with the 
notice from the FSA will result in Navigea Securities 
AS having to terminate the company’s operations 
requiring licences. The Norwegian Financial 
Supervisory Authority has not finished handling  
the case, but experience from previous cases shows 
that in most cases, decisions are made in line with 
preliminary notice. Agasti Holding has therefore 
decided to reduce goodwill by NOK 8.8 million.

Goodwill relating to acquisitions in 2013
The entered goodwill has increased by NOK 33.3 
million in 2013 and relates to the acquisition of 
companies undertaken in 2013, partially counter-
acted by the write-down of goodwill relating to  
Axir ASA. Additions in connection with business 

Goodwill is not depreciated. However, an 
impairment test is carried out each year. 

The Agasti Group undertakes on-going evaluations 
of whether the value of goodwill and other intangible 
assets with undefined lifetimes is intact, and carries 
out a complete impairment test of all business units 
at least annually. The individual goodwill items and 
intangible assets in the Agasti Group balance sheet 
are allocated to assessment units according to which 
businesses benefit from the acquired asset. Selection 
of the business unit is carried out on the basis of 
whether it is possible to identify and separate cash 
flows related to the business.

The recoverable amount is based on the expected 
business life. The business life is obtained from the 
sum of the estimated current value of expected cash 
flows for a planning period and projected cash flows 
after the planning period. The cash flows for the 
planning period are usually three years, and are based 
on budgets and plans approved by the management. 
Budgets and plans must be realistic from the 
 perspective of the historical results in the unit.

The discount rate is based on an assessment of  
the market’s required rate of return for the type  
of activities included in the assessment unit. The 
required rate of return reflects the risk in the 
activities. Impairment tests are initially carried out 
on cash flows after tax in order to use the market’s 
rate of return directly. If the test shows that there 
may be a need for impairment, a more thorough 
review of the unit is undertaken, which also includes 
an assessment of the value of cash flows before tax. 
In the assessment for the fiscal year 2013, a discount 
rate based on an adjusted capital asset pricing 

Note 6 Goodwill and other intangible assets 

Goodwill Intangible assets
All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 2013 2012
Original cost per 1 January 26 894 26 894 104 959 86 959
Additions in connection with business combinations 42 160 0 0 0
Additions by separate acquisition 0 0 9 380 18 000
Exit value 0 0 0 0
original cost per 31 December 69 054 26 894 114 339 104 959

Accumulated depreciations per 31 December 0 0 83 498 69 637
Accumulated write-downs per 31 December 26 894 18 071 507 507
Accumulated depreciations and write-downs 
per 31 December

26 894 18 071 84 005 70 145

entered value per 31 December  42 160 8 823 30 334 34 814
Year’s depreciations 0 0 13 860 17 722
Year’s write-downs 8 823 0 0 405
Economic lifetime 4-5 years
Depreciation plan  Linear
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note 6 Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of investments in the 
standard systems Abasec (portfolio system), 
Microsoft	Dynamics	(CRM	system),	MAP	(tool/
application for asset allocation) and Microsoft 
Dynamics	AX	(ERP	system).	The	software	is	entered	
in the balance sheet at original cost, with the 
addition of external expenses for preparing the 
software for use, less accumulated depreciations. 
The expected economic lifetime and depreciation 
period is five years.

combinations comprised NOK 42.2 million in 2013, 
and relate to the acquisition of the companies 
ABGSC	Real	Estate	AS,	Wunderlich	Securities	AS	
and	RS	Platou	Fund	Management	AS	with	
associated companies. No impairment tests have 
been carried out on newly acquired goodwill 
beyond	purchase	price	allocation.	Cash-flow	
generating units linked to acquired companies are 
linked to the Markets segment. Refer to note 8 of the 
Group accounts which discusses the above-men-
tioned acquisitions.

Note 7 Fixed assets

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Leasehold improvements
Original cost per 1 January 28 671 28 170
Additions in connection with business combinations  0 0
Additions by separate acquisition 933 502
Exit value 0 0
original cost per 31 December 29 604  28 671 

Accumulated depreciations per 31 December 31 074 29 808
Disposals - accumulated depreciations -3 488 -3 488
Accumulated write-downs per 31 December 2 217 2 217
Disposals – accumulated write-downs -1 688 -1 688
Accumulated depreciations and write-downs per 31 December 28 114 26 848

entered value per 31 December 1 491 1 823
Year’s depreciations 1 265 1 786
Year’s write-downs 0 0
Economic lifetime 4 - 7 years 4 - 7 years
Depreciation plan Linear Linear

Machinery, fixtures and equipment
Original cost per 1 January 166 097 169 861
Additions in connection with business combinations  459 -6 693
Additions by separate acquisition 2 990 1 063
Exit value 33 4 827
original cost per 31 December 169 512 166 097

Accumulated depreciations per 31 December 132 317 129 010
Disposals – accumulated depreciations -5 824  -5 825 
Accumulated write-downs per 31 December 38 442  38 442 
Disposals – accumulated write-downs -1 408 -1 408
Accumulated depreciations and write-downs per 31 December 163 526 160 219

entered value per 31 December 5 986 5 878
Year’s depreciations 3 306 3 647
Year’s write-downs 0 0
Economic lifetime 3-7 years 3-7 years
Depreciation plan Linear Linear

The economic lifetime for leasehold improvements and machines, fixtures and equipment can normally be 
depreciated over five years based on concrete assessments regarding the asset’s nature or by extension of 
the rental agreement.
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note 7 Fixed assets (continued) 

Annual rental of nonrecorded assets 
The	Group	has	entered	into	several	different	operational	rental	agreements	regarding	office	premises,	 
ICT	equipment	and	office	machines.	The	majority	of	the	rental	agreements	have	an	extension	option.	 
Future minimum rental linked to non-cancellable rental agreements are as follows:

Future minimum rent
All amounts in thousands of NOK   2013 2012
Under one year  27 937  28 470 
Between one and five years  67 029  66 175 
Over five years 0 0
total 94 966 94 645

Future	minimum	lease	payments	comprise	the	lease	contract	for	the	group’s	head	office	at	Bolette	Brygge	1	
for approx. NOK 38 million. Even though the consequence of a decision in accordance with the notification 
from the Norwegian Financial Supervisory Authority will result in a liquidation of all or part of Navigea 
Securities’ activities, the premises will be fully utilised and the lease obligations will be taken over by other 
companies within the Agasti Group. For other lease contracts, based on experience and assessment of the 
rental market, a provision equivalent to approximately  50% of future minimum lease payments has been 
made for Navigea Securities’ Norwegian activities, and a portion of future lease obligations associated with 
Navexa Securities AB’s premises in Sweden, where Navigea’s Swedish branch operates its business. In total, 
NOK 13.6 have been set aside for covering future lease obligations. See note 21 for further information.

Rent from nonbalance sheet fixed assets entered against costs
Rental costs

All amounts in thousands of NOK  2013 1) 2012 
Leasing agreements, premises, including common costs 23 130 32 091
Leasing agreements, parking facilities 1 893 1 647
Leasing agreements, meeting facilities etc. 212 304
Leasing agreements, various machinery and equipment 1 063 2 100
total 26 299 36 142

1) The reduction in rent for premises is explained by the renewal of leases with a reduced scope and the termination  
of individual lease agreements. 

Note 8 Acquisitions

the Agasti Group. The acquisition resulted in 
goodwill of NOK 35.3 million. The management 
believes that the acquisition will result in improved 
positioning within the management business, and 
will positively impact upon future earnings beyond 
the value of the individual assets, as well as 
synergies with existing operations. The ownership 
stake is equal to voting rights.

On	7	February	2013,	Agasti	Capital	Markets	AS	
(ACM)	acquired	100	per	cent	of	the	shares	in	
Wunderlich Securities AS (changed name to Agasti 
Wunderlich	Capital	Markets	AS	(AWCM).	The	
acquisition was carried out with a cash payment of 
NOK 7 million and the issuing of 3.5 million shares 
with a nominal value of NOK 0.18, as well as a share 
premium reserve totalling NOK 3.6 million. The share 

Aquisitions
On 3 January  2013, Obligo Investment Management 
AS (OIM) acquired 100 per cent of the shares in 
ABGSC	Real	Estate	AS	(changed	name	to	Obligo	
Real Estate AS) with wholly-owned subsidiary 
ABGSC	Real	Estate,	Inc.	(changed	name	to	Obligo	
Real Estate, Inc.) for NOK 45 million. This was 
financed through an interest-free loan from the 
seller,	ABG	Sundal	Collier	ASA,	which	is	repaid	by	
NOK 2.5 million each quarter over a period of five 
years, with an additional payment of NOK 8 million 
after five years. The share price is based on a 
strategic objective to take a larger share of the value 
chain. Obligo Real Estate AS is a limited company 
with	its	head	office	in	Oslo,	Norway.	The	company	
manages real estate and shipping portfolios which 
were already linked to some of the activities within 
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company’s 100 per cent ownership stake in the 
companies	Realkapital	Partners	AS	(changed	name	
to	Obligo	Partners	AS)	and	Realkapital	Partners	
Luxembourg SA, as well as some smaller investment 
companies for NOK 4.9 million, with the opportunity 
for further payments of up to NOK 5 million. The 
payment was made in cash. The share price is based 
on a strategic objective to take a larger share of the 
value chain and utilise economies of scale. OFM is  
a	limited	company	with	its	head	office	in	Oslo,	
Norway. The company manages real estate 
portfolios. The acquisition resulted in goodwill of 
NOK 4.8 million.  The management believes that  
the acquisition will strengthen the team within the 
management activities in the Group, and will 
positively impact upon future earnings beyond the 
value of the individual assets, as well as synergies 
with existing operations. The ownership stake is 
equal to voting rights. 

price is based on the company’s competence within 
corporate finance and brokerage activities, in 
addition to the strategic alliance with Wunderlich 
Securities	in	the	USA.	The	acquisition	resulted	in	
goodwill	of	NOK	2	million.	AWCM	has	its	head	office	
in Oslo and offers advisory services, brokerage and 
facilitation of various types of capital market 
transactions.	Agasti	Capital	Markets	AS	acquired	 
the company to give the Group access to more 
resources, as well as create a link between existing 
activities internally within the Group and with regard 
to the strategic alliance with Wunderlich Securities, 
Inc. The Group has chosen to measure the 
non-controlling	interests	in	AWCM	at	fair	value.	

On 16 October 2013, Obligo Investment Manage-
ment AS (OIM) acquired 100 per cent of the shares 
in	RS	Platou	Fund	Management	AS	(changed	name	
to Obligo Fund Management AS) with the 

note 8 Acquisitions (continued)  

Allocation of the added value relating to the acquisitions is as follows:

All amounts in thousands of NOK Fair value recognised upon acquisition of:

Acquired companies
obligo Real 

estate AS
Agasti Wunderlich 
Capital Markets AS

obligo Fund 
Management AS

Assets
Deferred tax 3 110 4
Fixed assets (note 7) 351 108
Cash and cash equivalents 8 257 11 109 3 704
Receivables 2 395 1 354 2 294
Other assets 616 1 255
total assets 11 268 15 925 7 364

Liabilities
Accounts payable -272 29
Other liabilities -8 784 -6 448 -1 056
Provisions -1 690
Deferred tax liabilities -68 -5
total liabilities 8 852 6 720 2 722

net identifiable assets at fair value 2 416 9 204 4 643

Goodwill 35 342 2 045 4 773
Purchase price 37 758 11 250 9 416

Capital increase 0  4 200 0
Cash/debt previous owner 1)  37 758  7 050  9 416 
Purchase price 37 758 11 250 9 416

Paid in cash  7 852  7 050  4 850 
net cash out 7 852 7 050 4 850

1)  The difference between the purchase price of NOK 45 million plus the additional consideration of NOK 8 million and  
 the booked purchase price for the shares in Obligo Real Estate AS are due to the present value calculation of interest- 
 free trade credit.
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note 8 Acquisitions (continued)  

The acquired companies have contributed a total of NOK 76 million to the Group’s operating revenues and 
NOK 7 million to the Group’s net income before tax during the period between acquisition and 31.12.2013 as 
follows: 

All amounts in thousands of NOK  During holding period  Financial year 2013

Acquired companies:
From 
date

operating 
revenues

net income 
before tax

operating 
revenues

net income 
before tax

Obligo Real Estate AS with subsidiaries 03.01.13 44 438 16 492 44 438 16 492
Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS 01.02.13 29 605 -11 888 29 842 -12 896
Obligo Fund Management AS with subsidiaries 16.10.13 2 390 2 368 11 433 7 621
totAL  76 433  6 972  85 713  11 217 

Deferred tax liabilities mainly consist of differences between the accounting and tax depreciation on fixed 
assets and intangible assets.

If the acquisition was carried out as at 01.01.2013, the Group’s total operating revenues for the entire period 
would have been NOK 430 million, and the Group’s net income before tax NOK seven million.

Included in the value of the goodwill are client relationships, employees with special skills and expected 
synergies with the Agasti Group’s existing business. These intangible assets do not meet the recognition 
criteria in IAS 38 and are therefore not entered in the balance sheet separately.

The entered goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating unit Markets.

Note 9 Shares in subsidiaries 

The companies listed below are all wholly owned by Agasti Holding ASA.   

Company Country
Registered 
office Principal operations

Navigea Securities AS Norway Oslo Securities companies
Navexa Securities AB Sweden Stockholm Insurance undertakings
Obligo Investment Management AS Norway Oslo Management and administration of investment  

companies
Agasti Capital Markets AS Norway Oslo Management of ownership interests in other  

companies etc.
Agasti Business Services AS Norway Stavanger Inter Group service provision
Acta Asset Management AS Norway Stavanger Securities companies
Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS Norway Stavanger No activity
Acta Kapitalförvaltning AB Sweden Stockholm No activity
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Note 10 Share capital and shareholder information 

As per 31 December 2013, share capital in Agasti Holding ASA consisted of 293,472,726 shares with a 
nominal value of NOK 0.18. There is only one share class.

ownership structure number  
of shares

ownership 
stake

the 20 largest shareholders in the company as at 31 December 2013 were:
Coil Investment Group AS 35 068 547 11,95 %
Ludvig Lorentzen AS 31 342 523 10,68 %
Perestroika AS 25 047 228 8,53 %
Tenold Gruppen AS 20 195 948 6,88 %
Best Invest AS 12 808 707 4,36 %
IKM Industri-Invest AS 11 190 000 3,81 %
Bjelland Invest AS 10 785 000 3,67 %
Mons Holding AS 10 766 620 3,67 %
Sissener Sirius ASA 10 360 000 3,53 %
Sanden A/S 7 500 000 2,56 %
SEB Private Bank S.A. (Extended) 4 300 000 1,47 %
Wunderlich Acquistion Holding Inc. 3 500 000 1,19 %
Coldevin Invest AS 2 918 856 0,99 %
Extellus AS 2 800 000 0,95 %
International Oilfield Services AS 2 500 000 0,85 %
Steinar Lindberg A.S. 2 100 000 0,72 %
Jag Holding AS 2 000 000 0,68 %
Wunderlich Securities, Inc. 1 916 400 0,65 %
Brattetveit AS 1 833 022 0,62 %
Ringern Invest AS 1 520 251 0,52 %
total 20 largest shareholders 200 453 102 68,30 %
Total other shareholders 93 019 624 31,70 %
total number of shares 293 472 726 100,00 %

number
Total outstanding shares 01.01.2013  257 530 750 
Total outstanding shares 31.12.2013  293 472 726 
Average total shares in 2013  277 102 561 
Average total undiluted shares in 2013  277 285 521 

Earnings per share (year’s result Group / average total shares) -0,01 
Undiluted earnings per share (year’s result Group / average total undiluted shares) -0,01 

At the ordinary general meeting on 26 June 2013, the Board of Agasti Holding ASA was granted 
authorisation		to	issue	new	shares	in	Agasti	Holding	ASA	in	one	or	several	private	and/or	public	placements.	
The authorisation applies for the issuance of up to 57.1 million shares with a nominal value of NOK 0.18, which 
means that the Board can, in accordance with the authorisation, increase the share capital by up to NOK 10.3 
million.	Parts	of	this	authorisation	are	specifically	linked	to	a	rights	issue	of	31.1	million	shares,	and	was	valid	
until 1 September 2013. The remaining authorisation for 26 million shares is valid until the date of the next 
ordinary general meeting, but no later than 30 June 2014. If the nominal value of the shares should change 
within the period of authorisation, the authorisation shall be changed accordingly.
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note 10 Share capital and shareholder information (continued)

Shares directly or indirectly owned or controlled by members of the Board and management employees as at  
31 December 2013: 

name office number  
of shares

ownership 
stake

Jørgen Pleym Ulvness 1) Managing Director Agasti Holding ASA 2 918 856 0,99 %
Christian Tunge 2) CFO Agasti Holding ASA 1 000 000 0,34 %
Svein Erik Lilleland Chief Executive Officer Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS 0 0,00 %
Bjarne Eggesbø Chief Executive Officer Obligo Investment Management AS 0 0,00 %
Kjersti Aksnes Gjesdahl Chief Executive Officer Navigea Securities AS 0 0,00 %
Erling Meinich-Bache Chairman of the Board Agasti Holding ASA 0 0,00 %
Beatriz Malo de Molina Vice Chairman of the Board Agasti Holding ASA 0 0,00 %
Merete Haugli Board Member Agasti Holding ASA 0 0,00 %
Sissel Knutsen Hegdal Board Member Agasti Holding ASA 0 0,00 %

1)		Owned	by	Coldevin	Invest	AS.
2)		Christian	Tunge	left	the	position	as	CFO	on	11	February	2014.	Christian	Dovland	took	up	the	position	on	the	same	day.

Remuneration based on share value  Stock options  

name office

number 
of stock 
options 

01.01.2013

Awarded
during 

the year

exercised/
redeemed 
during the 

year

expired/
terminated 
during the 

year

number 
of stock 
options 

31.12.2013

Cost  
of stock 

options 1)

Jørgen Pleym  
Ulvness

Chief Executive 
Officer Agasti 
Holding ASA 1 750 000 583 333 1 166 667  359 116 

Christian Tunge 2) Chief Financial  
Officer Agasti 
Holding ASA 1 390 000 300 000 186 667 903 333  291 363 

Bjarne Eggesbø Chief Executive  
Officer Obligo  
Investment  
Management AS

Svein Erik Lilleland Chief Executive 
Officer Agasti 
Wunderlich Capital 
Markets AS

Kjersti Aksnes  
Gjelsdahl

Chief Executive 
Officer Navigea 
Securities AS

1)  Amounts in NOK 1000.
2)		Christian	Tunge	left	the	position	as	CFO	on	11	February	2014.

No Board Members or other employee representatives have stock options in Agasti Holding ASA.

Note 11 Dividends

In 2013, no dividend was paid. The Board has not proposed that a dividend be paid for 2014.

Note 12 Current receivables 

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013  2012  
Accrued/non-received revenues 53 402 32 496
Pre-paid costs 19 883 20 843
Tax USA 1 533 0
Too much advance tax paid, Sweden 8 418 0
Miscellaneous current receivables 8 097 3 016
total current receivables 91 333 56 355
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Note 13 Financial assets - Marketable securities 

Book value of financial assets

All amounts in thousands of NOK Holding company 2013  2012
Shares in various investment portfolios Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS  40 833 29 991
Shares in Deliveien 4 Holding AS Navigea Securities AS  628 750
Interests in Key Recovery Special Investments Limited 
Class (NOK/EUR/SEK)

Navigea Securities AS 0 1 451

Shares in various investment portfolios Obligo Fund Management 
Group

 1 173 0

Shares in various investment portfolios Obligo Real Estate AS  972 0
total current receivables 43 606 32 192

Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS has acquired shares in investment portfolios in connection with the settlement of 
client issues. The client has been paid the value of the shares plus any compensation in exchange for Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS acquiring the shares. The investment portfolios are priced four times a year, on 15 
March, 15 June, 15 September and 15 December. The pricing carried out on 15 March and 15 September are 
based on valuations made by independent parties. The calculation and determination of prices is described 
in more detail in note 20 - Determination of fair value.

Shares in Deliveien 4 Holding AS are recognised at nominal value for the last determined price, from 
15.12.2013.

The risk in these investment portfolios lies in the price development in the portfolios, which is affected 
positively or negatively by changes in market prices, foreign exchange rates or interest rates. Refer to note 
20 for a more detailed description of the determination of prices. 

Note 14 Provisions and other current liabilities  

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013  2012
Accrued expenses, unpaid wages, holiday pay, etc.  29 187  46 890 
Kickbacks to clients 0  4 382 
Provisions for estimated compensation to clients and process costs relating to received 
customer complaints

 23 424  35 448 

Provision for liquidation costs  13 621  20 230 
Provision for lease obligations (note 7) 13 588 0
Total provisions and other current liabilities  32 111  1 785 
Sum avsetninger og andre kortsiktige forpliktelser 111 931  108 734 

Provisions
Kickback to 

clients
Compensa
tion clients

Balance 1 January 2013  4 382  35 448 
Accrued 2013 0 0
Provision applied in 2013  -4 382  -12 024 
Balance 31 December 2013 0  23 424 
Current 0  23 424 
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lost equity. Any legal costs and accrued interest will 
be in addition. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS disputes 
the claims. Regarding reputational damage, much  
of this has already occurred, in that the case has 
circulated in the media since September 2008.

In January 2009, the Norwegian Financial Services 
Complaints	Board	(Finansklagenemnda)	announced	
its ruling on a complaint against a major Norwegian 
bank’s sale of two leveraged structured products to 
investors in the year 2000. The Board’s decision was 
not unanimous. Three of the five members voted in 
favour of the complainant. Immediately after the 
verdict was announced, the bank stated that it 
would comply with the decision of the Board. The 
Norwegian	Supreme	Court	handled	the	case	in	2013,	
and decided that the bank should compensate the 
customer	for	his	lost	equity.	The	Supreme	Court	
determined that the bank had given the investor 
incorrect and overoptimistic information regarding 
the investment. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS notes 
that the judgement relates to two specific products 
from a particular bank. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 
deems that a comparison with all structured 
products is not justified. After an internal review, 
equivalent incorrect information has not been found 
in any of the products distributed by Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 
considers the risk of a group action lawsuit from 
customers who have chosen to invest in similar 
products distributed by the company and which 
may result in major losses to be relatively limited. 
Unlike	the	bank,	which	has	been	the	customer’s	
financial advisor, lender, producer and organiser, 
Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS has only been 
responsible for financial advice in relation to its 
customers. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS admits 
liability for the advice given. The risk of a group 
action is also considered to be relatively limited 
because of the fact that all advice is given on an 
individual basis. 

In 2011, provisions were made for estimated 
compensation to clients and process costs relating 
to received customer complaints. The estimates are 
based on concrete evaluations of the advisory itself, 
in relation to the relevant laws and regulations at the 
time of the agreement with the customer, and 
assessment of necessary legal assistance to secure  
a professional and thorough treatment of customer 
complaints. The provisions are made in order to 
meet potential future claims for compensation from 
clients, and are carried out following a thorough 
review of complaints in the subsidiaries Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS and Acta Asset Management 
AS.	Compensation	for	clients	will	therefore	have	less	
of an impact on the Group’s accounts in the period 
ahead. Dissolution of the provisions will have an 
effect on liquidity.  

Just under 450 Swedish investors, who in the years 
2006 and 2007 invested in bonds issued by Lehman 
Brothers, and which were distributed by Acta 
Kapitalförvaltning, a branch of Acta Kapitalforvalt-
ning AS, a subsidiary of Agasti Holding ASA, have 
brought legal action against Acta Kapitalforvaltning 
AS. 

The investors dispute the obligation to repay the 
loans to the bank, and have also turned to Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS as advisor to claim coverage 
for any loan that is not covered by the bank, and in 
certain cases, lost equity. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 
considers the risk linked to these actions to be 
relatively limited, since the company is only 
responsible for the advisory service, and this is 
provided on an individual basis. This assessment is 
also supported by the Swedish National Board for 
Consumer	Complaints	(ARN),	which	in	March	2010	
reached the principle decision that Acta Kapitalfor-
valtning AS is not liable towards investors due to 
inexpedient advice in connection with the 
bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers. Acta Kapitalfor-
valtning AS expects that, through individual legal 
proceedings, the court will come to the same 
conclusion as the ARN. The legal actions that have 
now been brought against Acta Kapitalforvaltning 
AS do however, involve a certain level of risk, both 
economically and in terms of reputation, since the 
company may be responsible for errors or omissions 
in the advice in certain cases, something which the 
ARN has also maintained. Economically, the 
maximum exposure is estimated to be around SEK 
168 million provided that all the plaintiffs win their 
claims. The total also includes the replacement of 

note 14 Provisions and other current liabilities (continued)
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Note 15 Income taxes 

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Tax payable on the year’s taxable earnings 564 0
Corrected tax previous year -1 164
Recognised change in deferred tax 4 872 -6 310
Year’s tax expenses 5 435 6 146
Effective tax rate 1) 170,6 % 10,2 %

Specification of assets and liabilities by deferred tax  

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Outstanding receivables 2 796 0
Operating assets 2 580 2 522
Accounting provisions 14 883 19 624
Profit and loss account 9 163
Loss to carry forward 2) 49 082 47 048
total deferred tax assets 69 349 69 357

Deferred tax assets not included in the balance sheet 4) 22 035 19 797
net deferred tax assets 47 314 49 560

Deferred tax assets in Norway are related to deficits that can be carried forward and temporary differences 
between the recognised value and tax value of assets that will be released over the remaining lifetime of the 
asset, and recognised provisions that will be released over a period of three years. In Sweden, deferred tax 
assets relate to losses carried forward until 1 January 2011, less tax on the taxable profit in Sweden in 2013.

In Norway, with the exception of 2012, the Agasti Group has had a taxable result. The Group’s management 
believes it is reasonably certain that the Group in Norway will be able to utilise the tax benefit as the 
temporary differences are released. In Sweden during 2012 and into 2013 a comprehensive restructuring  
was carried out, which will involve a significant reduction in annual costs. This has contributed to the Group 
attaining a taxable profit in Sweden in 2013. The Group’s management expects a taxable profit in Sweden 
going forward, and therefore considers the deferred tax assets entered on the balance sheet as at 31 
December 2013 to be reasonable. Deficits that can be carried forward have no maturity date.

Reconciliation of actual against estimated tax expense  

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012
Net income before taxes 3 186 -60 020
Calculated tax cost (28 %) 892 -16 806
Tax rate outside Norway -204 1 459
Permanent differences (28 %) 3) 3 435 1 554
Change in deferred tax assets from change in tax rate in Norway 1 313 0
Change in deferred tax assets from change in tax rate in Sweden 0 2 750
Deferred tax assets not included in the balance sheet 0 4 897
Actual tax expenses 5 435 6 146
Effective tax rate 1) 170,6 % 10,2 %

1)  Tax expenses in relation to pre-tax profit.
2)  Deferred tax asset relating to loss carry forward in Norway in 2012, partially utilised in 2013, as well as loss carry 

forward in Sweden up to and including 2010, partially reduced by taxable profit in 2013. Deferred tax assets relating 
to loss to carry forward in Sweden in 2011 and 2012 are entered in the profit and loss account against the change in 
equity.

3)  Does not include non-deductible costs, such as representation, client events and gifts, as well as estimated benefits  
of distributed options.

4)  The increase is due to a change in the currency exchange rate.
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note 15 Income taxes (continued)

Tax payable in balance sheet calculated as follows:

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Tax payable on net income for the year 564 0
total tax payable on balance sheet 564 0

Tax payable relates to the estimated taxable profit in Obligo Real Estate, Inc. When estimating tax payable 
a tax rate of 45.7 per cent is used.

Reconciliation of net deferred tax/tax assets  

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Net deferred tax/tax assets 01 January 49 560 42 440
Booked via income statement -4 872 6 310
Additions acquisition of companies 1 567 0
Conversion differences 1 059 810
net deferred tax/tax assets 31 December 47 314 49 560

Note 16 Related parties 

In	August	2012,	Agasti	Holding	ASA	entered	into	an	agreement	with	then	Board	Member	and	later	Chairman	
of the Board Merete Haugli regarding services linked to the area of compliance. The services were beyond 
the scope of the work tasks and obligations relating to the other positions she holds within Agasti.  In 2013, 
the Board of Directors decided to remunerate Merete Haugli with a total of NOK 150,000 for this work in the 
period 2012-2013.    

The	strategic	collaboration	with	Wunderlich	Investment	Company,	Inc.	has	resulted	in	the	Agasti	Group	
acquiring 100 per cent of Wunderlich Securities AS for NOK 11 million in February 2013. This company was 
indirectly	controlled	by	Alfred	Ydstebø,	former	Chairman	of	the	Board	and	Chief	Executive	Officer	between	
August 2012 and December 2013. 

Internal trading in the Group is carried out in accordance with separate agreements and at arm’s length, and 
settlement of common costs in Agasti Holding ASA and Agasti Business Services AS is divided between the 
Group companies in accordance with keys, depending on the future of the various costs.
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Note 17 Financial risk      

The Agasti Group’s exposure linked to financial instruments is limited to liquidity held in the form of bank 
deposits. At the end of 2013, the Group has limited interest-bearing liabilities and therefore has no interest 
rate risk related to borrowed capital. The financial market risk is otherwise limited to future income being 
affected by changes in market prices of the company’s products, as well as general market fluctuations.  
An increased total number of customer complaints may result in an increased risk of legal action against  
the Group, but the risk of class action etc., being successfully taken against the Group is assessed as being 
relatively low. Future portfolio income will vary with fluctuations in market prices of the client portfolios 
being	managed.	Currency	risk	is	not	significant,	and	is	mainly	linked	to	part	of	the	Group’s	business	
operations	being	carried	out	in	Sweden.	Credit	risk	is	limited	to	current	receivables	and	is	not	assessed	 
as being significant. 

The effect on the Group’s earnings and equity of the change in the exchange rate of the values entered  
in the balance sheet in foreign currency, including assets and liabilities linked to the Group’s operations  
in Sweden segment, is shown in the table below.

Unit Currency

Change 
in the 
noK 

exchange 
rate

effect on net  
income before tax effect on equity

All amounts in thousands of 
NOK 

2013 2012 2013 2012 

Earnings converted from SEK SEK +5% 214 410 154 295
-5% -214 -410 -154 -295

Invoiced income SEK +5% 888 6 639 4
-5% -888 -6 -639 -4

Invoiced income USD +5% 850 343 612 247
-5% -850 -343 -612 -247

Invoiced income EUR +5% 101 4 72 3
-5% -101 -4 -72 -3

Invoiced income GBP +5% 6 0 4 0
-5% -6 0 -4 0

Long-term receivables USD +5% 760 696 548 501
-5% -760 -696 -548 -501

Current receivables SEK +5% 1 055 811 759 584
-5% -1 055 -811 -759 -584

Current receivables USD +5% 77 0 55 0
-5% -77 0 -55 0

Current liabilities SEK +5% -691 -439 -497 -316
-5% 691 439 497 316

Current liabilities USD +5% -342 0 -247 0
-5% 342 0 247 0

Unlisted shares SEK +5% 452 272 325 196
-5% -452 -272 -325 -196

Bank deposits SEK +5% 1 130 900 813 648
-5% -1 130 -900 -813 -648

Bank deposits DKK +5% 1 1 0 0
-5% -1 -1 0 0

Bank deposits USD +5% 696 277 501 200
-5% -696 -277 -501 -200

Bank deposits EUR +5% 120 139 86 100
-5% -120 -139 -86 -100

Bank deposits GBP +5% -46 -15 -33 -10
-5% 46 15 33 10
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Note 18 Subordinated capital - Agasti Group 

Agasti Holding ASA is subject to capital adequacy requirements on a consolidated basis, cf. § 9-21 of the 
Securities	Trading	Act.	Calculation	of	subordinated	capital	and	capital	adequacy	per	31	December	2013	is	in	
accordance with the statement below.

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Subordinated capital
Core capital 229 750 184 332
Deduction for deferred tax asset 47 314 49 560
Deduction for goodwill and other intangible assets 72 494 43 637
net subordinated capital 109 942 91 135

Capital adequacy
Net subordinated capital 109 942 91 135
Risk-weighted calculation basis 985 673 1 010 204
Capital adequacy measured in per cent 11,2 % 9,0 %
Capital adequacy  authorities’ requirement in per cent 8,0 % 8,0 %
Surplus/deficit of subordinated capital 31 089 10 319

From	01	January	2007,	new	capital	adequacy	regulations	in	line	with	the	EU	countries	came	into	force	in	
Norway.	The	new	regulations	are	based	on	the	main	principles	of	the	Basel	Committee’s	report	of	June	
2004. 

The calculation base for the requirement for consolidated subordinated capital is equal to the sum of the 
calculation bases for credit risk and operational risk. The calculation base for credit risk is set based on risk 
weights set in the regulations. The calculation base for operational risk is determined as a percentage of the 
Group’s average income over the past three years (basic method). The risk-weighted calculation base for 
2012	has	been	updated	so	as	to	be	comparable	with	2013.	Preliminary	calculations	show	that	the	required	
consolidated subordinated capital requirement for 2014 will be approximately NOK 79 million.

Note 19 Assets pledged as collateral and guarantees  

All amounts in thousands of NOK 
Booked liabilities that are secured 
with collateral etc.: Borrower Credit limit 2013 2012 
- Overdraft Sparebank1, SR-Bank Agasti Holding ASA 60 000 10 172 20 840
- Debt to ABG Sundal Collier ASA Obligo Investment Management AS 45 500 0
total 60 000 55 672 20 840

Agasti Holding ASA has an overdraft facility with a limit of NOK 60 million. On 1 April 2014 the overdraft  
facility will be reduced to NOK 30 million. The overdraft facility is subject to annual renewal. In use of the 
overdraft, Sparebank 1 SR-Bank has collateral in the shares of the Group’s subsidiaries, listed below. In 
addition, the Group’s subsidiaries have made a declaration of negative pledge. 
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note 19 Assets pledged as collateral and guarantees (continued)

Book value of financial assets pledged as collateral All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 
Shares in Navigea Securities AS 40 000
Shares in Navexa Securities AB 10 887
Shares in Obligo Investment Management AS 45 428
Shares in Obligo Fund Management AS 9 416
Shares in Agasti Capital Markets AS 7 254
Shares in Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS 31 250
Shares in Agasti Business Services AS 19 906
Shares in Acta Asset Management AS 16 008
Shares in Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 38 305
Shares in Acta Kapitalförvaltning AB 487
total book value of financial assets 218 941

Obligo	Investment	Management	AS	acquired	the	companies	ABG	Sundal	Collier	Real	Estate	AS	and	
subsidiary	ABG	Sundal	Collier	Real	Estate,	Inc.	from	ABG	Sundal	Collier	Norge	ASA	with	effect	from	3	
January 2013. The purchase price was agreed at NOK 45 million plus an additional payment of NOK 8 million. 
The amount will be paid in instalments over a period of five years. As security for the at any time remaining 
and unpaid portion of the purchase price, the shares in the acquired companies are pledged in favour of 
ABG	Sundal	Collier	Norge	ASA.	For	further	information,	see	note	8.

Note 20 Determination of fair value 

The fair value of financial assets classified as ”available for sale” and ”held for trading” is determined with 
reference to the market price on the balance sheet date. The fair value of unlisted financial assets has been 
estimated using valuation techniques based on assumptions that are not supported by observable market 
prices.

The fair value of options is determined through the use of option pricing models.

The	following	of	the	company’s	financial	instruments	are	not	valued	at	fair	value:	Cash	and	cash	
equivalents,  accounts receivable, other current receivables, bank overdrafts, long-term liabilities and  
”held-to-maturity investments”. 

The value of cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts entered in the balance sheet approximates  
fair value because these instruments have short maturities. Similarly, the value of accounts receivable and 
accounts payable entered in the balance sheet approximates fair value as these have ”normal”  
conditions. 

Financial assets include unlisted shares in various investment portfolios which Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 
has acquired in connection with the settlement of customer issues. The customer has been paid the  
market value of the shares plus any compensation, while Acta Kapitalforvaltning has taken over shares  
in the investment portfolios on the company’s books or balance sheet. 

The assets are recognised in the accounts at the last known price, set 15.12. 2013, adjusted downwards with 
a liquidity premium of 10 per cent, equivalent to NOK 4.5 million. The investment portfolios are priced four 
times a year, on 15 March, 15 June, 15 September and 15 December. The pricing carried out on 15 March and 
15 September are based on valuations made by independent parties. 

The risk in these investment portfolios lies in the price development in the portfolios, which is affected 
 positively or negatively by changes in market prices, foreign exchange rates or interest rates.

Prices	are	set	based	on	a	calculation	of	the	value-adjusted	equity	per	share	of	the	portfolio	based	on	the	
assets’ market value and with individual adjustments as described below. The aim is to come to a price 
which corresponds to the market’s normal assessment of the value of the shares in the company. 
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note 20 Determination of fair value (continued) 

Real estate – Share price is calculated in accordance with the following principle:

K =    EM – LS + NAK – LG + R + GK – SH
          A

K  Share price 
EM  The property’s market value 
LS  Estimated deferred tax 
NAK  Net working capital including cash 
LG Long-term liabilities 
R		 Estimated	premium/discount	on	financing	
GK  Remaining capitalised issuance and acquisition costs 
SH  Accrued performance fee 
A  Number of shares issued 

Shipping – Share price is calculated in accordance with the following principle:

NPV	(L	+	RV	–	K	–	RK	–	A’ord	–	A’sa	–	SH)	+	C	–	AEG
   A

NPV		 Present	value	(“of”)	
L		 Contractual	rental	income	
RV  Residual value (estimated) upon expiration of the leases 
K  Running costs 
RK  Interest expenses mortgages (including swap costs) 
A’ord  Ordinary mortgage instalments 
A’sa		 Repayment/instalments	remaining	loan	upon	sale	of	vessel	
SH  Any accrued performance fee 
C		 Cash	(cash/bank)	
AEG  Other assets and liabilities (net) 
A  Number of shares issued  

When calculating the present value of the cash flow (before tax) a discount rate of 11 per cent is used.

Infrastructure, Private equity and renewable energy – Share price is calculated in accordance with the 
following principle:

K =    RFV + VD – LS + NAK – LG + EH – SH
            A

K Share price 
RFV Reported fund value 
VD Valuation direct investments 
LS Deferred tax 
NAK Net working capital including cash 
LG Long-term liabilities 
EH  Non-depreciated placement fee  
SH Accrued performance fee 
A Number of shares issued 

For financial assets and liabilities recognised at the value entered in the balance sheet, the fair value  
is calculated as the present value of estimated cash flows discounted by the interest rate that applies  
for the corresponding assets and liabilities on the balance sheet date. This applies to:
- Debt as a result of the acquisition of companies (see note 8)”

The fair value of “held to maturity” investments is determined using available market prices.   
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note 20 Determination of fair value (continued) 

A comparison of the values entered in the balance sheet and fair value of the Group’s financial instruments  
is included below. Fair value of the debt component of preference shares is estimated using the market rate 
for similar convertible bonds. 

2013 2012

All amounts in thousands of NOK

Value 
entered in 

the balance 
sheet

Fair
value

Value 
entered in 

the balance 
sheet

Fair
value

Financial assets
Cash 141 329 141 329 135 150 135 150
Other current receivables 91 333 91 333 35 512 35 512
Loans 15 209 15 209 13 916 13 916
Available for sale investments 43 606 43 606 32 192 32 192
total financial assets  291 477  291 477  216 770  216 770 

Financial liabilities
Overdraft 10 172 10 172 20 840 20 840
Accounts payable 13 892 13 892 6 988 6 988
Other current liabilities 92 348 92 348 73 279 73 279
Other long-term liabilities 35 266 35 266 0 0
total financial liabilities 151 678 151 678 101 107 101 107

Fair value hierarchy
The Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
input that is used in the preparation of the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 

Level 1:  Input is listed prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2  Input is other than listed prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,  

either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) 
Level 3  Input for the asset or liability which is not based on observable market data (non-observable input)

All amounts in thousands of NOK
Assets recognised at fair value   31.12.13 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Financial assets at fair value with 
changes in value through profit or loss
Shares  43 606  43 606
total 43 606 0 43 606 0

During the reporting period there were no changes in fair value measurements which resulted in transfers 
between Level 1 and Level 2, and no transfers in and out of Level 3.
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notice of withdrawal of licenses in navigea 
Securities AS
On 17 March 2014, subsidiary Navigea Securities AS 
received a “Notice of the withdrawal of licenses” 
from the Financial Supervisory Authority following 
an on-site inspection in April 2013. The final report 
from the FSA will be issued once Navigea Securities 
AS has provided its response to the notice. The 
consequence of a decision in line with the notice 
from the FSA may result in the liquidation or 
disposal of parts or all of the Group’s investment 
advice business. This may negatively impact upon 
Agasti’s earnings for 2014 as a result of restructuring 
costs. A temporary estimate of such costs amounts 
to around NOK 40 million if the activities within 
investment advisory services are terminated, of 
which NOK 13.6 million relates to future lease 
obligations for which provisions have been made in 
the annual accounts for 2013.

In order to fulfil the company’s obligations under 
option agreements entered into with employees, the 
Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA decided 
on 13 February 2014 to make use of the share 
issuance authorisation granted by the annual 
general meeting on 26 June 2013 towards the 
relevant option holders. The Board of Directors 
decided to increase the company’s share capital by 
NOK 43,443.54 from NOK 52,825,090.68 to NOK 
52,868,534.22 through the issuing of 241,353 new 
shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.18. As a 
result of the issue, Agasti received gross proceeds of 
NOK 265,488.30.

At its meeting of 6 March 2014, the Board of 
Directors of Agasti Holding ASA adopted an option 
scheme for selected managers in the Agasti Group 
with a total budget of 7 million stock options. The 
scheme is part of an incentive programme for the 
Agasti Group, which will help to give positive results 
and attract new employees as well as retain existing 
employees. On 6 March 2014, 5.67 million stock 
options were allocated to selected managers in the 
Agasti Group. Following this allocation, the number 
of issued options totals 10.00 million shares.

Note 21 Events after balance sheet date 

notes on tHe consolidAted Accounts

 
Oslo, 4 April 2014

erling MeinichBache    Beatriz Malo de Molina   Merete Haugli 
Chairman	of	the	Board		 	 	 Vice	Chairman	of	the	Board	 	 Board	Member

Sissel Knutsen Hegdal   Jørgen Pleym Ulvness  
Board	Member	 	 	 	 CEO
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AGAStI HoLDInG ASA
tHe CoMPAnY’S InCoMe StAteMent  1 JAnUARY  31 DeCeMBeR  nGAAP

All amounts in thousands of NOK Note 2013 2012

operating revenues 21 970  13 258 

Wages and salaries 2 18 136 10 231

Depreciations 4 57 7

Other operating expenses 3 18 685 10 609

total operating expenses 36 878 20 847

operating earnings 14 908 7 589

Income on investments in subsidiaries 59 731 21 884

Other financial income 3 4 179 3 153

Write-downs, investments in subsidiaries 5 24 650 44 083

Financial expenses 3 4 429 277

net financial items 34 831 19 323

net income before taxes 19 923 26 912

Income taxes 11 12 800 4 963

net income 7 123 31 875

Dividends 0 0

Effective tax rate 64,2 % -18.4%
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BAlAnce sHeet - ngAAp

AGAStI HoLDInG ASA  
CoMPAnY BALAnCe SHeet AS oF 31 DeCeMBeR 2013  nGAAP  

All amounts in thousands of NOK Note 2013 2012

ASSetS

noncurrent assets

Deferred tax assets 11 1 828  1 431 

total intangible assets 1 828  1 431 

Leasehold improvements 4 124 0

Machinery, fixtures and equipment 4 242  13 

total fixed assets 366  13 

Investments in subsidiaries 5 149 084  118 637 

Other receivables 8 56 437  41 976 

total financial assets 205 521  160 613 

total noncurrent assets 207 715 162 057

Current assets

Current receivables 9,10 58 810 48 397

total receivables 58 810 48 397

Bank deposits 6 156 5 546

total bank deposits and investments 6 156 5 546

   

total current assets 64 966 53 943

total assets 272 681 216 000
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BAlAnce sHeet - ngAAp

AGAStI HoLDInG ASA  
CoMPAnY BALAnCe AS oF 31 DeCeMBeR 2013  nGAAP

All amounts in thousands of NOK Note 2013 2012

eQUItY AnD LIABILItIeS

equity

Share capital 6,7 52 825 46 356

Share premium 7 66 964 27 786

Other paid-in equity 7 89 480 88 621

total paidin equity 209 269 162 763

Other equity 7 7 429  306 

total retained earnings 7 429 306

total equity 216 698 163 069

Liabilities

Accounts payable 527  222 

Liabilities to credit institutions 10 172  20 840 

Tax payable 11 0 0

Taxes and public fees payable 900  623 

Provisions and other current liabilities 9,10 44 384  31 246 

total current liabilities 55 983  52 931 

total liabilities 55 983  52 931 

total equity and liabilities 272 681  216 000 
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cAsH FloW stAtement - ngAAp

AGAStI HoLDInG ASA 
CoMPAnY CASH FLoW StAteMent  1 JAnUARY  31 DeCeMBeR  nGAAP 

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012

operating activities

Net income before tax expenses 19 923 -26 912

Received group contribution – taken to income -59 731 -21 884

Taxes paid in reporting period 0 -14 325

Depreciations 57 7

Write-downs 24 650 44 083

Stock option programme 859 458

Change in accounts payable 305 -630

Change in other receivables -8 353 -19 885

Change in other accruals -8 528 10 242

net cash flow from operating activities 30 818 28 845

Investing activities 

Payments for acquisition of fixed assets -411 0

Payments for investments in subsidiaries -5 886 -73 147

net cash flow from investing activities 6 297 73 147

Financing activities 

Payments upon increase of long-term debt -14 461 0

Proceeds from received Group contribution and dividends 18 137 90 422

Disbursed outstanding Group contribution -930 -32 593

Proceeds from issuance of shares 45 647 0

net cash flow from financing activities 48 393 57 829

net change in bank deposits, shortterm investments, bank overdrafts, etc. 11 278 44 163

Bank deposits, short-term investments, bank overdrafts, etc. as per 01.01. -15 294 28 869

Bank deposits, shortterm investments, bank overdrafts, etc. as per 31.12. 4 016 15 294

Unused overdraft facilities 49 828 9 160

Bank deposits and investments 6 156 5 546

Bank overdrafts -10 172 -20 840

net bank deposits and bank overdrafts as per 31.12. 4 016 15 294
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noteS to tHe CoMPAnY ACCoUntS

Note 1 Accounting principles 

1.1 Basis for preparation of the company accounts
The annual accounts for 2013 are set up in 
accordance with the Accounting Act of 1998, 
Norwegian	accounting	principles	(NGAAP)	and	
generally accepted Norwegian accounting best 
practice (NGRS). The annual accounts consist of  
the income statement, balance sheet, cash flow 
statement and notes. The annual accounts 
constitute a whole. The most important accounting 
principles that are used in the preparation of the 
annual accounts are as follows:

1.2 Currency
Monetary items in foreign currencies are valued  
at the year-end exchange rate. Other assets and 
liabilities in foreign currency are valued according  
to general valuation regulations.

1.3 Revenue
Revenues mainly consist of sales of Group services 
to other companies in the Agasti Group. Income is 
entered in the accounts when it is earned. Entry of 
income normally occurs at the time of delivery for 
the sale of services.  

Dividends and Group contributions from 
subsidiaries are recorded in the same year in which 
they are earned in the underlying companies, and 
when such distributions are expected to be resolved, 
and are included in the underlying companies’ 
annual accounts.

Interest income is entered as it is earned.

1.4 expenses
Expenses are included with and expensed 
simultaneously with the income that the expenses 
are	attributable	to.	Costs	that	cannot	be	directly	
attributed to income are expensed when incurred.

Interest and fees are entered as these are earned  
as income or incurred as costs.

1.5 Defined contribution pension schemes
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
pension schemes are entered as expenses in the 
income statement when incurred.

1.6 Sharebased payment transactions
Employee stock options are measured at the actual 

value at the time of distribution. The stock options 
are valued according to the Black and Scholes 
model. The calculated value is recognised as a 
personnel costs, with a corresponding entry in other 
paid-in equity. The cost is divided over the period 
until the employees become unconditionally entitled 
to the stock options. 

1.7 Main rule for valuation and classification of 
assets and liabilities
Assets intended for permanent ownership or use are 
classified as fixed assets. Other assets are classified 
as current assets. Receivables that shall be paid 
within a year are classed as current assets. 
Equivalent criteria are used as the basis for the 
classification of long-term and current liabilities.

Fixed assets are valued at historical cost, but written 
down to actual value when the reduction in value is 
not expected to be temporary. The write down is 
reversed when the basis for the write down no longer 
exists. Fixed assets with a limited economic lifetime 
are depreciated in accordance with a depreciation 
plan. Long-term loans are recorded at the nominal 
received value at the time of establishment. 

Current	assets	are	valued	at	the	lowest	of	the	cost	
value and actual value. Short-term liabilities are 
recorded at the nominal received value at the time 
of establishment. 

1.8 Shares in subsidiaries
In Agasti Holding ASA’s company accounts, shares 
in subsidiaries are valued in accordance with the 
cost method. Group contributions are entered  
in the parent company’s accounts as income in 
investment in subsidiaries under financial items,  
in the extent to which the distribution relates to  
the earnings accrued in the holding period. Other 
received Group contributions are entered as a 
reduction	of	cost	price	of	the	shares.	Provided	
Group contributions net after tax are entered  
as increased investment in subsidiaries. 

1.9 Receivables
Receivables are recorded at nominal value less 
provisions	for	expected	losses.	Provisions	for	losses	
are made on the basis of an individual analysis of the 
individual receivables.

1.10 taxes
Tax expenses consist of tax payable and the change 
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Note 2 Salary costs, total employees, remuneration, loans to employees, etc.

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 

Salaries 8 766 5 398

Bonus/profit sharing 4 410 673

Pension costs, defined contribution plans 184 141

Estimated benefit options scheme 858 458

National insurance contributions 2 367 1 238

Other benefits 1 551 2 324

total 18 136 10 231

Average total full-time equivalent positions  4,8 3.4

Benefits paid to employees in leading positions    

All amounts in thousands of NOK Period Salary 1)

Contribution 
based pension 

scheme
Bonus/profit 

sharing other

Jørgen Pleym 
Ulvness 2)

CEO
Agasti Holding ASA

2013 1 513 143 64

2012

Alfred Ydstebø 3) CEO 2013 2 850 893 118

2012 1 150 17 191

Christian Tunge 4) Chief Financial Officer 2013 2 228 789 33

2012 2 296 51 639 17

1)   Salaries etc. are shown for the period in which employees in leading positions have been employed in Agasti Holding ASA.
2)   Took up position as CEO on 12 December 2013. Ulvness was employed as Deputy CEO of Agasti Holding ASA until 12 

December 2013, but salary and other benefits up until 1 July 2013 were paid from other companies within the Group.
3)   Left the position on 12 December 2013.
4)   Left position as CFO on 11 February 2014. Christian Dovland took up the position as the new CFO on the same day.

lease agreements. Lease payments are classified as 
an operating expense, and are recognised linearly 
over the contract period.

1.12 Use of estimates 
Management has used estimates and assumptions 
that affect the income statement and the valuation 
of assets and liabilities, as well as contingent assets 
and liabilities on the balance sheet date during the 
preparation of the annual accounts in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. 

1.13 Contingencies and events after the balance 
sheet date
Contingent	losses	that	are	probable	and	quantifiable	
are expensed.

1.14 Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is prepared according to 
the	indirect	method.	Cash	and	cash	equivalents	
include cash, bank deposits and other short-term 
liquid investments. 

in	deferred	tax.	Deferred	tax/tax	assets	are	
calculated on all differences between accounting 
and tax values of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax 
is calculated at 27 per cent based on the temporary 
differences that exist between the accounting and 
tax values, and tax loss carried forward at the end  
of the financial year. Net deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is likely that they 
could be utilised. 

Tax expenses and deferred tax are entered in the 
accounts directly against equity insofar as the tax items 
relate to items recognised directly against equity. 

1.11 Leasing agreements
Agasti Holding ASA’s leasing agreements are 
entered in the accounts in accordance with the 
following rules:

operating leasing agreements
Leases where the most significant risks and returns 
associated with ownership of the asset are not 
acquired by the company are classified as operating 

note 1 Accounting principles (continued)
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Benefits to employees in leading positions
The	CEO’s	remuneration	is	determined	by	the	
Boards remuneration committee. The Board’s 
remuneration committee sets guidelines for 
remuneration of other employees in senior positions, 
including fixed salaries and the principles for and 
scope of bonus schemes.  

Employees in leading positions have ordinary bonus 
agreements with annually fixed limits, and normally 
limited to between 40 and 200 per cent of basic 
salary, depending on position. The estimated 
accrued bonus is expensed on an on-going basis.

The	CEO	and	CFO	have	agreements	with	12	months’	
salary following termination of service if they are 
dismissed without just cause or as a result of major 
changes in duties e.g. merger or acquisition:

The Agasti Group established a defined contribution 
scheme for all permanent employees in Norway and 
Sweden with effect from 1 January 2005. In Norway, 
the contribution rate for 2013 was four per cent of 
fixed salaries between 1G and 6G and six per cent of 
fixed salaries between 6G and 12G. In relation to the 
requirements regarding mandatory occupational 
pensions	(OTP)	that	came	into	force	on	1	July	2006,	
Agasti Group has a pension plan which exceeds the 
minimum requirement of two per cent of salary over 
1G up to 12G.

In the period 2009-2012 the Board of Directors of 
Agasti Holding ASA allocated options in accordance 
with a three-year incentive scheme that covered all 
employees within the Group. All the options in 
accordance with this scheme have expired at the time 
of approval of the annual accounts. In 2012, the Board 
of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA adopted an 
incentive scheme for selected managers in the Group. 
In 2014, this scheme was replaced by a new option 
scheme for selected managers within the Group.  
The scheme is part of a long-term incentive scheme 
for Agasti managers, which will contribute to creating 
positive results and attracting new employees as well 
as retaining existing employees. In 2013, 883 
thousand options were redeemed by employees in 
Agasti Holding ASA. At the time of approval of the 
annual accounts, a total of 5.17 million stock options 
are allocated to employees in Agasti Holding ASA,  
of	which	2.57	million	are	allocated	to	the	CEO.	The	
allocation is in accordance with the authorisation 
granted by the annual general meeting on 11 May 
2010, 23 May 2012 and 26 June 2013.

The options allocated in 2011, which remained 
outstanding at the start of 2013, became due 
without any redemption taking place. Of the options 
that were allocated in 2012, and which had an expiry 
date in 2013, 883 thousand were redeemed. The 
redemption prices for the outstanding options are 
NOK 1.33 for the options allocated in August 2012 
and NOK 2.01 for the options allocated in March 
2014. The redemption price for the options shall be 
reduced by the accumulated dividends paid out 
during the period after allocation of the options.  
No dividend was paid for the financial year 2012.  
The board of directors of Agasti Holding ASA has 
proposed to the annual general meeting that 
dividends are not paid out for the 2013 financial year. 
Share options allocated to selected managers in the 
group	during	August	2012	may	be	redeemed	by	1/3	
in	2014	and	1/3	in	2015,	during	specific	periods	in	
both years. Share options allocated to selected 
managers in the group during March 2014 may be 
redeemed	by	1/3	in	2015,	1/3	in	2016	and	1/3	in	2017,	
during specific periods in all three years. At the end 
of 2013, the share price was NOK 1.87.

Costs	relating	to	the	option	scheme	for	employees	
in Agasti Holding ASA are recognised in the 2013 
financial statements with NOK 859,000. In 2013, 
National Insurance contributions relating to the 
option scheme amounted to NOK 14,000.

As at 31 December 2013, Agasti Holding ASA had 
not issued any other financial instruments that may 
result in a demand for issuing of new shares other 
than the mentioned share options.

For further information, please refer to note 3 in the 
Group accounts.

note 2 Salary costs, total employees, remuneration, loans to employees, etc. (continued)
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Benefits paid to board members:

Board member fee 1)

All amounts in thousands of NOK Position Period 2013 2012

Erling Meinich-Bache 2) Chairman of the Board 2013 270

Beatriz Malo de Molina 3) Vice Chairman of the Board from 29.11.13

Merete Haugli 4) Board Member 2013 440 290

Sissel Knutsen Hegdal Board Member 2013 235

Stein Aukner Vice Chairman of the Board until 29.11.13 220 220

Arne Reinemo Chairman of the Board 29.11. - 16.12.13

Paal Espen Johnsen Board Member 26.06. - 16.12.13

Pia Gideon Board Member until 29.11.13 200 200

Ole Peter Lorentzen Board Member until 30.04.13 215 200

1)		Board	Members’	fees	etc.	are	shown	for	the	period	in	which	the	Board	Member	has	held	the	office.
2)		Has	acted	as	a	Board	Member	and	Vice	Chairman	of	the	Board	in	parts	of	the	stated	period.
3)  Has acted as a Board Member during parts of the stated period.
4)		Has	acted	as	Chairman	of	the	Board	during	parts	of	the	stated	period.	The	fee	includes	remuneration	from	 
 the audit committee.

notes to tHe compAny Accounts

note 2 Salary costs, total employees, remuneration, loans to employees, etc. (continued)

Note 3 Combined items in the income statement
  
All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Costs relating to premises 1 493 304
IT costs 25 5
Fees for auditors, lawyers and consultants 11 280 6 346
Telephone and postage costs 0 95
Travel activities 1 171 702
Marketing activities 1 914 592
Other operating expenses 2 802 2 565
total other operating expenses 18 685 10 609

Statutory audit 638 269
Other audit-related services 0 95
Assistance with tax return, etc. 0 0
Other services excluding auditing 1 899 1 334
total auditing fee 2 537 1 698
The fees are given excluding VAT. 

Group interest income 4 016 2 835
Interest, bank deposits 132 304
Other financial income 31 14
total financial income 4 179 3 153

Group interest costs 750 167
Bank interest and fees 833 110
Guarantees - expensed 1 700 0
Other financial expenses 1 146 0
total financial expenses 4 429 277
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Note 5 Shares in subsidiaries

The companies listed below are all wholly owned by Agasti Holding ASA. 

All amounts in thousands of NOK
Company

Year of  
acquisition

Registered 
office

Value entered 
in the balance 

equity
31.12.13

net income 
2013

Navigea Securities AS 2010 Oslo 40 000 54 139 -1 284
Navexa Securities AB 2000 Stockholm  10 887  7 239  4 392 
Obligo Investment Management AS 2012 Oslo  29 024  20 314  13 011 
Agasti Capital Markets AS 2012 Oslo  6 102  634  -1 139 
Agasti Business Services AS 2001 Stavanger  15 316  13 255  4 964 
Acta Asset Management AS 1998 Stavanger  16 008  27 918  -4 801 
Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 1998 Stavanger  31 259 35 549 - 334
Acta Kapitalförvaltning AB 2008 Stockholm  487  484  1 
total 149 084 159 531 14 809

In 2013, the shares in Navigea Securities AS have been written down by NOK 24.7 million equal the 
company’s estimated equity by the end of 2014. For further information please refer to note 21 in the Group 
accounts.

In 2013, Agasti Holding ASA has provided shareholder funding to Navexa Securities AB at a total of  
SEK 1.0 million, equivalent to NOK 0.9 million, as well as a capital contribution to Navigea Securities AS  
of NOK 5.0 million. 

Note 4 Fixed assets
 
All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Leasehold improvements
Original cost per 1 January 155 155
Additions by separate acquisition  133 0
original cost per 31 December 288 155

Accumulated depreciations per 31 December 164 155
entered value per 31 December 124 0
Year’s depreciations 9 0
Economic lifetime 4-5 years 4-5 years
Depreciation plan Linear Linear

Machinery, fixtures and equipment
Original cost per 1 January 205 205
Additions by separate acquisition 277 0
original cost per 31 December 482 205

Accumulated depreciations per 31 December 240 192
entered value per 31 December 242  13 
Year’s depreciations 48 7
Economic lifetime 4-5 years 4-5 years
Depreciation plan Linear Linear

Annual rental of nonrecorded assets  
Rental costs

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Leasing agreements, premises, including common costs 1 027 226
Rental external meeting facilities 20 14
Rental, parking facilities 36 17
Leasing agreements, various machinery and equipment 0 9
total 1 083 265
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Note 6 Share capital and shareholder information

Share capital in the company per 31 December 2013 consisted of 293,472,726 shares, each with a nominal 
value of NOK 0.18. There is only one share class.

For further information, please refer to note 10 in the Group accounts.

Note 7 Equity 

All amounts in thousands of NOK 
Share  

capital
Share 

premium 
other paid

in equity
other 

reserves total
equity January 2012  46 356  27 786  88 163  32 181  194 486 
Change in equity for the year:
Net income  -31 875  -31 875 
Stock option programme  458  458 
equity 31 December 2012  46 356  27 786  88 621  306  163 069 

equity January 2013  46 356  27 786  88 621  306  163 069 
Change in equity for the year:
Net income 7 123 7 123
Received Group contribution (net)
Rights issue 6 469 39 178  45 647 
Stock option programme     859  859
equity 31 December 2013 52 825 66 964 89 480 7 429 216 698

At the ordinary general meeting on 26 June 2013, the Board of Agasti Holding ASA was granted authorisa-
tion	to	issue	new	shares	in	Agasti	Holding	ASA	in	one	or	several	private	and/or	public	placements.	The	
authorisation applies for the issuance of up to 57.1 million shares with a nominal value of NOK 0.18, which 
means that the Board can, in accordance with the authorisation, increase the share capital by up to NOK 
10,280,000.	Parts	of	this	authorisation	are	specifically	linked	to	a	rights	issue	of	31.1	million	shares,	and	was	
valid until 1 September 2013. The remaining authorisation for 26 million shares is valid until the date of the 
next ordinary general meeting, but no later than 30 June 2014. If the nominal value of the shares should 
change within the period of authorisation, the authorisation shall be changed accordingly.

Note 8 Long-term receivables 

Borrower All amounts in thousands of NOK Loan date Maturity 2013 2012 
Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 31.12.07 31.12.17 24 976 24 976
Acta Asset Management AS 31.12.07 31.12.17 17 000 17 000
Agasti Capital Markets AS 10.09.12 10.09.17 14 461 0
total 56 437 41 976

Long-term receivables consist of subordinate loans to the subsidiary companies Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 
and Acta Asset Management AS, provided as a part of the management of the companies’ subordinate 
capital. The interest rate conditions are 3 months NIBOR with an additional 300 basis points. 

Long-term	receivables	towards	Agasti	Capital	Markets	AS	consist	of	a	liquidity	loan	given	to	the	company	 
in connection with the borrower’s investment in convertible bonds in 2012. The interest terms on the loan  
are 7.5 per cent. The receivables were originally short-term receivables, but in 2013 the maturity was 

extended to 10.09.2017, thereby converting the receivables from short-term to long-term.
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Note 9 Outstanding accounts with Group companies and related parties   

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 972 531
Acta Asset Management AS 3
Agasti Business Services AS 11 859 8 082
Acta Kapitalförvaltning AB 11 11
Agasti Capital Markets AS 23 734 16 065
Navexa Securities AB 4 063
Obligo Real Estate AS 29
Group contribution (net) from Navigea Securities AS 3 855 11 236
Group contribution from Obligo Investment Management AS 7 254 6 900
Group contribution from Obligo Real Estate AS 5 508
Group contribution from Obligo Fund Management AS 655
Group contribution from Obligo Partners AS 1 490
Group contribution from Agasti Business Services AS 1 435
total intercompany receivables 56 802 46 892

Acta Asset Management AS 7 822 9 763
Obligo Investment Management AS 137 10 967
Navexa Securities AB 55
Navigea Securities AS 7 279 378
Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS 389
Group contribution (net) to Acta Asset Management AS 4 025 930
Group contribution to Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 9 786
Group contribution to Agasti Capital Markets AS 1 644
Group contribution to Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS 7 418
total intercompany liabilities 38 500 22 092

Note 10 Current receivables and other current liabilities   

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012  
Outstanding accounts with Group companies 56 802  46 892 
Pre-paid costs  2 009  311 
Miscellaneous current receivables 0  1 195 
total current receivables 58 810  48 397 

Outstanding accounts with Group companies  38 500  22 092 
Accrued expenses, unpaid wages, holiday pay, etc.  4 868  1 955 
Other current liabilities  1 016  7 199 
total other current liabilities  44 384  31 246 
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Note 11 Income taxes 

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Tax payable on the year’s taxable earnings 0 0
Difference between tax return and accounts 31 12
Change deferred tax -448 1
Tax effect of received Group contributions -1 458 -631
Tax effect of provided Group contributions 14 675 5 580
Year’s tax expenses 12 800 4 963
Effective tax rate 1) 64,2 % -18,4 %

net income before tax expenses in relation to year’s tax base  
Net income before tax expenses  19 923 -26 912

temporary differences:
Change temporary differences 1 659 -5

Permanent differences:
Write-downs of shares in subsidiaries 24 650 44 083
Estimated benefit options 859 458
Other non-deductible items (net) 113 53
Provided Group contribution, taxable -52 410 -19 930
Received Group contributions (taxable) charged to investments in subsidiaries 5 206 2 253
tax base for the year 0 0

Specification of tax effect of temporary differences 
Non-current assets 11 -11
Receivables -6 800 0
Accounting provisions 19 -5 100
net temporary differences 6 770 5 111
net deferred tax (+)/deferred tax assets () on balance sheet 1 828 1 431

tax payable in balance sheet calculated as follows:
Tax payable on net income for the year 0 0
Paid too much/too little tax previous year 0 0
total tax payable on balance sheet 0 0

Reconciliation of actual against estimated tax expense   
Net income before tax expenses 19 923  -26 912 
Calculated tax cost (28%) 5 578  7 535 

Specification of other tax effects
Arrears from previous years 0 12
Permanent differences (28%) 2) 7 154 12 486
Change tax rate 68 0
Year’s tax expenses 12 800 4 963
Effective tax rate 1) 64,2 % -18,4 %

1)  Tax expenses in relation to pre-tax profit.       
2)  Includes non-deductible expenses, such as representation and miscellaneous customer events, individual  
 gifts and non-deductible foundation costs, option costs and the write-down of shares in subsidiaries.  
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Note 12 Assets pledged as collateral and guarantees   

Pledged assets (All amounts in thousands of NOK) Credit limit 2013 2012
Booked liabilities that are secured with collateral etc.:
Overdraft SpareBank 1 SR-Bank 60 000 -10 172  -20 840 
total 60 000 10 172 20 840

Agasti Holding ASA has an overdraft facility with a limit of NOK 60 million. On 1 April 2014 the overdraft 
 facility will be reduced to NOK 30 million. In use of the overdraft, Sparebank 1 SR-Bank has collateral in the 
shares of the Groups subsidiaries, which Acta Holding ASA wholly owns as at 31 December 2013. In addition, 
the Group’s subsidiaries have made a declaration of negative pledge. For further information, please refer to 
note 19 in the Group accounts.

Guarantees       
Agasti Holding ASA has pledged unconditional guarantees for individual tenancy agreements entered into 
by the subsidiaries. The rental guarantees have a remaining duration of between one to five years. The total 
guarantee obligation for these as at 31 December 2013 is NOK 6.8 million.  

Note 13 Restricted bank deposits 

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Tax withholdings 815 538
total 815 538

Note 14 Financial risk  

For information regarding the company’s financial risk, please refer to note 17 in the Group accounts.

Note 15 Events after balance sheet date 

In order to fulfil the company’s obligations under option agreements entered into with employees, the  
Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA decided on 13 February 2014 to make use of the share issuance 
authorisation granted by the annual general meeting on 26 June 2013 towards the relevant option holders. 
The Board of Directors decided to increase the company’s share capital by NOK 43,443.54 from NOK 
52,825,090.68 to NOK 52,868,534.22 through the issuing of 241,353 new shares, each with a nominal value 
of NOK 0.18. As a result of the issue, Agasti received gross proceeds of NOK 265,488.30.

At its meeting of 6 March 2014, the Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA adopted an option scheme  
for selected managers in the Agasti Group with a total budget of 7 million stock options. The scheme is part 
of an incentive programme for the Agasti Group, which will help to give positive results and attract new 
employees as well as retain existing employees. On 6 March 2014, 5.67 million stock options were allocated 
to selected managers in the Agasti Group. Following this allocation, the number of issued options totals 
10.00 million shares.
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Oslo, 4 April 2014

erling MeinichBache    Beatriz Malo de Molina   Merete Haugli 
Chairman	of	the	Board		 	 	 Vice	Chairman	of	the	Board	 	 Board	Member

Sissel Knutsen Hegdal   Jørgen Pleym Ulvness  
Board	Member	 	 	 	 CEO
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conFirmAtion

Confirmation from the Board    

We confirm that the annual accounts for the period 1 January through 31 December 2013 have, to the best  
of our knowledge, been prepared in accordance with accounting standards, that the information in the 
accounts provides a fair representation of the company’s and the Group’s assets, liabilities, financial  
status and overall earnings, and that the information in the annual report provides a fair overview of the 
development, result, and status for the company and the Group, together with a description of the main  
risk and uncertainty factors that the company and the Group face.

 
Oslo, 4 April 2014

erling MeinichBache    Beatriz Malo de Molina   Merete Haugli 
Chairman	of	the	Board		 	 	 Vice	Chairman	of	the	Board	 	 Board	Member

Sissel Knutsen Hegdal   Jørgen Pleym Ulvness  
Board	Member	 	 	 	 CEO
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